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Washington, D. C. 20549
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M  ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
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OR
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ACT OF 1934
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Merrimack, New Hampshire 03054
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Registrant’s telephone number, including area codé03) 683-2000
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dlfie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registere
Common Stock, $.01 par val Nasdag Global Select Mark
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tiie Act:
None

(Title of Class)
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of the Act.
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Indicate by check mark whether the registranth@g filed all reports required to be filed by Setl3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requaodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastgs.
YES M NO 0O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ldisnitted electronically and posted on its corpokieb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted pumsto Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8232.405 of tiapter) during the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files).
YES 0O NO 0O
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiletrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ ocontained herein, and will not be

contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge]dfinitive proxy or information statements incorated by reference in Part 1l of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kl

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See definitions of “large accelerated,fitaccelerated filer,” and “smaller reporting cpamny” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
(Check one):

Large accelerated fileid Accelerated filer 0 Non-accelerated filerd Smaller reporting company
(Do not check if a smaller reporting compa
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsiel company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act)
YES O NO ™

The aggregate market value of the registrant’sngogshares of common stock held by raffiiates of the registrant on June 30, 2010, d
on $6.06 per share, the last reported sale prideohlasdaq Global Select Market on that date, %8&$085,667.

The number of shares outstanding of each of thistragt’s classes of common stock, as of March03,12
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Common Stock, $.01 par val 26,909,77¢

The following documents are incorporated by refeeeimto the Annual Report on Form 10-K: Portionshaf registrant’s definitive Proxy
Statement for its 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockhdddzre incorporated by reference into Part I1lhié Report.
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PART I

ltem 1. Business
GENERAL

We are a leading direct marketer of a wide rangafofmation technology, or IT, solutions. We helpmpanies design, enable, manage,
and service their IT environments. We provide abrmange of products, including computer systewfsyware and peripheral equipment,
networking communications, and other products amgssories that we purchase from manufacturetsibditors, and other suppliers. We also
offer an extensive range of design, configurataord implementation of IT solutions. These servaresperformed by our personnel and third-
party providers. We operate through four sales segenwhich primarily serve: (a) small- to mediuizes businesses, or SMBs, through our
PC Connection Sales subsidiary, (b) large entexmistomers, or Large Account, through our More®iseibsidiary, (c) federal, state, and
local government and educational institutions, aiblR Sector, through our GovConnection subsidiand (d) consumers and small
office/lhome office customers, or Consumer/SOHQyubh our PC Connection Express subsidiary. Oucipat customers are SMBs
(comprised of 20 to 1,000 employees), medium-tgdarorporate accounts, and government and eduabtimtitutions. We generate sales
through (i) outbound telemarketing and field salestacts by sales representatives focused on #iedss, educational, and government
markets, (ii) our websites, and (iii) inbound cditsm customers responding to our catalogs and attheertising media. We offer a broad
selection of over 300,000 products at competitisiegs, including products from Acer, Apple, Cisogstems, Hewlett-Packard, IBM, Lenovo,
Microsoft, Sony, Symantec, and Toshiba. Our magjfently ordered products are carried in inventony are typically shipped to customers
the same day the order is received.

Since our founding in 1982, we have consistenttyesg our customers’ needs by providing innovatrediable, and timely service and
technical support, and by offering an extensivedssent of branded products through knowledgeaidd;trained sales and support teams.
Our strategy’s effectiveness is reflected in treognition we have received, including being nantethé Fortune 1000 and the VARBuUSsiness
500 for each of the last ten years. In 2008, weevesvarded first place by InformationWeek 500 in$ugpply Chain Innovation and Retail
Industry categories and were ranked #8 overall @ntloa nation’s most innovative companies by InfaiordVeek.

We believe that our consistent customer focus lsasrasulted in strong brand name recognition abhbad and loyal customer base.
Approximately 94% of our sales in the year endeddbeber 31, 2010 were made to customers who haibpedy purchased products from us.
We believe we also have strong relationships wéthdors, resulting in favorable product allocatiang marketing assistance.

Our marketing efforts include programs targetedoatsumer/SOHOs, SMBs, government and educatiostltions, and medium-to-
large corporate accounts. As of December 31, 20&@&mployed 615 sales representatives, includiignelv sales representatives with less
than 12 months of outbound telemarketing experigviteus. Sales representatives are responsible&oraging corporate and public sector
accounts and focus on outbound sales calls tortuared prospective customers. These sales repatisestare supported by a growing group
of technical sales specialists, or TSSs, who petéthnical support for more complex sales oppdi&sn We believe that increasing our sales
representatives’ productivity is important to outure success, and we have increased our investnmettitis area accordingly.

We market our products and services through ousitewww.pcconnection.com, www.moredirect.com, www.gowection.com,
www.pcconnectionexpress.caandwww.macconnection.conOur websites provide extensive product infornmatimistomized pricing, and t
convenience of placing online orders. For the figear 2010, Internet sales processed directlynenkere $605.9 million, or 30.7% of net
sales, compared to $468.6 million, or 29.9% ofgadés in 2009.
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We also publish several catalogs, including PC @ation® , focusing on PCs and compatible products;Gbnnectio® , focusing on
Apple personal computers and compatible produat$ RC Connection Express , serving our consumeS&tO customers. We also issue,
from time to time, specialty catalogs, including@onnection catalogs directed to government andathnal institutions. With concise
product descriptions, relevant technical informatiand illustrations, along with toll-free telepromumbers for ordering, our catalogs are
recognized as a leading source for personal compateware, software, and other related products distributed approximately 9 million
catalogs in 2010.

Additional financial information regarding our bness segments and geographic data about our custanmkassets is contained in
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@hdition and Results of Operations in Item 7 oftPlaand Note 15 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Item 8 of Padfithis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We are subject to the informational requirementthefSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendatiecdExchange Act, and
accordingly, we file reports, proxy and informatistatements, and other information with the Seiesritnd Exchange Commission, or the
SEC. Such reports and information can be read apig¢d at the public reference facilities maintailbgdhe SEC at the Public Reference
Room, 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 2054%rimation regarding the operation of the Public Reiee Room may be obtained by
calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maistaiwebsite (http://www.sec.gov) that contains segorts, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding isstettsfile electronically with the SEC. We maintairtorporate website with the address
www.pcconnection.com. We are not including the infation contained in our website as part of, obiporating by reference into, this ann
report on Form 10-K. We make available free of geahrough our website our annual reports on Fd# quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
and current reports on Form 8-K, and amendmerttsetge reports, as soon as reasonably practicablensd electronically file these materials
with, or otherwise furnish them to, the SEC.

MARKET AND COMPETITION

We generate approximately 42% of our sales fronB@& market, 31% from medium-to-large corporatecaicds (Fortune 1000), 23%
from government and educational institutions, a#dfrom the consumer markets. The overall IT matkat we serve is estimated to be in
excess of $100 billion.

The largest segment of this market is served bl land regional “value added resellers,” or VARsanmof whom we believe are
transitioning from the hardware and software bussrte IT services, which generally have higher imstg/Ve have transitioned from an end-
user or desktop-centric computing supplier to avogt or enterprise-wide computing supplier. We halg® partnered with third-party
technology and telecommunications service providéts now offer our customers access to the sam@ssrand technical expertise as local
and regional VARs, but with a more extensive pracetection at lower prices.

Intense competition for customers has led manufacgwof PCs and related products to use all availetannels, including direct
marketers, to distribute products. Certain manufacs who have traditionally used resellers torithste their products have, from time to tir
established their own direct marketing operatiamduding sales through the Internet. Nonethelessbelieve that these manufacturers of PCs
and related products will continue to provide ud ather third-party direct marketers favorable praicallocations and marketing support.

We believe new entrants to the direct marketingrokmust overcome a number of obstacles, including

. the substantial time and resources required ta lBudustomer base of meaningful size and profitalfdr cos-effective operation

. the high costs of developing the information andrafing infrastructure required by direct market

2
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the advantages enjoyed by larger and more estallisbmpetitors in terms of purchasing and operatffigiencies;
the difficulty of building relationships with maradturers to achieve favorable product allocatiordsattractive pricing terms; a1
the difficulty of identifying and recruiting managent personnel with significant direct marketingesience in the industr

BUSINESS STRATEGIES

Our objective is to become the principal suppliefToproducts and solutions, including personal poers and related products and
services, to our customers. The key elements obosiness strategies include:

Providing consistent customer service before, during, and after the sale . We believe that we have earned a reputationrfmriging
superior customer service by consistently focusingur customers’ needs. We deliver value to ogtauers through high-quality
service and technical support provided by our kealgeable, well-trained personnel. We also haveiefft delivery programs and
offer our customers reasonable return polic

Offering a broad product selection at competitive prices . We offer a wide assortment of IT products andismhs, including
personal computers and related products and neitwgogroducts, at competitive prices. Our merchandiprograms feature
products that provide customers with aggressiveepaind performance and the convenience of onessimpping for their personal
computer and related nee:

Simplifying technology products procurement for corporate customers. We offer Internet-based procurement options thrapbfy
the process and lower the cost of procurementdocostomers. Our Large Account subsidiary, MoreBtirspecializes in Internet-
based solutions and provides electronic integratiith its customers and supplie

Transforming our company into an I T solution provider. Our customers seek solutions to increasingly comflenfrastructure
demands. To better address their business needmwedocused our solution service capabilitiegoam practice areas—Lifecycle,
Data Center, Networking, and Software. These ITfra groups are responsible for understandingntnastructure needs of our
customers, and for designing cost-effective teabmykolutions to address them. We have also padneith third-party providers
to make available a range of IT support servicgeduting asset assessment, implementation, maimtenand disposal services.
believe we can leverage these four practice groupansform our company into a recognized IT sofuprovider, which will
enable us to capture a greater share of the ITneljuees of our customer

Maintaining a strong brand name and customer awareness. Since our founding in 1982, we have built a strbrejnd name an
customer awareness. We have been named to then€dd@0 and the VARBusiness 500 for each of thddasyears, and in 2007,
Forbes Magazine acknowledged us as one of Ameniga& trustworthy companies. Our mailing list oftmmers and prospects
includes more than 4,700,000 narr

Maintaining long-standing vendor relationships . We have a history of strong relationships withders, and were among the fi
direct marketers qualified by manufacturers to madomputer systems to end users. We provide audors with both information
concerning customer preferences and an efficiesnirodl for the advertising and distribution of th@ioducts

3
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GROWTH STRATEGIES

Our growth strategies are designed to increasenumgederived from broader product and service ioffer increase penetration of our
existing customers, and expand our customer bdmekdy elements of our growth strategies include:

. Expanding hardware and software offerings. We offer our customers an extensive range of ITilare and software products and
in response to customer demand continually evalredeadd new products as they become availablevdle closely with vendors
to identify and source fir-to-market product offerings at aggressive pri

. Expanding I T solution services offerings. We strive to accelerate solution and service grdwtbroviding creative solutions to the
increasingly complex hardware and software neeasio€ustomers. Our solution services are focusefur IT practice areas—
Lifecycle, Data Center, Networking, and Softwarke3e practice groups consist of industry-certiéiad product-certified
engineers, as well as highly specialized thirdypproviders. Our investment in these four pracéiceas is expected to increase our
share of the annual IT expenditures of our custsrhgbroadening the range of products and sertimgspurchase from u

. Targeting customer segments. Through increased targeted marketing, we seekparal the number of our active customers and
generate additional sales to existing customensroyiding more value-added services and solutidfes have developed specialty
catalogs featuring product offerings designed tiresk the needs of specific customer populatiochjding new product inserts
targeted to purchasers of graphics, server, andonkeing products. We also utilize internet markgtoampaigns that focus on se
markets.

. Increasing productivity of our sales representatives . We believe that higher sales productivity is kg to leveraging our expen
structure and driving future profitability improvemts. We invest significant resources in trainieg/rsales representatives, and
provide ongoing training to experienced person@etk. training and evaluation programs are focusetds assisting our sales
personnel in understanding and anticipating cliditeeeds, with the goal of fostering loyal custemnelationships. We also
provide our sales representatives technical sugponore complex sales opportunities through opaeging group of TSS

. Pursuing strategic acquisitions and alliances. We seek acquisitions and alliances that add nestomers, strengthen our product
offerings, add management talent, and produce tipgnaesults which are accretive to our core bussrearnings

SERVICE AND SUPPORT

Since our founding in 1982, our primary objectias ibeen to provide products that meet the demantiseeds of customers and to
supplement those products with up-to-date procifotination and excellent customer service and suppée believe that offering our
customers superior value, through a combinatigprofluct knowledge, consistent and reliable seraig support, and leading products at
competitive prices, differentiates us from otheedi marketers and provides the foundation for igieg a broad and loyal customer base.

We invest in training programs for our service aogport personnel, with an emphasis on puttingoonst needs and service first. We
provide toll-free technical support from 9:00 athrough 5:30 p.m. Eastern Time, Monday throughdridProduct support technicians assist
callers with questions concerning compatibilitystadlation, determination of defects, and moreiclitf questions relating to product use. The
product support technicians authorize customerstton defective or incompatible products to eittier manufacturer or to us for warranty
service. In-house technicians perform both warranty non-warranty repair on most major systemshandware products.

Using our customized information system, we transmi customer orders either to our distributiontee or to our drop-ship suppliers,
depending on product availability, for processimgriediately after a customer
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receives credit approval. At our distribution centee also perform custom configuration of compsigstems as requested by our customers,
which typically consists of the installation of mem, accessories, and/or software purchased. Gatormers may select the method of delivery
that best meets their needs and is most cost iwecanging from expedited overnight delivery tmgently needed items to ground freight,
generally used for heavier, more bulky items. Tigtoour Everything Overnigl#t service, orders acadpieto 7:00 p.m. Eastern Time can be
shipped for overnight delivery.

Our inventory stocking levels are based on thréeamy criteria. First, we stock and maintain a &gyantity of products that sell throu
quickly (such as notebook and desktop systemstgpsinand monitors). Second, we stock productsrddahrough opportunistic purchases
(including first-to-market and end-of-life specmbmotions, and popular products with limited aatility). Third, we stock products in
common demand, such as components we use to comfgstems prior to shipping, for which we wanatwid shortages. Inventory stocking
decisions are made generally independent of thed fshipping service, as expedited shipping,udiig overnight delivery, is available
through the majority of our drop-ship suppliersaggl as through our warehouse.

MARKETING AND SALES

We sell our products through our direct marketihgrmels to SMBs, consumer/SOHOs, government anchéidnal institutions, and
medium-tolarge corporate accounts. We strive to be the pyiraapplier of IT products and solutions, includimgrsonal computers and rela
products, to our existing customers and to our edjmg customer base. We use multiple marketingagagres to reach existing and
prospective customers, including:

. outbound telemarketing and field sal

. web and print media advertisin

. marketing programs targeted to specific customeufations; anc
. catalogs and inbound telesal

All of our marketing approaches emphasize our bpraduct offerings, fast delivery, customer suppoompetitive pricing, and our wic
range of service solutions.

We believe that our ability to establish and maimtang-term customer relationships and to encoairageat purchases is largely
dependent on the strength of our sales persondgbagrams. Because our customers’ primary comtébtus is through our sales
representatives, we are committed to maintainiggalified, knowledgeable, and motivated sales stiff its principal focus on customer
service.

Sales Channels. The following table sets forth our percentage dfssdes by sales channel:

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Sales Channel
Outbound Telemarketing and Field Se 68% 69% 69%
Internet Sale 31 3C 28
Inbound Telesale _1 _1 _ 2
Total _10C% _10C% _10C%

Outbound Telemarketing and Field Sales . We seek to build loyal relationships with potahtiigh-volume customers by
assigning them to individual account managers. @lieve that customers respond favorably to onefmrelationships with
personalized, well-trained account managers. Ostabkshed, these one-on-one relationships aretaia@d and enhanced through
frequent
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telecommunications and targeted catalogs and athéketing materials designed to meet each custarspgcific IT needs. We p
most of our account managers a base annual sdleyngentive compensation. Incentive compensasidgied to gross profit dolla
produced by the individual account manager. Accouaagers historically have significantly increapeatuctivity after
approximately twelve months of training and expeci

I nternet Sales. ( www.pcconnection.com, www.moredirect.comww.govconnection.com, www.pcconnectionexpress aod
www.macconnection.cojiWe provide product descriptions and prices ofegalty all products online. Our PC Connection websi
also provides updated information for more than,300 items and on-screen images for more than 000téms. We offer, and
continuously update, selected product offeringsa@hdr special buys. We believe our websites aliengortant sales source and
communication tool for improving customer service.

Our MoreDirect subsidiary’s business process arataijopns are primarily Web based. During 2010, axiprately two-thirds
of MoreDirect’s orders were received via the InegriMost of its corporate customers utilize a costed Web page to quickly
search, source, and track IT products. MoreDiraggbsite aggregates the current available invesgaf its largest IT suppliers
into a single on-line source for its corporate ongtrs. Its custom designed Internet-based syst®AXK™, provides corporate
buyers with comparative pricing from several sugyslias well as special pricing arranged throughrtheufacturer.

The Internet supports three key business initiatfee us:

. Customer choice-~We have built our business on the premise thatostomers should be able to choose how they
interact with us, be it by telephone, over therm¢, «mail, fax, or mail.

. Lowering transactions cos—Our website tools include robust product searelufes and Internet Business Accounts
(customized Web pages), which allow customers tokijuand easily find information about productsimterest to
them. If customers still have questions, they nmallyinto our Telesales Representatives or Accouahagiers. Such
phone calls are typically shorter and have highesecrates than calls from customers who haveirsitvisited our
websites

. Leveraging the time of experienced sales repretigas—Our investments in technolo-based sales and serv
programs allow our sales representatives moretinbeild and maintain relationships with our cuséwsnand help
them to solve their business problel

Inbound Telesales . Our inbound sales representatives answer custtaieghone calls generated by our catalogs ana othe
advertising programs. They also assist customersaiking purchasing decisions, process product sy@ed respond to customer
inquiries on order status, product pricing, andlabdity. Using our proprietary information systefsales representatives can
quickly access customer records which detail pugetstory and billing and shipping informationpesliting the ordering process.
Our inbound sales have decreased in recent ydstirg increased Internet usage by our consumeérsOHO customers.

Business Segments. We conduct our business operations through fouinbas segments: SMB, Large Account, Public Seetud,
Consumer/SOHO.

SMB Segment . Our principal target customers in this segmeatsanall-to-medium-sized business customers witto 20000
employees. We use a combination of outbound telegtiag, including some on-site sales solicitatigrblisiness development
managers, and Internet sales through Internet BssiAccounts, to reach these customers.

Large Account Segment . Through our MoreDirect subsidiary’s custom desigidéeb-based system, we are able to offer our
larger corporate customers an efficient and effeatiethod of sourcing, evaluating, purchasing, teacking a wide variety of IT
products and services. MoreDirect’s
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strategy is to be the primary single source praoerg portal for its large corporate customers. Nhirect's sales representatives
typically have ten to twenty years of experienced are located strategically across the United Stdteis allows them to work
directly with customers, often on site. MoreDirgenerally places its product orders with manufagtiand/or distribution
companies for drop shipment directly to its custmsne

Public Sector Segment . We use a combination of outbound telemarketinguding some on-site sales solicitation by field
sales account managers, and Internet sales thioteghet Business Accounts, to reach these cussrirough our
GovConnection subsidiary, we target each of the distinct market sectors within this segment—fadlgovernment, higher
educational institutions, school grades K-12, aatesand local governments.

Consumer/SOHO Segment . In January 2010, we formed a new consumer salepany, PC Connection Express, Inc., to
focus on the consumer and SOHO customer. Our pyimaans of marketing to these customers consistgarhet sales and
inbound sales representatives. Prior period saléoperating results relating to consumer and S@t€omers were reported
primarily within our SMB segment. We have reviskd teporting of operating segments to reflect thehfor assessing
performance and allocating resources. Under thised reporting structure, the prior year operatisylts related to our consumer
and SOHO customers that were formerly reportedinitie SMB segment were excluded from that segritertomparative
purposes.

The following table sets forth the pro forma relattistribution of our net sales by business segmen

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Business Segment
SMB 42% 42% 46%
Large Accoun 31 27 27
Public Secto 23 25 21
Consumer/SOH( _ 4 _ 6 _ 6
Total 100% 10C% 100%

Catalog Distribution. We publish a variety of catalogs, including PC Gection® for the PC market, MacConnection for the
Apple market, and PC Connection Expréss for theswomer market. In 2010, we published 12 editionB®@fConnectio® , and 9 each
of MacConnectior? and PC Connection Express . Weilllise catalogs to purchasers on our in-houseimggilst as well as to other
prospective customers. In addition, we distribygectalty catalogs to educational and governmenbeousrs and prospects on a periodic
basis. We also distribute our monthly catalogsamgted with special covers and inserts, offerimg@de assortment of special offers on
products in specific areas such as graphics, deeteom, and mobile computing, or for specific ousérs, such as developers.

Specialty Marketing. Our specialty marketing activities include direaimother inbound and outbound telemarketing sew,i
bulletin board services, package inserts, fax brasis, and electronic mail.

Customers. We maintain an extensive database of customerpm@sgects currently aggregating more than 4,700n200es.
Approximately 94% of our sales in the year endeddbeber 31, 2010 was made to customers who hadopidyipurchased products
from us. Except for sales to the federal governme&hich accounted for approximately 10% of consatkd revenues, no single customer
accounted for more than 3% of our consolidatedmegen 2010. The loss of any single customer, Withexception of the federal
government, will not have a material adverse effecany of our business segments. In addition, eveal have individual orders in our
backlog that are material to our business, as wiedjly ship products within hours of receipt oflers.
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PRODUCTS AND MERCHANDISING

We continuously focus on expanding the breadthuofomoduct offerings. We currently offer our custemmover 300,000 information
technology products designed for business appiicatirom more than 1,600 manufacturers, includiaglivare and peripherals, accessories,
networking products, and software. We select tloelpets we sell based upon their technology and®&ffeness, market demand, product
features, quality, price, margins, and warrantéespart of our merchandising strategy, we alsorgifeducts related to PCs, such as digital
cameras and digital media players.

The following table sets forth our percentage dfsades (in dollars) of notebooks and personataligissistants, or PDAs, desktops and
servers, software, video, imaging and sound, anerahajor product categories:

PERCENTAGE OF NET SALES
Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Notebook and PD/ 17% 15% 15%
Desktop/Serve 16 13 13
Software 14 14 13
Video, Imaging and Sour 12 14 15
Net/Com Produc 10 11 10
Printer and Printer Supplit 8 8 9
Storage Devic 7 8 9
Memory and System Enhanceme 4 4 4
Accessory/Othe 12 _ 13 _ 12

Total _10C% _100% _10C%

We offer a 30-day right of return generally limiteddefective merchandise. Returns of non-defegieelucts are subject to restocking
fees. Substantially all of the products marketedi®pre warranted by the manufacturer. We geneaiattgpt returns directly from the customer
and then either credit the customer’s account igr tile customer a similar product from our inveptor

PURCHASING AND VENDOR RELATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we shippptbximately 63% of our sales directly from oistidbution partners, and the
balance was shipped from our distribution faciiityVilmington, Ohio. For the years ended Decemidgr2®10, 2009, and 2008, product
purchases from Ingram Micro, Inc., our largest \v@ndccounted for 25%, 23%, and 24%, respectiwdlpur total product purchases.
Purchases from Tech Data Corporation comprised 18%, and 17% of our total product purchases ir02@009, and 2008, respectively.
Purchases from Synnex comprised 12%, 11%, and Qardabtal product purchases in 2010, 2009, an@2@3pectively. Purchases from
Hewlett-Packard, or HP, comprised 9%, 10%, and d2%r total product purchases in 2010, 2009, d@@B2respectively. No other vendor
accounted for more than 10% of our total productpases in the years ended December 31, 2010, 80@908. We believe that, while we
may experience some short-term disruption, alter@aburces for products obtained from Ingram Midrech Data, Synnex, and HP are
available to us.

Many product suppliers reimburse us for advertisgmer other cooperative marketing programs incatialogs and other marketing
vehicles. Reimbursements may be in the form ofadiats, advertising allowances, and/or rebates. Mteraceive allowances from certain
vendors based upon the volume of purchases orafillks vendors’ products by us. Some of our vesddier limited price protection in the
form of rebates or credits against future purchasdsmay also participate in end-of-life productl @her special purchases which may not be
eligible for price protection.
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We believe that we have excellent relationships wiir vendors. We generally pay vendors withinestaérms, or earlier when favorable
cash discounts are offered. We believe that becafusar volume purchases, we are able to obtaidyobpricing and terms that are
competitive with those available to other majoedirmarketers. Although brand names and indiviguaduct offerings are important to our
business, we believe that competitive productaaedable in substantially all of the merchandiategories offered by us.

DISTRIBUTION

We fulfill orders from customers both from produets hold in inventory and through drop shippingaagements with manufacturers :
distributors. At our approximately 205,000 squaretfdistribution and fulfillment complex in Wilminign, Ohio, we receive and ship inventc
configure computer systems, and process returratlpts. Orders are transmitted electronically faamvarious sales facilities to our
Wilmington distribution center after credit apprgwahere packing documentation is printed autonadificand order fulfillment takes place.
Our customers are given several shipping optiarging from expedited overnight delivery through Buerything Overnight service to
normal ground freight service. Through our EvemythOvernigh® service, orders accepted up until p.00. Eastern Time, are generally
shipped for overnight delivery via United Parcehiee (“UPS”) or FedEx Corporation. Upon requesters may also be shipped by other
common carriers.

We also place product orders directly with manufests and/or distribution companies for drop shiphi® those manufacturers and/or
suppliers directly to customers. Our MoreDirectsdiary generally utilizes drop shipping for albguct orders. Order status with distributors
is tracked online, and in all circumstances, a icordtion of shipment from manufacturers and/orribistion companies is received prior to
initial recording of the transaction. At the endeaich financial reporting period, revenue is aejdi$b reflect the anticipated receipt of products
by the customers in the period. Products drop gy suppliers were 63% of net sales in 2010 &34 6f net sales in 2009. In future years,
we expect that products drop shipped from suppligifscontinue to increase, both in dollars anchgsercentage of net sales, as we seek to
lower our overall inventory and distribution costkile maintaining excellent customer service.

Certain of our larger customers occasionally reisigscial staged delivery arrangements under wéittier we or our distribution
partners set aside and temporarily hold inventorpuar customer’s behalf. Such orders are firm @ejivorders, and customers generally pay
under normal credit terms, regardless of delivBgvenue on such transactions is not recordedshifiment to their final destination as
requested by the customer. Inventory held for staed delivery requests aggregated $10.3 milimh$.9 million at December 31, 2010 i
2009, respectively.

We maintain inventories of fast moving productsneet customer demand, representing products tbhatiatfor a high percentage of
ongoing product sales transactions and sales doWlée may also, from time to time, make large inegnpurchases of certain first-to-market
products or end-of-life products to obtain favoeaplirchasing discounts. We also maintain sufficieventory levels of common-demand
components and accessories used for configuratioices.

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION SYSTEMS

Our subsidiaries utilize centralized managemerrination systems principally comprised of applisas software which we have
customized for our use. These systems permit deaetlamanagement of key functions, including oriddéing and processing, inventory and
accounts receivable management, purchasing, seldgjistribution, and the preparation of daily @peg control reports on key aspects of the
business. We also operate advanced telecommunisaguipment to support our sales and customeiceasperations. Key elements of the
telecommunications systems are integrated wittcoarputer systems to provide timely customer infdromato sales and service
representatives, and to facilitate the preparatfasperating and performance data.
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MoreDirect has developed a custom designed Intdrased system, TRAXX™, which comprises applicatisoféware running on Linux
servers. This system is an integrated applicatf@ales order processing, integrated supply chigibility, and full EDI links with major
manufacturers’ distribution partners for produdbimation, availability, pricing, ordering, deliwerand tracking, including related accounting
functions.

We believe our customized information systems enablto improve productivity, ship customer ord®rsaa same-day basis, respond
quickly to changes in our industry, and providehhligvels of customer service.

Our success is dependent in large part on the acgand proper use of our information systemsuhidg our telephone systems, to
manage our inventory and accounts receivable calles; to purchase, sell, and ship our producisiefitly and on a timely basis, and to
maintain cost-efficient operations. We expect totowme upgrading our information systems in theifatto more effectively manage our
operations and customer database.

In 2009, we began a comprehensive review and asses®f our entire business software needs. Th#weand assessment includes the
review of commercially available software that nseetr can be configured to meet, those needs lib#irrour existing software. In the third
quarter of 2010, we completed the first phase isfriéwview and purchased a comprehensive CustomsteMBata Management system for §
million. While we have not finalized our decisiorgarding whether or to what extent new softwaiehei acquired and implemented beyond
what we have acquired to date, the capital cosssict a project, if fully implemented, would likedxceed $20.0 million over the next three-to-
five years. For further discussion see “LiquiditydaCapital Resources” of ltem 7 “Management’s Diston and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” of this report

COMPETITION

The direct marketing and sale of information tedbgy products, including personal computers andteel products, is highly
competitive. We compete with other direct marketdrsl’ products, including CDW Corporation and lisi Enterprises, Inc., who are much
larger than we are. We also compete with:

. certain product manufacturers that sell directlgustomers, such as Dell Inc., as well as somaioban suppliers, such as HP,
Lenovo, and Apple

. distributors that sell directly to certain custos

. local and regional VARs

. various franchisers, office supply superstores, raattbnal computer retailers; a

. companies with more extensive websites and comaleraline networks

Additional competition may arise if other new matbmf distribution, such as broadband electronitwswe distribution, emerge in the
future. We compete not only for customers, but &sdavorable product allocations and cooperasisteertising support from product
manufacturers. Several of our competitors are taigen us and have substantially greater finamesdurces than we do. These and other

factors related to our competitive position aredssed more fully in the “Overview” of Item 7 “Magement’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations”fo$ tAnnual Report on Form 10-K

We believe that price, product selection and alditg, and service and support are the most ingrdrcompetitive factors in our
industry.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

Our trademarks include PC Connectfon , MoreDifedgoyConnectior? , PC Connection Expréss , MacCororeet, and their
related logos; Everything Overnight , The Connettio Raccoon Charactér , Service Connection , Healthectior® , ProConnection™,
TRAXX™ Graphics Connectiof , Education ConnecfigrGet Connecteél , Connett , and Your Brands, Yoay Wext Day? . We
intend to use and protect these and our other maskse deem necessary. We believe our trademavksdignificant value and are an
important factor in the marketing of our produdtge do not maintain a traditional research and dgrmknt group, but we work closely with
computer product manufacturers and other technadegglopers to stay abreast of the latest develotstie computer technology, with resg
to the products we both sell and use.

WORK FORCE

As of December 31, 2010, we employed 1,556 perffatidime equivalent), of whom 814 (including 18@®anagement and support
personnel) were engaged in sales related activit#® were engaged in providing IT services andoensr service and support, 308 were
engaged in purchasing, marketing, and distributidated activities, 101 were engaged in the opmratnd development of management
information systems, and 185 were engaged in adimétive and finance functions. We consider our leyge relations to be good. Our
employees are not represented by a labor unionwantthve never experienced a labor related wogkpsige.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Statements contained or incorporated by referenatis Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not lzhea historical fact are “forward-
looking statements” within the meaning of the Prév&ecurities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Secf@A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Toigard-looking statements regarding future eveatd our future results are based on
current expectations, estimates, forecasts, angeptions and the beliefs and assumptions of managemcluding, without limitation, our
expectations with regard to the industry’s rapidteological change and exposure to inventory olssalace, availability and allocations of
goods, reliance on vendor support and relationshiggenpetitive risks, pricing risks, and the ovetallel of economic activity and the leve
business investment in information technology petelui=orward-looking statements may be identifigdhe use of forward-looking
terminology such as “may,” “could,” “will,” “expect” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “continue,” or similar terms, variations of such terms or the
negative of those terms.

” i, ”ou ”ou ” o

We cannot assure investors that our assumptioneapédctations will prove to have been correct. Irtgpt factors could cause our
actual results to differ materially from those iodied or implied by forward-looking statements.ISfactors that could cause or contribute to
such differences include those factors discusskmhb&Ve undertake no intention or obligation to aplor revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new informafitnye events, or otherwise. If any of the follogviisks actually occur, our business,
financial condition, or results of operations wolikkly suffer.

The uncertainty in economic conditions and the finacial markets may adversely affect our business angduce our operating results.

Economic weakness and financial markets turmoikaskly impacted economic conditions in 2009, r@sylih recessionary pressures
and declines in consumer confidence and spendinginBsses in turn reacted to the decline in consspending by reducing staffing levels
and delaying or deferring corporate spending, iticlg their IT expenditures. Both our SMB and Lafgeount segments, which serve small,
medium, and large businesses, experienced in 2§0B8icant declines in revenues and increased caithyepricing pressures, which advers
affected our operating results. The financial merkermoil also resulted in a substantial tightgnif the credit markets, which increased the
cost of capital and reduced the availability ofditéo our customers. Although businesses incretfssid IT spending in 2010, considerable
uncertainty exists
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regarding the momentum of the recovery and expestedomic conditions. Future delays or reductiond ispending could have a material
adverse affect on demand for our products and cmesely on our financial results. In addition, @mer insolvencies could impact our ability
to collect receivables and negatively impact owsrafing results and liquidity.

It is difficult to predict how long the uncertainity economic conditions and the financial markeis a@ntinue, the extent, if any, to
which they may deteriorate, and to which our bussnmay be adversely affected. However, if the atiireerease in IT spending should
reverse, we are likely to experience an adversadtmpvhich may be material, on our business andesuits of operations.

Should our financial performance not meet expectatins and our stock price trade below current levelsye may be required to record a
significant charge to earnings for impairment of gedwill and other intangibles.

We test goodwill for impairment on Januarst 1 oftegiear, and more frequently if potential impairmigrdticators arise. We determined
that the goodwill balances held by the SMB and Rubéctor segments were fully impaired as of Deam3fi, 2008, and accordingly the
carrying values of those segments’ goodwill werétem off, resulting in a significant non-cash aipato earnings. Although we determined the
fair value of our Large Account segment’s goodwilbstantially exceeded its carrying value at omuahimpairment test on January 1, 2011,
should this segment’s financial performance nottregpectations due to the economy or otherwiseyaudd likely adjust downward expected
future operating results and cash flows. Such aaijeist may result in a determination that the cagwialues for goodwill and other intangib
for that segment exceed their respective fair \&llibis determination may in turn require that eeord a significant non-cash charge to
earnings to reduce the $49.3 million aggregateytegramount of goodwill and other intangibles hijdthe Large Account operating segment,
resulting in a negative effect on our results aérapions.

We have experienced variability in sales, and theris no assurance that we will be able to maintainrpfitable operations.

Several factors have caused our results of opesatmfluctuate and we expect some of these flticlugto continue on a quarterly basis.
Causes of these fluctuations include:

. shifts in customer demand for hardware and softywawsducts, including demand for total solutio

. loss of customers to competito

. adverse weather conditions that affect responsgjlalition, or shipping

. industry shipments of new products or upgra

. changes in vendor distribution of produc

. changes in our product offerings and in merchanaigens;

. the timing of new merchandise and catalog offer;ii

. fluctuations in response rates; ¢

. fluctuations in shipping, printing, postage, anggracosts

Our results also may vary based on our ability smage personnel levels in response to fluctuationsvenue. We base personnel levels

and other operating expenditures on sales foredésisr revenues do not meet anticipated levelhiénfuture, we may not be able to reduce
staffing levels and operating expenses in a timeyner to avoid significant losses from operations.
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We face many competitive risks.

The direct marketing industry and the computer potsiretail business, in particular, are highly petitive. We compete with consumer
electronics and computer retail stores, includimgesstores. We also compete with other direct markef hardware and software and
computer related products, including CDW Corporatiod Insight Enterprises, Inc., who are much latiggn we are. Certain hardware and
software vendors, such as Apple, Dell, Lenovo, ldRgdwho provide products to us, are also sellimirthroducts directly to end users through
their own catalogs, stores, and via the Internet.ddmpete not only for customers, but also for geg support from personal computer
product manufacturers. Some of our competitors lenger catalog circulations and customer basegyegater financial, marketing, and other
resources than we do. In addition, some of our agditges offer a wider range of products and sew/iten we do and may be able to respond
more quickly to new or changing opportunities, tembgies, and customer requirements. Many curneditp@tential competitors also have
greater name recognition, engage in more extempsmotional activities, and adopt pricing policteat are more aggressive than ours. We
expect competition to increase as retailers arettimarketers who have not traditionally sold cotapgiand related products enter the indu

In addition, product resellers and direct marketgescombining operations or acquiring or mergint wther resellers and direct
marketers to increase efficiency. Moreover, cureert potential competitors have established or estgblish cooperative relationships among
themselves or with third parties to enhance theidpcts and services. Accordingly, it is possibigt new competitors or alliances among
competitors may emerge and acquire significant etaskare.

We cannot provide assurance that we can continaertpete effectively against our current or futtwenpetitors. If we encounter new
competition or fail to compete effectively againsr competitors, our business may be harmed.

We face and will continue to face significant priceompetition.

Generally, pricing is very aggressive in the pead@omputer industry, and we expect pricing presstw escalate if economic conditions
deteriorate. An increase in price competition caekllt in a reduction of our profit margins. Theesm be no assurance that we will be able to
offset the effects of price reductions with an @ase in the number of customers, higher salesredsttions, or otherwise. Also, our sales of
personal computer hardware products are genenaltjuging lower profit margins than those associatgd software products. Such pricing
pressures could result in an erosion of our maskate, reduced sales, and reduced operating maagin®f which could have a material
adverse effect on our business.

We may experience a reduction in the incentive pragms offered to us by our vendors.

Some product manufacturers and distributors prougeith incentives such as supplier reimbursemeatgment discounts, price
protection, rebates, and other similar arrangemdthis increasingly competitive computer hardwarekeiahas already resulted in the
following:

. reduction or elimination of some of these incenpivegrams
. more restrictive price protection and other terargj
. reduced advertising allowances and incentivespinescases

Many product suppliers provide us with advertisaligwances, and in exchange, we feature their mtsdn our catalogs and other
marketing vehicles. These vendor allowances, t@gtent that they represent specific reimbursemefritecremental and identifiable costs, are
offset against SG&A expenses. Advertising allowantat cannot be associated with a specific produtied by an individual vendor or that
exceed the fair value of advertising expense aagatwith that program are classified as offsetsogi of sales or inventory. In the past, we
have experienced a decrease in the level of veraiwideration available to us from certain manuifiess.
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The level of such consideration we receive fromsonanufacturers may decline in the future. Sucbdirte could decrease our gross profit
and have a material adverse effect on our earingsash flows.

The failure to comply with our public sector contracts could result in, among other things, fines oidbilities.

Revenues from the public sector segment are defioad sales to federal, state, and local governrdepairtments and agencies, as well
as to educational institutions, through varioustamis and open market sales. Government contggistia highly regulated area.
Noncompliance with government procurement regutatior contract provisions could result in civilinginal, and administrative liability
including substantial monetary fines or damagesmitetion of government contracts, and suspensiebarment, or ineligibility from doing
business with the government. Our current arrangésneith these government agencies allow them maelaorders with little or no notice and
do not require them to purchase products from tkerfuture. The effect of any of these possibtéas by any government department or
agency could adversely affect our financial positi@sults of operations, and cash flows.

We could experience system failures which would ietfere with our ability to process orders.

We depend on the accuracy and proper use of ouageament information systems, including our teleghsystem. Many of our key
functions depend on the quality and effective zailion of the information generated by our managernméormation systems, including:

. our ability to purchase, sell, and ship producficiehtly and on a timely basi
. our ability to manage inventory and accounts reat@i collection; ani
. our ability to maintain operation

Our management information systems require contimpgrades to most effectively manage our operataond customer database.
Although we maintain some redundant systems, wilrdaita backup, our primary computer and telecomigations hardware is located in a
single facility in New Hampshire, and a substaritiggrruption in our management information systemms our telephone communication
systems, including those resulting from extremetheraand natural disasters, as well as power teezommunications failure, or similar
events, would substantially hinder our ability togess customer orders and thus could have a @ilaadsierse effect on our business.

We acquire products for resale from a limited numbe of vendors. The loss of any one of these vendasuld have a material adverse
effect on our business.

We acquire products for resale both directly froemnefacturers and increasingly indirectly througstributors and other sources. The
five vendors supplying the greatest amount of gdodss constituted 69%, 68%, and 70% of our totatlpct purchases in the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectivelyorghese five vendors, purchases from Ingram sepited 25%, 23%, and 24% of our
total product purchases in 2010, 2009, and 20@®eaively. Purchases from Tech Data Corporatipresented 14%, 15%, and 17% of our
total product purchases in 2010, 2009, and 20@®eactively. Purchases from Synnex Corporation sgpred 12%, 11%, and 9% of our total
product purchases in 2010, 2009, and 2008, respéctPurchases from HP represented 9%, 10%, abddfDur total product purchases in
2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively. No other vesdpplied more than 10% of our total product puselsan the years ended December 31,
2010, 2009, or 2008. If we were unable to acquicglpcts from Ingram, Tech Data, Synnex, or HP, auda experience a showrm disruptio
in the availability of products, and such disrupt@ould have a material adverse effect on our tesfiloperations and cash flows.

Substantially all of our contracts and arrangemeiitts our vendors that supply significant quanste products are terminable by such
vendors or us without notice or upon short notMest of our product vendors
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provide us with trade credit, of which the net amoautstanding at December 31, 2010 was $114.6omilTermination, interruption, or
contraction of relationships with our vendors, uttthg a reduction in the level of trade credit pded to us, could have a material adverse
effect on our financial position.

Some product manufacturers either do not permio sell the full line of their products or limitémumber of product units available to
direct marketers such as us. An element of oumlessistrategy is to continue increasing our ppgtn in first-to-market purchase
opportunities. The availability of certain desiggwducts, especially in the direct marketing chinmes been constrained in the past. We could
experience a material adverse effect to our busiii@ge are unable to source first-to-market pusehar similar opportunities, or if we face the
reemergence of significant availability constraints

We are exposed to inventory obsolescence due to tfagid technological changes occurring in the perswl computer industry.

The market for personal computer products is charized by rapid technological change and the fetjintroduction of new products
and product enhancements. Our success dependgémplart on our ability to identify and market puots that meet the needs of customers in
that marketplace. In order to satisfy customer dedrend to obtain favorable purchasing discountshawee and may continue to carry
increased inventory levels of certain productssBydoing, we are subject to the increased riskwdritory obsolescence. Also, in order to
implement our business strategy, we intend to naetiamong other things, placing larger than typioaentory stocking orders of selected
products and increasing our participation in ficsimarket purchase opportunities. We may also, fiiome to time, make large inventory
purchases of certain end-of-life products, whiclulddncrease the risk of inventory obsolescencaddition, we sometimes acquire special
purchase products without return privileges. Theane be no assurance that we will be able to awaisels related to obsolete inventory. In
addition, manufacturers have limited return rigimsl have taken steps to reduce their inventorysauedy supporting “configure-to-order”
programs authorizing distributors and resellerassemble computer hardware under the manufactimenstls. These actions reduce the costs
to manufacturers and shift the burden of inventaly to resellers like us, which could negativetyiact our business.

We are dependent on key personnel.

Our future performance will depend to a significartent upon the efforts and abilities of our semiecutives and other key
management personnel. The competition for qualifirechagement personnel in the computer productsindis very intense, and the loss of
service of one or more of these persons could hawaverse effect on our business. Our succesglansl for future growth will also depend
on our ability to hire, train, and retain skilledrponnel in all areas of our business, includingsseepresentatives and technical support
personnel. There can be no assurance that weevéblke to attract, train, and retain sufficientldiesl personnel to achieve our business
objectives.

The methods of distributing personal computers andelated products are changing, and such changes maggatively impact us and ou
business.

The manner in which personal computers and refateducts are distributed and sold is changing,reewd methods of distribution and
sale, such as online shopping services, have ethdrgedware and software manufacturers have sottinaay intensify their efforts to sell,
their products directly to end users. From timértee, certain manufacturers have instituted progréonthe direct sales of large order
guantities of hardware and software to certain majoporate accounts. These types of programs miatyncie to be developed and used by
various manufacturers. Some of our vendors, inolydipple, HP, and Lenovo, currently sell some eirtiproducts directly to end users and
have stated their intentions to increase the lef/slich direct sales. In addition, manufacturerg atteempt to increase the volume of software
products distributed electronically to end usens.idcrease in the volume of products sold throughsed by consumers of any of these
competitive programs or distributed electronicadlyend users could have a material adverse effeouioresults of operations.
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We depend heavily on third-party shippers to deliveour products to customers.

Many of our customers elect to have their purchabggped by an interstate common carrier, suchRS af FedEx Corporation. A strike
or other interruption in service by these shipmensld adversely affect our ability to market oridet products to customers on a timely basis.

We may experience potential increases in shippingaper, and postage costs, which may adversely affexur business if we are not able
to pass such increases on to our customers.

Shipping costs are a significant expense in theadip® of our business. Increases in postal orghgprates and paper costs could
significantly impact the cost of producing and rmgjlour catalogs and shipping customer orders.dgesprices and shipping rates increase
periodically, and we have no control over futurer@ases. We have a long-term contract with UPSpetidve that we have negotiated
favorable shipping rates with our carriers. We galheinvoice customers for shipping and handlihguges. There can be no assurance that w
will be able to pass on to our customers the foditcincluding any future increases in the costarhmercial delivery services.

We also incur substantial paper and postage celsted to our marketing activities, including proohg and mailing our catalogs. Paper
prices historically have been cyclical, and we haxgerienced substantial increases in the pastifi8iant increases in postal or shipping rates
and paper costs could adversely impact our busifiaasicial condition, and results of operatiorastigularly if we cannot pass on such
increases to our customers or offset such incrdasesducing other costs.

We rely on the continued development of electronicommerce and Internet infrastructure development.

We have had an increasing level of sales madéheidnternet in part because of the growing useazedptance of the Internet by end
users. Sales of computer products via the Inteamesent a significant and increasing portionvarall computer product sales. Growth of our
Internet sales is dependent on potential custoosng the Internet in addition to traditional meahsommerce to purchase products. We
cannot accurately predict the rate at which thelydwi so.

Our success in growing our Internet business weiflehd in large part upon our development of areamingly sophisticated infrastruct
for providing Internet access and services. Ifrthmber of Internet users or their use of Interesburces continues to grow rapidly, such
growth may overwhelm our existing Internet infrasture. Additionally, our ability to increase thgegd with which we provide services to
customers and to increase the scope of such sgnvittmately is limited by, and reliant upon, ttephistication, speed, reliability, and cost-
effectiveness of the networks operated by thirdiggrand these networks may not continue to beldped or be available at prices consistent
with our required business model.

We may be liable for misappropriation of our custoners’ personal information.

We have implemented systems and processes thdésigned to prevent unauthorized access to custofieemation, the processing of
fraudulent transactions, and security breaches.gvew failure to prevent or mitigate such breadwmsdd have an adverse impact on our
business and could subject us to regulatory actldiggmtion, and other adverse effects.

We face uncertainties relating to the collection oftate sales and use tax.

We collect and remit sales and use taxes in stat@hich we have either voluntarily registered axé a physical presence. Various st
have sought to impose on direct marketers the Inunfleollecting state sales and use taxes on ke s&products shipped to their residents. In
1992, the United States Supreme Court affirmefatstion that it is unconstitutional for a statdrtgpose sales or use tax collection obligations
on an
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out-of-state mail-order company whose only contagtis the state are limited to the distributioncatalogs and other advertising materials
through the mail and the subsequent delivery ofipased goods by United States mail or by interstatemon carrier. However, legislation

that would expand the ability of states to impaslesand use tax collection obligations on direatkaters has been introduced in Congress on
many occasions. Additionally, certain states hal@pged rules that require companies and theiliai# to register in those states as a cont

of doing business with those state agencies. OuB,3Mrge Account, and Public Sector segments a@jistered in substantially all states. Our
Consumer/SOHO segment is registered in only sitesta

Moreover, due to our presence on various formdeuftnic media and other operational factors,amntacts with many states may
exceed the limited contacts involved in the Supr€art case. We cannot predict the level of costtwt is sufficient to permit a state to
impose on us a sales or use tax collection obtigatf the Supreme Court changes its positionf lgislation is passed to overturn the
Supreme Court’s decision, or if a court were teedwuine that our contacts with a state exceed thstitationally permitted contacts, the
expansion of a sales or use tax collection oblgatin our Consumer/SOHO segment in states to whéttips products would result in
additional administrative expenses to us, couldltés tax liability for past sales as well as grincreases to our customers, and could reduce
future sales.

Privacy concerns with respect to list developmentradl maintenance may materially adversely affect oubusiness.

We mail catalogs and other promotional materialsames in our customer database and to potenstdrmers whose names we obtain
from rented or exchanged mailing lists. Public ynaegarding the protection of personal infornratias subjected the rental and use of
customer mailing lists and other customer infororato increased scrutiny. Legislation enacted Iimgior prohibiting the use of rented or
exchanged mailing lists could negatively affect business.

We are controlled by two principal stockholders.

Patricia Gallup and David Hall, our two principsédakholders, beneficially own or control, in thegaggate, approximately 64% of the
outstanding shares of our common stock. Becautieedfbeneficial stock ownership, these stockh@dan continue to elect the members of
the Board of Directors and decide all matters néggistockholder approval at a meeting or by atemittonsent in lieu of a meeting. Similarly,
such stockholders can control decisions to adopgnal, or repeal our charter and our bylaws, or tdRer actions requiring the vote or consent
of our stockholders and prevent a takeover of ugri®yor more third parties, or sell or otherwisssfer their stock to a third party, which cc
deprive our stockholders of a control premium thaght otherwise be realized by them in connectidthan acquisition of our Company. St
control may result in decisions that are not inlibst interest of our public stockholders. In cartioe with our initial public offering, the
principal stockholders placed substantially allrelsaof common stock beneficially owned by them mteoting trust, pursuant to which they
required to agree as to the manner of voting sbahes in order for the shares to be voted. Suchigioms could discourage bids for our
common stock at a premium as well as have a negatigact on the market price of our common stock.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

ltem 2. Properties

In November 1997, we entered into a fifteen yeaséefor our corporate headquarters and telemagkeginter located at 730 Milford
Road, Merrimack, New Hampshire 03054-4631, wittatitiated entity, G&H Post, which is related to tiisough common ownership. The
total lease is valued at approximately $7.0 millibased upon an independent property appraisahebtat the date of lease, and interest is
calculated at an annual
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rate of 11%. The lease, as amended, requirespey/tour proportionate share of real estate taxdcammon area maintenance charges as
either additional rent or directly to third-parti@sd also to pay insurance premiums for the lepsggerty. We have the option to renew the
lease for two additional terms of five years eddte lease has been recorded as a capital ledse financial statements.

In August 2008, our subsidiary Merrimack Servicesg@ration entered into a lease agreement with @&ist, which is related to us
through common ownership, for an office facilityjaaknt to our corporate headquarters. The leasa teas of ten years and provides
Merrimack Services Corporation an option to reneg/lease for two additional two-year terms, atttten comparable market rate. The lease
requires us to pay our proportionate share ofestgte taxes and common area maintenance charggseasadditional rent or directly to third-
parties and also to pay insurance premiums folethged property. The lease has been recorded@seaating lease in the financial statements.

We also lease 205,000 square feet in two facilitie&/ilmington, Ohio, which houses our distributiand order fulfillment operations.
The leases governing these two facilities expirténfourth quarter of 2011 and the first quarfe2@1 2, and contain provisions to renew for
additional terms. We also operate sales and supffarts in Keene and Portsmouth, New Hampshireglidaough, Massachusetts; Rockville,
Maryland; Dakota Dunes, South Dakota; and Bocamd&torida, and lease facilities at these locatidveasehold improvements associated
with these properties are amortized over the texintise leases or their useful lives, whicheverhisrger. We believe that existing or otherwise
available distribution facilities in Wilmington, @hwill be sufficient to support our anticipatedeas through the next twelve months and
beyond.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are subject to audits by states on sales andth@taxes, unclaimed property, employment matserd,other assessments. A
comprehensive multi-state unclaimed property aisdit progress, and total accruals for unclaimexperty aggregated $1.6 million at
December 31, 2010. While management believes timatvk and estimated liabilities have been adequatelyided for, it is too early to
determine the ultimate outcome of such audits. Aalatl liabilities could be asserted, and such ome could have a material negative impact
on our financial position, results of operationsd @ash flows.

We are subject to various legal proceedings arithsldncluding patent infringement claims, whictvlarisen during the ordinary cou
of business. In the opinion of management, theaa&cof such matters is not expected to have a rmbtédfect on our financial position, rest
of operations, and cash flows.
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Executive Officers of PC Connection
Our executive officers and their ages as of Marth?011 are as follows:

Name Age Position

Patricia Galluy 56 Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Timothy McGrath 52 President and Chief Operating Offic

Jack Ferguso 72 Executive Vice President, Treasurer and Chief FéradrOfficer
John Polizz 64 Senior Vice President and Chief Information Offi

Patricia Gallup is a co-founder of PC Connection and has serv&haf Executive Officer and Chairman of the Boarits September
2002. Ms. Gallup also served as President from Maa903 to May 2010 and as Chairman from June 20@ugust 2002. Ms. Gallup has
served as a member of our executive managementdieamits inception in 1982.

Timothy McGrath has served as President and Chief Operating OSioee May of 2010. Mr. McGrath served as Executiiee
President, PC Connection Enterprises from May 200May 2010, as Senior Vice President, PC Connediaterprises from December 2006
to May 2007, and as President of PC ConnectionsS2deporation, our largest sales subsidiary, framgust 2005 to December 2006. Prior to
joining our company, Mr. McGrath served from 2002005 in a variety of senior management positairiasight Enterprises, In

Jack Ferguson has served as Executive Vice President since M@y ,28s Chief Financial Officer since December 2@01| as Treasur
since November 1997. Mr. Ferguson served as S¥iierPresident from April 2006 to May 2007 and dsé/President from December 2005
to April 2006. Mr. Ferguson served as Interim Chigfancial Officer from October 2004 to Decembe®@2@nd as Director of Finance from
December 1992 to November 1997. Prior to joiningaampany, Mr. Ferguson was a partner with DeldtfBouche LLP, an international
accounting firm.

John Palizzi has served as Senior Vice President and Chiefrivdtion Officer since February 2010. Prior to jogniour company,
Mr. Polizzi served from October 2005 to January®84 Senior Vice President and Chief Informatiofic®f at BJ's Wholesale Club, Inc., a
warehouse club retailer. Mr. Polizzi served fron@2@0o October 2005 as Senior Vice President anta@iGhief Information Officer at
Blockbuster Inc., an electronic media provider, fnodh 2001 to 2003, he served at Blockbuster ais 8P, North America CIO.

ltem 4. (Removed and Reservec
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, anddsuer Purchases of Equity Securitie
Market Informatior

Our common stock commenced trading on March 3, 1888he Nasdag Global Select Market under the syfCCC.” As of March 3
2011, there were 26,909,774 shares of our comnuoak siutstanding, held by 101 stockholders of reeord 2,928 beneficial holders.

The following table sets forth for the fiscal petsindicated the range of high and low sales pficesur common stock on the Nasdaq
Global Select Market.

201C High Low
Quarter Endec
December 3: $9.8¢ $6.6¢
September 3 7.6¢ 5.7
June 3( 7.9 5.9C
March 31 7.4€ 5.8€
2009 High Low
Quarter Endec
December 3: $6.9¢€ $5.1C
September 3 6.34 5.13
June 3( 5.87 3.6t
March 31 5.5¢ 2.8C

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooapital stock. We anticipate that we will genra¢tain future earnings, if any, to
fund the development and growth of our businesd ve@have no current plans to pay cash dividendsuortommon stock in the foreseeable
future. Our secured credit agreement containsicéstrs that may require lender approval to payd#inds in the future.

Share Repurchase Authorization

On March 28, 2001, our Board of Directors authatitee spending of up to $15.0 million to repurchasecommon stock. Share
purchases will be made in the open market from torténe depending on market conditions. Our curbamk line of credit, however, limits
repurchases made after June 2005 to $10.0 millitmowt bank approval of higher amounts.

In 2010, we repurchased an aggregate of 422,9%8sfar $2.9 million. As of December 31, 2010, veel hepurchased an aggregate of
1,059,662 shares for $6.9 million. The maximum appnate dollar value of shares that may yet belpased under the program without
further bank approval is $5.3 million. We have ssumonvested shares from treasury stock and hfleetesl upon their vesting the net
remaining balance of treasury stock on the conatditibalance sheet. In addition, we withheld 318@8es, having an aggregate fair value of
$0.2 million, upon the vesting of stock awardsatsfy related employee tax obligations duringybear ended December 31, 2010. Such
transactions were recognized as a repurchase ahoorstock and returned to treasury but do not apgéinst authorized repurchase limits
under our bank line agreement or Board of Dire¢tughorization.
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The following table provides information about gurchases during the quarter ended December 30, 20&quity securities that we
registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange A

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Maximum
Approximate Dollar

Total Number of

Average Shares
Total Purchased as Value of Shares tha
Number of Price Part of Publicly
Paid Announced May Yet Be

Shares per Plans or Purchased Under
Period Purchasec Share Programs the Program ()
10/01/10- 10/31/10 — — — $  8,055,18.
11/01/10- 11/30/10 — — — $ 8,055,18.
12/01/10- 12/31/10 — — — $ 8,055,18.
Total — — — $ 8,055,18.

(1) On March 28, 2001, our Board of Directors armead approval of a share repurchase program admumon stock having an aggregate
value of up to $15.0 million. Share purchases aadarin open market transactions from time to timyeethding on market conditions. 1
Program does not have a fixed expiration d

Selected Financial Date

The following selected financial and operating dsdtauld be read in conjunction with our Consoliddtancial Statements and the
Notes thereto, an“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations” and otherrfagial information
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Iltem 6.

Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(dollars in thousands, except per share and selecteperating data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Date

Net sales $1,974,19 $ 1,569,65! $ 1,753,68! $ 1,785,37! $ 1,635,65.
Cost of sale: 1,744,29! 1,384,86! 1,538,83I 1,566,40! 1,435,40!
Gross profil 229,90( 184,79 214,84« 218,97( 200,25:
Selling, general and administrati

expense: 191,23¢ 172,65¢ 186,72¢ 181,64( 173,92°
Goodwill impairmeni@ — — 8,807 — —
Special charge(2) — 12,82¢ 1,431 541 2,391
Income (loss) from operatiol 38,66 (684) 17,87¢ 36,78¢ 23,93
Interest expens (490 (5179 (681) (932) (1,82¢)
Other, ne 213 524 811 764 121
Income (loss) before taxi 38,39( (677) 18,00¢ 36,62 22,22¢
Income tax provisiol (15,429 (54E) (7,647) (13,62¢) (8,450
Net income (loss $ 22,96 $ (1,227) $ 10,36¢ $ 22,99 $ 13,77¢
Basic earnings (loss) per shi $ 0.8t $ (0.05) $ 0.3¢ $ 0.8€ $ 0.5¢
Diluted earnings (loss) per she $ 0.8t $ (0.05) $ 0.3¢ $ 0.8t $ 0.5¢

Selected Operating Data

Catalogs distribute 9,086,00! 11,020,00 12,210,00 13,804,00 15,326,00
Orders entere® 1,358,00! 1,347,801 1,444,001 1,480,00! 1,528,001
Average order siz®) $ 1,752 $ 1,44: $ 1,401 $ 1,40¢ $ 1,241
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Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat¢

Working capital
Total asset
Shor-term debt:

Current maturities of capital lease obligatic

To affiliate
To third party
Long-term debt:

Capital lease obligation, less current maturit

To affiliate
Total stockholder equity

December 31

2010 2009 2008

2007 2006

(dollars in thousands)

$205,07. $183,67( $174,20°
420,94: 401,09 378,16

87C 78C 69¢

1,96( 2,83( 3,61C
257,63¢ 235,26¢ 235,32

$156,53: $126,96!
380,87¢ 346,68«

527 464
— 39¢

4,30¢ 4,83¢
224,31( 196,90«

(1) See Note 2, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Asseto our Consolidated Financial Statements idetlin Item 8 of Part 1l of this report

for further discussion of the n-cash goodwill impairment charg

(2) Special charges in 2009 consisted of a non-aasét write-off of $11.6 million and $1.2 millief workforce reduction and other
management restructuring charges. We recognizeasset write-off after we ceased further develogroéan internally developed
Customer Relationship Management (“CRM”") softwamdole. Our 2008 and 2007 special charges consiéi®t], 431 and $541,
respectively, related to management restructurasgse classified as workforce reductions and otiedescribed in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in 18of Part Il of this report. Our 2006 special clemgonsisted of $520 for the cost of
workforce reductions, $1,500 related to our setiehwith the Department of Justice on a 2003 Géis=rvices Administration audit
matter, and $371 related to the temporary retergiaertain Amherst employees and facilities subsegto the purchase of certain as

of Amherst Technologie:

(3) Does not reflect cancellations or retur
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ltem 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

Our management’s discussion and analysis of oanfifal condition and results of operations inclutle identification of certain trends
and other statements that may predict or anticigatare business or financial results that are sabjto important factors that could cause our
actual results to differ materially from those iodied. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

OVERVIEW

We are a leading direct marketer of a wide rangafofmation technology, or IT, solutions. We helpmpanies design, enable, manage,
and service their IT environments. We provide patgitincluding computer systems, software and perigd equipment, networking
communications, and other products and accesdbaésve purchase from manufacturers, distributamsl, other suppliers. We also offer an
extensive range of design, configuration, and immgletation of IT solutions. These services are peréal by our personnel and third-party
providers. We operate through four sales segmetnish primarily serve: (a) small- to medium-sizagsimesses, or SMBs, through our PC
Connection Sales subsidiary, (b) large enterptistotners, or Large Account, through our MoreDirmedisidiary, (c) federal, state, and local
government and educational institutions, or PuBictor, through our GovConnection subsidiary, ad@&@nsumers and small office/home
office customers, or Consumer/SOHO, through oud®@nection Express subsidiary.

We generate sales primarily through outbound tetketimg and field sales contacts by account marsafgeused on the business,
education, and government markets, our websitesirdoound calls from customers responding to otalogs and other advertising media.
seek to recruit, retain, and increase the prodiigtdf our sales personnel through training, meinrfinancial incentives based on
performance, and updating and streamlining ourimédion systems to make our operations more efficie

As a value added reseller in the IT supply chaiede not manufacture IT hardware or software. Wedapendent on our suppliers that
consist of manufacturers and distributors thabhisally have sold only to resellers rather tharclily to end users. Certain manufacturers |
on multiple occasions attempted to sell directlptio customers, and in some cases, have restocateability to sell their products directly to
certain customers, thereby eliminating our role. bgkeve that the success of direct sales effortsuppliers will depend on their ability to
meet our customers’ ongoing demands and providectibg, unbiased solutions to meet their needsb®leve more of our customers are
seeking total IT solutions, rather than simply sfi@tT products. Our advantage is our ability t® jproduct-neutral and provide a broader
combination of products, services, and advice taildo customer needs. By providing customers eutomized solutions from a variety of
manufacturers, we believe we can mitigate the megahpact of continued supplier direct sales atities. For example, through the formation
of our services group, ProConnection, we are abfgdvide customers complete IT solutions, fromntdging their needs, to designing,
developing, and managing the integration of praslacid services to implement their IT projects. Saentvice offerings carry higher margins
than traditional product sales. Additionally, tleelinical certifications of our service engineensypeus to offer higher-end, more complex
products that generally carry higher gross margivis.expect these service offerings and techniadfications to continue to play a role in
sales generation and improved gross margins ircthigetitive environment.

Market conditions and technology advances signifigaaffect the demand for our products and sesvitértual delivery of software
products and advanced Internet technology providirsilomers enhanced functionality have substapiiadreased customer expectations,
requiring us to invest more heavily in our own I@velopment to meet these new demands. As buyinggrehange and electronic commerce
continues to grow, customers have become more stiqated due to the amount and quality of infororativailable and the increased number
of readily available choices. Customers are alstebable to make price comparisons through therret, thereby necessitating more
aggressive pricing strategies to remain competifivee changing landscape of the consumer and Bssimarkets in which we operate could
have a negative effect on our
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financial condition, results of operations, andhcigws. While it is not possible for us to estimatith any degree of accuracy the level of sales
we may have lost or may lose in the future as altre$ such increased buyer sophistication, oursotidated internet sales have consistently
represented approximately 30% of total sales i edithe last three years.

We have undertaken significant actions with respecur websites in order to keep up with the impraents made by our
competitors. We have historically increased thel@¥ internet marketing expenditures on third-pddick fees” and affiliate charges,
particularly with respect to consumer marketinggider to increase visibility on third-party seastigines. We have also launched various
promotions, including selected free freight offénsefforts to generate higher internet sales aoteiase brand awareness. All of these activities
are costly, aggregating $5.8 million in 2010, aedréase our operating results accordingly. Thests @we expected to increase in future
periods as we continue to expand our internet Nitsiland functionality, and if we do not gener@tereased internet sales, our operating
margins may be further impacted.

The primary challenges we continue to face in eiffety managing our business are (1) increasingrevenues while at the same time
improving our gross margin in all four segment$,réruiting, retaining, and improving the produiti of our sales personnel, and
(3) effectively controlling our selling, generalcdaadministrative, or SG&A, expenses.

In 2009, we reduced headcount and implemented otigrsavings, which aggregated on an annual bagisgs of $14.0 million. These
cost containment efforts contributed to our yeagreyear increase in operating income in 2010. Hareo accelerate future growth, we are
expanding our IT solution business, which will requthe addition of highly-skilled service engingeflthough we are only in the preliminary
stages of this initiative and expect to realizelibrefit of higher-margin service revenues, we ekpar SG&A expenses will increase as we
add service engineers. If our service revenuesotignow enough to offset the cost of these headcaduditions, our operating results may
decline. In addition, we are currently in the midsa comprehensive review and assessment of d¢we éusiness software needs. That review
and assessment includes the review of commercia#ljlable software that meets, or can be configtmedeet, those needs better than our
existing software. While we have not yet finalizzd/ decisions regarding whether or to what extemt software will be acquired, we expec
increase investments in our IT infrastructure ia tiext three-to-five years which will likely incseaSG&A expenses.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth information deriviedm our consolidated statements of operationsesged as a percentage of net sale
the periods indicated.

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Net sales (in millions $1,974.. $1,569.° $1,753.
Net sales 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Gross profi 11.€ 11.¢ 12.5
Selling, general and administrative exper 9.7 11.C 10.7
Special charge — 0.8 0.1
Goodwill impairment — — 0.5
Income (loss) from operatiol 2.C — 1.C

Net sales increased in 2010 by $404.5 million, 8%, compared to the prior year. We attributeiticeease in revenues to the rebound
in corporate customer profits, strong federal goweent and higher educational spending, and thitlfiuéint of delayed IT replacement needs.
Gross margin (gross profit expressed as a perceifaget sales) decreased on a consolidated loekis@% in 2010 as lower product invoice
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margins offset higher agency revenues as a pegeofanet sales compared to the prior year. SG&@eages as a percentage of net sales in
2010 decreased due to improved expense managentelgvarage gained from the higher level of saggerating income in 2010 increased
by $39.4 million year over year due to the incrdaseet sales, operating expense management, arabfence of special charges in 2010.

Sales Distribution
The following table sets forth our percentage dfsades by business segment and product mix:

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Business Segment
SMB 42% 42% 46%
Large Accoun 31 27 27
Public Secto 23 25 21
Consumer/SOH( _ 4 _ 6 _ 6
Total _10C% _10C% _10C%
Product Mix
Notebook and PD/ 17% 15% 15%
Desktop/Serve 16 13 13
Software 14 14 13
Video, Imaging and Sour 12 14 15
Net/Com Produc 10 11 10
Printer and Printer Supplit 8 8 9
Storage Devici 7 8 9
Memory and System Enhanceme 4 4 4
Accessory/Othe 12 _ 13 12
Total _10C% _10C% _10C%

Gross Profit Margins
The following table summarizes our overall grossfipmargins, as a percentage of net sales, folatstehree years:

Years Ended December 31

2010 _2009 2008
Segment
SMB 13.€% 14.(% 14.2%
Large Accoun 10.: 10.: 11.C
Public Secto 10.C 10.C 9.6
Consumer/SOH( 7.7 10.1 12.1
Total 11.€% 11.€% 12.2%

Consolidated gross profit dollars for 2010 increbdee to higher net sales as compared to the ye#rperiods. Gross margin decreased
year over year in 2010 as lower product sellinggimar offset increased agency revenues as a pegeeotaet sales compared to 2009. Cot
promotions designed to increase customer visitsgmew Consumer/SOHO website contributed to #ggrent’s year-over-year decline in
gross margin.
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Cost of Sales and Certain Other Costs

Cost of sales includes the invoice cost of the peoddirect costs of packaging, inbound and outbldugight, and provisions for inventc
obsolescence, adjusted for discounts, rebatesythed vendor allowances. Direct operating expersasing to our purchasing function and
receiving, inspection, internal transfer, warehngspacking and shipping, and other expenses ofiigtiibution center are included in SG&A
expenses. Accordingly, our gross margin may natdmparable to those of other entities who inclutiergart of the costs related to their
distribution network in cost of goods sold. Sucktspas a percentage of net sales for the pergpdsted, are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008

0.62% 0.7t% 0.6%

Operating Expenses
The following table breaks out our more significaperating expenses for the last three years (iions):

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Personnel cos! $132.¢ $115.4 $124.(
Advertising 17.¢ 17.1 19.t
Facilities operation 8.7 8.¢ 9.t
Credit card fee 7.C 6.8 7.7
Depreciation and amortizatic 5.4 6.8 7.C
Professional fee 8.4 7.€ 8.1
Bad debt: 2.1 1.¢ 1.7
Other—net 8.S 8.2 9.2
Total $191.2 $172.5 $186.
Percentage of net sal 9.7% 11.(% 10.7%

Personnel costs increased in 2010 compared to @d®% incremental variable compensation associaiiddour increased operating
results. We also invested in key areas in the skbaif of 2010 to augment our sales support anahieal solution services areas, which
contributed to the year-over-year increase in dpega@xpenses. Advertising and credit card feed tervary with changing sales levels, and
accordingly, increased in 2010.
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YEAR-OVER-YEAR COMPARISONS
Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2009

Net salesncreased 25.8% to $1,974.2 million in 2010 from5$B.7 million in 2009 due to increases in our ¢ghpeimary business
segments. Changes in net sales and gross prdfiisipess segment are shown in the following tadidigrs in millions):

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009
% of % of %
Amount Net Sale: Amount Net Sale: Change
Sales:
SMB $ 833.¢ 42.2% $ 657.1 41.8% 26.8%
Large Accoun 603.2 30.€ 427.¢ 27.Z 41.C
Public Secto 462.¢ 23.2 389.: 24.¢ 18.¢€
Consumer/SOH( 74.7 3.8 95.4 6.1 (21.7)
Total $1,974.: 100.(% $1,569." 100.(% 25.8%
Gross Profit;
SMB $ 115.¢ 13.% $ 92. 14.(% 25.5%
Large Accoun 62.C 10.2 44.C 10.: 40.¢
Public Secto 46.4 10.C 38.¢ 10.C 19.2
Consumer/SOH( 5.7 7.7 9.7 10.1 (40.€)
Total $ 229.¢ 11.6% $ 184.¢ 11.&8% 24.4%

. Net sales for the SMB segment increased year carin 2010 due to the increase in IT demand astsativith the rebound
corporate customer profits and the fulfillment efayed IT replacement needs. Our SMB sales repieasess increased sales in
2010 by acquiring a greater share of existing eusts’ IT purchases, which we attribute to our iasesl focus on selling IT
solutions. Average annualized sales productivin(el net sales divided by a five-quarter averdgheosales representative
headcount) increased by 35% year over year in 20frpared to 2009, due to increased sales and ingats in sales training.
Sales representatives for our SMB segment tot&88da8 December 31, 2010, compared to 337 at Deae®ih@009

. Net sales for the Large Account segment increasad gver year in 2010 due to the continued relefpen-up IT demand and
increased investments made by large enterprisegelemterprises continued in 2010 to upgrade thedystems to improve
workforce productivity. New customer acquisitionsoacontributed to the year-over-year increaseeinsales. Average annualized
sales productivity in 2010 increased by 45% year gear, slightly better than the year-over-yearagase in sales. Sales
representatives for our Large Account segmentedt8lf at December 31, 2010, compared to 92 at Demedi, 2009

. Net sales for the Public Sector segment increas010 due to the growth in contract sales entmtedwith both the feder:
government and higher educational institutions fagidgyovernment sales in 2010 increased by 23%oxearyear, while sales to
state and local government and educational ingtitatincreased by 16% compared to the prior yeaer&l average annualized
sales productivity increased year over year by #5210, due to increased sales and investmestl@s training. Sales
representatives for our Public Sector segmentddtaB9 at December 31, 2010, compared to 140 arbleer 31, 200¢

. Net sales for the Consumer/SOHO segment decreasedyer year in 2010. Profitability and initiativdesigned to increase traf
on its site continue to be this segn’s primary focus into 2011, its first full year gierations
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Gross profitfor 2010 increased year over year in dollars botetesed as a percentage of net sales, as explaied:

. Gross profit for the SMB segment increased year gear in 2010 due to higher sales. Gross marginedsed in 2010 compared
the prior year as increased product invoice margitslower inventory costs were more than offsebler vendor funding as a
percentage of net sale

. Gross profit increased for the Large Account segrireB010 due to an increase in net sales. Grosgimaas largely unchanged
year over year as an increase in -margin agency revenues was offset by a decregs®duct selling margin:

. Gross profit for the Public Sector segment incrdagar over year in 2010 due to an increase isales. However, gross marg
was unchanged as an increase in vendor consideeia percentage of net sales was offset by Ipreeiuct selling margin:

. Gross profit and gross margin for the Consumer/SGeE@nent decreased year over year in 2010. Graggmuecreased due
increased promotional pricing initiatives, freetouser shipping, and other marketing programs desido attract customers to this
segmer’s new website

Selling, general and administrative expenige8010 increased in dollars but decreased as@pige of net sales compared to the prior
year. The decrease in expense as a percentagesafiee resulted from improved expense managemelrtha leverage gained with our y-
over-year increase in sales.

SG&A expenses attributable to our operating segmémtiuding Headquarters/Other group expensesatid to segments, and
remaining unallocated Headquarters/Other groupresgeare summarized below (dollars in millions):

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009
% of Net % of Net
%
Amount Sales Amount Sales Change
SMB $ 88.£ 10.€% $ 78.¢€ 12.(% 12.(%
Large Accoun 35.¢€ 5.9 28.t 6.7 25.4
Public Secto 42.2 9.1 38.2 9.8 10.5
Consumer/SOH( 12.7 17.C 15.1 15.¢ (15.9)
Headquarters/Other, unallocat 12.3 12.C 2.2
Total $191.2 9.7% $172.5 11.(% 10.8%

. SG&A expenses for the SMB segment increased yearymar in dollars in 2010 but decreased as a p&ge of net sales.
Personnel expense increased year over year doer@mental variable compensation associated withdmigross profits and the
addition of sales representatives in the secorftbfi@010. Increased usage of centralized headepsaservices and higher credit
card fees associated with the sales increase amgdlted to the year-over-year dollar increasg&8 expenses as a percentage of
net sales decreased due to the leverage gaindxt liydrease in net sale

. SG&A expenses for the Large Account segment inegkgear over year in dollars in 2010 but decreaseal percentage of r
sales. Personnel expense increased due to incramariible compensation associated with the imgamoent in gross profits and
the addition of sales support personnel. Increasade of centralized headquarters services aldalmated to the year-over-year
dollar increase. SG&A expenses as a percentagetafates decreased due to the leverage gainee ligctease in net sales and
containment initiatives

. SG&A expenses for the Public Sector segment inexkgsar over year in dollars in 2010 but decreasea percentage of net sales.
SG&A expenses increased in dollars due to increat@ariable compensation and higher levels of msifinal fees and usage of
centralized headquarters servic
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SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales dedr@asdo the leverage gained by the increase isales and cost containme
initiatives.
. SG&A expenses for the Consumer/SOHO group decrdasallars but increased in 2010 as a percentgetcssales due to a

reduction in catalog circulation compared to thiemyear. Lower usage of centralized headquartemgces resulting from lower
sales also contributed to the y-ovel-year dollar decreas

. Unallocated SG&A expenses for the HeadquartersiQftwaip increased slightly year over year as higieesonnel expense w
largely offset by increased usage of support sesviry the operating segments compared to theyrar Personnel expense
increased year over year in 2010 due to incremeaté#ble compensation associated with improvedaipgy results. The
Headquarters/Other group provides services todtedperating segments in areas such as finanoguesources, IT, product
management, and marketing. Most of the operatistsassociated with such corporate headquartersasgiare charged to the
operating segments based on their estimated u$alge onderlying services. The amounts shown albegeesent the remaining
unallocated cost:

Special chargedlVe did not record any special charges in 2010. i@pelcarges totaled $12.8 million in 2009 and cstesi of a non-cash
asset write-off of $11.6 million and $1.2 milliofiworkforce reduction and management restructucimgrges. The asset write-off represented
the capitalized costs of an internally developedORodule, and as a result, the charge had no ingraour cash flows.

Income from operationsicreased by $39.4 million to $38.7 million for thear ended December 31, 2010, compared to antopelass
of $0.7 million for the 2009. Income from operaticess a percentage of net sales was 2.0% for 206&fhared to a slight loss from operations
as a percentage of net sales in 2009. Our operiatioge in 2010 resulted from an increase in salést year cost reductions, and the absence
of special charges compared to the prior year hitlwvspecial charges totaled $12.8 million.

As discussed above, we incurred in 2009 an $1lll®mcharge related to the write-off of an intelipaleveloped Customer Relationship
Management, or CRM, software module. We do not eiqmedevelop internally in the foreseeable futang software project similar in size to
the CRM software module, and as a result, belieigeunlikely that we would recognize a significastset impairment in future financial
statements. We believe that the presentation obperating results excluding the asset impairmenseful to investors because it allows for
greater transparency, facilitates comparisonsitr periods, and assists in forecasting our fupedormance, and because investors typically
exclude items we believe to be outside of normakating results. Such pro forma presentation waolthe in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, or GAAP; howeveruse non-GAAP measures to evaluate financial pegoce against planned amounts, to
calculate incentive compensation, and to assifsracasting future performance. The table beloveg@nés our 2010 and 2009 operating results
excluding the asset impairment and reconcilingptteeforma results for 2009 to our financial statatsgdollars in millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009
GAAP operating income (los $ 38.7 $ (0.7)
Asset impairment (p-tax) — 11.€
Non-GAAP operating incom $ 38.7 $ 10.€

Our effective tax rate was 40.2% for the year erldedember 31, 2010, compared to the effectivedasxaf 80.5% for the year ended
December 31, 2009. In 2009, we reported an inc@ax@itovision despite a pre-tax loss. Our tax nate009 was affected by unrealized state
tax loss benefits, which decrease the benefitindiess periods and increase the tax rate in @iolfét periods. Our tax rate will continue to vary
based on variations in state tax levels for cerainsidiaries, valuation reserves, and accountingricertain tax positions.
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Net incomencreased by $24.2 million to $23.0 million in 20t@mpared to a net loss of $1.2 million in 2008 gpally due to the
increase in operating income.

Year Ended December 31, 2009 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2008

Net saleslecreased 10.5% to $1,569.7 million in 2009 fron¥$3.7 million in 2008 due to decreases in the SB Large Account
segments. Changes in net sales and gross prdiisigess segment are shown in the following tadddgrs in millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2009 2008
% of % of %
Amount Net Sale: Amount Net Sale: Change
Sales:
SMB $ 657.1 41.8% $ 812.( 46.2% (19.1)%
Large Accoun 427.¢ 27.5 475.3 27.1 (20.0
Public Secto 389.: 24.¢ 359.: 20.k 8.3
Consumer/SOH( 95.4 6.1 107.1 6.1 (20.9)
Total $1,569." 100.(% $1,753." 100.(% (10.9%
Gross Profit;
SMB $ 92. 14.(% $ 115.C 14.2% (19.9%
Large Accoun 44.C 10.3 52.t 11.C (16.2)
Public Secto 38.¢ 10.C 34.: 9.6 13.4
Consumer/SOH( 9.7 10.1 13.C 12.1 (25.9)
Total $ 184.¢ 11.8% $ 214. 12.2% (14.0%

. Net sales for the SMB segment decreased year @agriy 2009 across most product sectors, reflestidgspread softness in
demand experienced in the first three quarter9092Average annualized sales productivity decitageonly 5% year over year
2009 as lower sales volume were largely offsetdujuced numbers of sales representatives in 2008 Bgpresentatives for our
SMB segment totaled 337 at December 31, 2009, caedga 431 at December 31, 2008. We reduced heatloo@009 to better
align expenses with lower sales volunr

. Net sales for the Large Account segment decreasadover year in 2009 as large enterprises rediheddI T spending in reactic
to the global economic volatility. Average annuatizsales productivity decreased year over yeabyn52009 consistent with the
yea-over-year decline in revenues. Sales represeatafor our Large Account segment totaled 92 at Brbes 31, 2009, compared
to 94 at December 31, 20(

. Net sales for the Public Sector segment increasadgver year in 2009 primarily due to increasdessaade under existing fede
government contracts. Average annualized salesuptivity in 2009 decreased by 6% year over yeaydprdue to the hiring of
sales representatives in late 2008 at a new séde$ales representatives for our Public Sectgmsat totaled 140 at December 31,
2009, compared to 165 at December 31, 2

. Net sales for the Consumer/SOHO segment decreasedyer year in 2009 due to the economic dowrthihbegan late in 20(
and led to lower consumer and SOHO spending omgliipenent.
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Gross profitdecreased in dollars and as a percentage of restisa?009 compared to 2008 as shown by the fatigwi

. Gross profit for the SMB segment decreased year ye@& in 2009 due to declines in both net salelsgaoss margin. We attribu
the year-over-year decrease in gross margin to etitiye pricing pressures, offset partially by ditiial vendor consideration as a
percentage of net sales in 2009 compared to toe year.

. Gross profit for the Large Account segment decrégsar over year in both dollars and as a percentéget sales. The decline in
gross margin was attributable to lower product freigiht margins, which were both impacted adversglgompetitive pricing
pressures

. Gross profit for the Public Sector segment incrdase2009 in dollars and as a percentage of nessaimpared to 2008. V
attribute the increase in gross margin to lowepinig costs that more than offset decreased inymicguct margins in 2009
compared to 200¢

. Gross profit and gross margin for the Consumer/SGQGE@nent decreased year over year in 2009. Graggmuecreased due
increased competitive pricing pressures, which veatg partly offset by additional vendor considératas a percentage of net
sales

Selling, general and administrative expendesreased in dollars overall but increased as@eptage of net sales in 2009 compared to
2008.

SG&A expenses attributable to our operating segsmémtluding Headquarters/Other group expensesaibo to segments, and
remaining unallocated Headquarters/Other groupresgeare summarized below (dollars in millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2009 2008
% of Net % of Net
%

Amount Sales Amount Sales Change
SMB $ 78.C 12.(% $ 93.4 11.5% (15.5%
Large Accoun 28.t 6.7 30.2 6.4 (5.9
Public Secto 38.2 9.8 35.C 9.7 9.1
Consumer/SOH( 15.1 15.¢ 16.¢ 15.7 (10.7
Headquarters/Other, unallocat 12.C 11.2 7.1
Total $172.5 11.(% $186.% 10.€% (7.5%

. SG&A expenses for the SMB segment in 2009 increasea percentage of net sales but decreased yerayear in dollars due !
reductions in personnel expense and advertisingresgand lower credit card fees compared to 2008 décline in personnel
expense was attributable to headcount reductiotidoaver variable compensation associated with logvess profits in 2009
compared to 2008. Credit card fees vary directihhe level of sales and therefore declined adoghg with sales in 2009.
Advertising expense declined due to reduced catatoglation in 2009 compared to 2008. SG&A exparaso declined due to
decreased usage of corporate headquarters funagiimes the lower sales levels in 2009. SG&A expsrss a percentage of net
sales increased due to the decrease in net

. SG&A expenses for the Large Account segment in 29eased in dollars but increased as a perceotamg sales compared
the prior year period. We attribute the dollar @ase in SG&A expenses to reduced headcount and i@siable compensation
associated with the decrease in gross profits @9 2@mpared to the prior yei

. SG&A expenses for the Public Sector segment ineeasdollars and as a percentage of net sale@0fi 2ompared to the prior
year period. The ye-ovel-year dollar increase was attributable
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additional usage of centralized headquarter funstmmpared to the prior year, as well as headamded at a new sales facility
the fourth quarter of 200:

. SG&A expenses for the Consumer/SOHO group decregsadover year in dollars due to cost savings émgnted in early 2009
and a reduction in catalog circulation compareth&oprior year. SG&A as a percentage of net salggased slightly in 2009
compared to the prior yee

. Unallocated SG&A expenses for the HeadquartersiQftwaip increased in dollars year over year duggber executive oversig
and other fiduciary costs in 2009 compared to tier year.

Special chargesonsisted of a non-cash asset write-off of $11I6aniand $1.2 million of workforce reduction ancamagement
restructuring charges. The asset write-off repriegktine capitalized costs of an internally devetb@&M module, and accordingly, the charge
had no impact on our cash flows. We recorded $1llilbmof special charges in 2008 related to workfreduction and management
restructuring charges.

Goodwill impairmentharges totaling $8.8 million, $5.4 million nettakes, were recorded in the year ended Decemb&088, We did
not record any goodwill impairment charges in 2088 discussed in Note 2, “Goodwill and Other IntéhgAssets” to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Item 8 of Padflthis report, the 2008 non-cash impairment chargpresented the entire goodwill balances
carried by our SMB and Public Sector segments.

Loss from operationor the year ended December 31, 2009 was $0.7omjlitompared to operating income of $17.9 millionthe year
ended December 31, 2008. Loss from operationgascantage of net sales was essentially zero i@ 20fhpared to income from operations
of 1.0% as a percentage of net sales in 2008. Penating loss in 2009 was largely attributableht® $ignificant decline in sales and the special
charges incurred in that period.

As discussed above, we incurred in 2009 an $11ll®mcharge related to the write-off of an intelipaleveloped CRM module, and in
2008 we incurred an $8.8 million goodwill impairmeharge, which represented the entire goodwithbeds held by two operating segments.
We do not expect in the foreseeable future to dgvidternally any software project similar in sibethe CRM software module, and as a re
believe it is unlikely that we would recognize grsficant asset impairment in future financial etaents. In Item 1A “Risk Factors” of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, we discuss the impéet goodwill impairment on our operating resultse Wb not expect in the foreseeable
future to incur a goodwill impairment charge. Wéidnge that the presentation of our operating raseiicluding the asset and goodwill
impairments is useful to investors because it a&lfov greater transparency, facilitates comparisonsior periods, and assists in forecasting
our future performance, and because investorsdilpiexclude items we believe to be outside of raraperating results. Such pro forma
presentation would not be in accordance with GAB®Ryever, we use non-GAAP measures to evaluatediabperformance against planned
amounts, to calculate incentive compensation, arassist in forecasting future performance. Théetbblow presents our 2009 and 2008
operating results excluding the two impairments mawbnciling the pro forma results to our finanattements (dollars in millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2009 2008
GAAP operating (loss) incorr $ (0.9 $ 17.¢
Impairment charges (g-tax): — —
Asset impairmen 11.€ —
Goodwill impairment — 8.8
Non-GAAP operating incom $ 10.¢ $ 26.7
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Our effective tax rate for 2009, which reflectetha provision despite a ptex loss, was 80.5% compared to 42.4% for 2008.t®urate
in 2009 was unfavorably affected by separate comptate income taxes and non-deductible expensesf@ctive tax rate in 2008 reflects
increased state tax expense associated with filiaglditional states in 2008 as a result of ouir®ss expansion, as well as a reduction in state
credit carryforwards in that year.

Net lossn 2009 was $1.2 million compared to net incom&Xd.4 million in 2008, primarily due to the lowelss volumes and higher
impairment charges experienced in 2009.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Liquidity Overview

Our primary sources of liquidity have historicallgen internally generated funds from operationstamtbwings under our bank line of
credit. We have used those funds to meet our dapdairements, which consist primarily of workiogpital for operational needs, capital
expenditures for computer equipment and softwaee us our business, repurchases of common stodkefasury, and as opportunities arise,
possible acquisitions of new businesses.

We believe that funds generated from operatiorggtter with available credit under our bank linefdit and inventory trade credit
agreements, will be sufficient to finance our warkcapital, capital expenditure, and other requéets for at least the next twelve calendar
months. We expect our capital needs for 2011 tsisbprimarily of capital expenditures, excludimyaxpenditures on new IT systems, of
$6.0 to $8.0 million and payments on capital anatiaztual obligations of approximately $4.4 milliave are currently in the midst of a
comprehensive review and assessment of our entgiedss software needs. That review and assesgmkrmtes the review of commercially
available software that meets, or can be configtoedeet, those needs better than our existingvaodt While we have not finalized our
decisions regarding whether or to what extent nefiwsire will be acquired and implemented beyondtwiahave acquired to date, which
consists of Customer Master Data Management syatentost of $3.0 million, the capital costs oftsagroject, if fully implemented, would
likely exceed $20.0 million over the next threefiie years.

We expect to meet our cash requirements for 20Ligih a combination of cash on hand, cash genefiaedoperations and, if
necessary, borrowings on our bank line of credifoflows:

. Cash on Han«. At December 31, 2010, we had approximately $8&ldon in unrestricted account

. Cash Generated from Operatio. We expect to generate cash flows from operaiivescess of operating cash needs by genel
earnings and balancing net changes in inventoridseceivables with compensating changes in pagdblgenerate a positive cash
flow. Although our operating activities represengedse of cash in 2010, historically, we have iasily generated positive cash
flows from operations

. Credit Facilities. As of December 31, 2010, no borrowings were aatding against our $50.0 million bank line of ctemdhich is
available through October 2012. This line of credit be increased, at our option, to $80.0 milfmrapproved acquisitions or otl
uses authorized by the bank. Borrowings are, howdiwgdted by certain minimum collateral and eagsirequirements, as
described more fully belov

Our ability to continue funding our planned growloth internally and externally, is dependent uponability to generate sufficient ce
flow from operations or to obtain additional furttisough equity or debt financing, or from other mms of financing, as may be required.
While we do not anticipate needing any additiomairses of financing to fund our operations at timee, our cash flows from operations may
be substantially affected if demand for IT prodwigslines. See also related risks listed aboverdtigen 1A. Risk Factors.”
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Summary Sources and Uses of Cash
The following table summarizes our sources and akeash over the last three years (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Net cash (used for) provided by operating actis $ (0. $57 $45.2
Net cash used for investing activiti (7.2 (5.6) (10.9)
Net cash used for financing activiti (2.9 (0.8 (1.6)
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equive $(10.9 $0.7 $33.

Cash used for operating activitiasas $0.8 million in 2010 compared to $5.7 millidroperating cash generated in the prior year.
Although we generated $33.8 million of operatingtt&rom net income and non-cash activities in 2@L@,increased sales led to higher levels
of both accounts receivable and inventory. We galyeattempt to offset such increases by increasliedevel of accounts payable, however,
we elected in the fourth quarter of 2010 to maxardash payment discounts offered by certain venedrieh contributed to a year-over-year
decline in accounts payable and an overall usast ¢or operating activities. Accounts receivahlgréased by $19.9 million in 2010 from the
prior year-end level due to the higher level oEsalur collection efforts, however, improved irl@@s days sales outstanding decreased to 4+
days at December 31, 2010, from 47 days at DeceBihe2009. Inventory increased year over year b9 $6llion in 2010, which we attribute
to expected demand in 2011. Inventory days, whiehsure the average number of days goods remaineéntory before being sold, improved
to 14 days at December 31, 2010, compared to 15 alahe prior year end. Cash provided by operatatiyities decreased by $39.5 million in
2009 compared to 2008. Operating cash flow in 2@88lted primarily from net income before non-casket impairment and depreciation, as
well as an increase in accounts payable, offsétdrngases in accounts receivable and inventoryh @aw provided by operations for the year
ended December 31, 2008, resulted primarily frotimmme before non-cash goodwill impairment anprdeiation, as well as decreases in
accounts receivables and inventory, offset by are@se in accounts payable.

At December 31, 2010, we had $114.6 million in tartding accounts payable. Such accounts are ggnpaa within 30 days of
incurrence, or earlier when favorable cash discoarg offered. This balance will be financed byhdémwns from operations or short-term
borrowings under the line of credit. This amourdudes $14.6 million payable to two financial imstions under inventory trade credit
agreements we use to finance our purchase of cémtzentory, secured by the inventory so finand&d.believe we will be able to meet our
obligations under our accounts payable with casldlfrom operations and our existing line of credit

Cash used for investing activitiexcreased by $1.6 million in 2010 compared to 200%se activities consist of capital expenditures i
the three years presented, primarily for computigigament and capitalized internally-developed safey offset by proceeds from the sale of
disposed capital assets. As previously reportecexpect capital expenditures to increase duringnéhe five years.

Cash used for financing activitigscreased year over year by $2.1 million in 2016 grmarily to increased purchases of treasuryeshar
We repurchased 422,973 shares at a total cost®filion in 2010 (an average price of $6.76 geare). In addition, we withheld 31,809
shares, having an aggregate fair value of $0.2anjlupon the vesting of stock awards to satiskgtesl employee tax obligations during the
year ended December 31, 2010. These repurchasepliaeed in treasury and are available for futgpgitg grants or retirement. Cash usec
financing activities in 2009 and 2008 related priilgeto the purchase of treasury stock and the yepnt of capital lease obligations. In 2009,
we repurchased 78,278 shares at a total cost 4ffillion and withheld 14,549 shares, having anreggte fair value of $0.1 million, to satisfy
related employee tax obligations. In 2008, we repased 195,994 shares at a total cost of $1.4omidihd withheld 14,852 shares, having an
aggregate fair value of $0.1 million, to satisflated employee tax obligations.
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Debt I nstruments, Contractual Agreements, and Related Covenants

Below is a summary of certain provisions of ourditréacilities and other contractual obligationsrfnore information about the
restrictive covenants in our debt instruments avemtory financing agreements, see “Factors Affgc8ources of Liquidity” below. For more
information about our obligations, commitments, andtingencies, see our consolidated financiaéstahts and the accompanying notes
included in this annual report.

Bank Line of Credit Our bank line of credit provides us with a boriogvcapacity of up to $50.0 million at the priméeré3.25% at
December 31, 2010). In addition, we have the optioncrease the facility by an additional $30.0lion, based on sufficient levels of trade
receivables to meet borrowing base requirementsdapending on meeting minimum EBITDA (earningobefinterest, taxes, depreciation,
and amortization) and equity requirements, desdriiEow under “Factors Affecting Sources of Liqtydi The facility also gives us the opti
of obtaining Eurodollar Rate Loans in multiplestdf0 million for various short-term durations. Stdngially all of our assets are collateralized
as security for this facility, and all of our sutlisiries are guarantors under the line of crediDAtember 31, 2010, the entire $50 million
facility was available for borrowing.

This facility, which matures in October 2012, ogesaunder an automatic cash management progranelhdisbursements in excess of
available cash are added as borrowings at thedisiirsement checks clear the bank, and avail@sle iceipts are first applied against any
outstanding borrowings and then invested in starttqualified cash investments. Accordingly, borirayg, if any, under the line are classified
as current.

Inventory Trade Credit Agreement®/e have additional security agreements with tiwarfcial institutions to facilitate the purchase of
inventory from various suppliers under certain teand conditions. These agreements allow a cddliéed first position in certain branded
products inventory financed by these financialitnibns. Although the agreements provide for ua@®% financing on the purchase price, up
to an aggregate of $45.0 million, any outstandingrfcing must be fully secured by available inventdVe do not pay any interest or discount
fees on such inventory financing; such costs araéby the suppliers as an incentive for us to lpase their products. Amounts outstanding
under such facilities, equal to $14.6 million aefcember 31, 2010, are recorded in accounts payaid the inventory financed is classified
as inventory on the consolidated balance sheet.

Contractual Obligations.The following table sets forth information withspgect to our long-term obligations payable in caslof
December 31, 2010 (in thousands):

Payments Due By Period

Less Thar More Than
1-3 3-5
Total 1Year Years Years 5 Years
Contractual Obligations:

Capital lease obligatior® $3,32: $ 1,13¢ $2,18¢ $— $ —
Operating lease obligatioi? 4,58t 2,352 1,201 45C 582

Sports marketing commitmer 1,852 93¢ 804 114 —
Total $9,761 $ 4,42¢ $4,18¢ $564 $ 582

(1) Including interest, excluding taxes, insurance, emimon area maintenance charg
(2) Excluding taxes, insurance, and common area mantencharge:

Due to the uncertainty with respect to the timifigudure cash flows associated with our unrecoghize benefits at December 31, 2010,
we are unable to make reasonably reliable estinudtd®e period of cash settlement with the respedtixing authority. Therefore, $3.1 million
of unrecognized tax benefits, including interest prnalties, have been excluded from the contrbohlgations table above. See Note 11 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for a disongm income taxes.
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Capital LeasesWe have a fifteen-year lease for our corporatelgearters with an affiliated company related thtoagmmon
ownership. In addition to the rent payable underftzility lease, we are required to pay real ediates, insurance, and common area
maintenance charges.

Operating LeasesWe also lease facilities from our principal stookiers and facilities and equipment from third jg&runder non-
cancelable operating leases. See “Contractual &timigs” above for lease commitments under thesekea

Sports Marketing Commitment$Ve have entered into multi-year sponsorship agests with the New England Patriots and the Boston
Red Sox that extend to 2013 and 2014, respectiVélyse agreements, which grant us various markeghts and seating arrangements,
require annual payments aggregating from $0.1onilto $0.9 million per year.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangemenifge do not have any other off-balance sheet arraagtsthat have or are reasonably likely to have, a
current or future material effect on our finanaahdition, changes in financial condition, resolt®perations, liquidity, capital expenditures
capital resources.

Factors Affecting Sources of Liquidity

Internally Generated FundsThe key factors affecting our internally generdtauts are our ability to minimize costs and fudlghieve
our operating efficiencies, timely collection ofratustomer receivables, and management of our tovetevels.

Bank Line of Credit.Our credit facility contains certain financialicet and operational covenants and other restrigtfmciuding
restrictions on additional debt, guarantees, stepkirchases, dividends and other distributiongstments, and liens) with which we and all of
our subsidiaries must comply. Any failure to compfigh these covenants would not only prevent usflmrrowing additional funds under this
line of credit, but would also constitute a defatihis credit facility contains two financial tests

. The funded debt ratio (defined as the averageandsig advances under the line for the quartergded/by the consolidated
EBITDA for the trailing four quarters) must not bere than 2.0 to 1.0. We did not have any outstandorrowings under the
credit facility as of December 31, 2010, and acitwly the funded debt ratio did not limit potentiarrowings. Decreases in our
consolidated EBITDA, however, could limit our poti@hborrowings under the credit facilit

. Minimum Consolidated Net Worth must be at least@@5nillion, plus 50% of consolidated net incomedach quarter, beginning
with the quarter ended March 31, 2007. Such amwastcalculated at December 31, 2010, as $184.milvhereas our actual
consolidated stockholde equity at this date was $257.6 millic

The borrowing base under this facility is set &¥86f qualified commercial receivables, plus 50%oélified government receivables.
of December 31, 2010, the entire $50.0 millionlfgcivas available for borrowing.

Inventory Trade Credit Agreement$Shese agreements contain similar financial ratiud operational covenants and restrictions as those
contained in our bank line of credit described ab@®uch agreements also contain cross-defaultgiomd whereby a default under the bank
agreement would also constitute a default undesetlagreements. Financing under these agreemédimstésl to the purchase of specific
branded products from authorized suppliers, anduarscoutstanding must be fully collateralized byeintories of those products on hand.

Capital Markets. Our ability to raise additional funds in the capiharket depends upon, among other things, geaeocalomic
conditions, the condition of the information tectogy industry, our financial performance and stpcke, and the state of the capital markets.
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APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND EST IMATES

A “critical accounting policy” has been definedae that is both important to the portrayal of tbgistrant’s financial condition and
results and requires management’s most difficulbjective or complex judgments, often as a reduti® need to make estimates about the
effect of matters that are inherently uncertairrter, “critical accounting policies” are thosetthae reflective of significant judgments and
uncertainties, and potentially result in materiaifferent results under different assumptions emiditions.

We believe that our accounting policies describeldw fit the definition of “critical accounting picies.”

Revenue Recognition

Revenue on product sales is recognized at the poiimthe when persuasive evidence of an arrangemaésits, the price is fixed or
determinable, delivery has occurred, and thereéasonable assurance of collection of the satesepds. We generally obtain oral or written
purchase authorizations from our customers foregifipd amount of product at a specified price. &ese we either (i) have a general practice
of covering customer losses while products arednsit despite title transferring at the point loffpgnent or (ii) have FOB—destination shipping
terms specifically set out in our arrangements Watteral agencies and certain commercial custordeliwery is deemed to have occurred at
the point in time when the product is received oy ¢ustomer.

We provide our customers with a limited thirty-déyht of return generally limited to defective meandise. Revenue is recognized at
delivery and a reserve for sales returns is recbrdée have demonstrated the ability to make reddersnd reliable estimates of product
returns based on significant historical experiesug record our sales reserves as a reduction efives and either as offsets to accounts
receivable or, for customers who have already aidiredits to accrued expenses. At December 30, 2@ recorded sales reserves of $3.2
million and $0.4 million as components of accoueteivable and accrued expenses, respectively edeDber 31, 2009, we recorded sales
reserves of $1.9 million and $0.3 million as comgmts of accounts receivable and accrued experesg®atively.

All amounts billed to a customer in a sale transactelated to shipping and handling, if any, reerd revenues earned for the goods
provided, and these amounts have been classifigieasales.” Costs related to such shipping amdilieg billings are classified as “cost of
sales.” Sales are reported net of sales, useher ttansaction taxes that are collected from cnste and remitted to taxing authorities.

We use our own engineering personnel in projeatsiing the design and installation of systems aetivorks, and we also engage third-
party service providers to perform warranty maiatese, implementations, asset disposals, and otinéices. We evaluate such engagemer
determine whether we or the third-party assumegémeral risk and reward of ownership in thesestations. For those transactions in which
we do not assume the risk and reward but instelaasagn agent, we recognize the transaction revemaenet basis. Under net sales
recognition, we recognize the cost of the thirdypas a reduction to the selling price, and acewigi, report as revenue only our gross profit
earned on the transaction. In those engagemenisiah we are the principal and primary obligor, sigport the sale on a gross basis, and the
cost of the service provider is recognized in efgjoods sold.

Similarly, we recognize revenue from agency sakassactions on a net sales basis. In agency satesattions, we facilitate product s:i
by equipment and software manufacturers directlyuilocustomers and receive agency, or referrad, fimesuch transactions. We do not take
title to the products or assume any maintenancetorn obligations in these transactions; titlpassed directly from the supplier to our
customer.

Net amounts included in revenue for such thirdypaervices and agency sales transactions were $iilién, $12.3 million, and $13.3
million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2668 2008, respectively.

Although service revenues represent a small peagendf our consolidated revenues, we offer an sitemange of services, including
design, installation, configuration, and other g9 performed by our personnel
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and third-party providers. If a service is perfothie conjunction with the delivery of hardware, teadre, or another service, then we determine
whether an item included in such multiple-elemerdarsgements constitutes a separate deliverable.

In these arrangements, an element is separatedadiv@rable only when the following three conditsoare met:
. The delivered item(s) has value to the customex standalone basi
. There is objective and reliable evidence of thevalue of the undelivered item; a

. If the arrangement includes a general right ofrretelative to the delivered item, delivery or merhance of the undelivered item(s)
is considered probable and substantially undecontrol.

Accounts Receivable

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our custmsrand adjust credit limits based upon paymemtodyisnd customers’ current
creditworthiness. Our allowance is generally coreguiy (1) applying specific percentage reserveaocmounts that are past due, and
(2) specifically reserving for customers known #ib financial difficulty. Therefore, if the finarat condition of certain of our customers were
to deteriorate, or if we noted there was a lengtigeof the timing of the settlement of receivabiiest was symptomatic of a general
deterioration in the ability of our customers ty pae would have to increase our allowance for dimhlaccounts. This would negatively
impact our earnings. Our cash flows would be impai¢d the extent that receivables could not besctdb.

In addition to accounts receivable from customeesyecord receivables from our vendors/supplierefmperative advertising, price
protection, supplier reimbursements, rebates, dmer @imilar arrangements. A portion of such reabigs is estimated based on information
available from our vendors at discrete pointsrimeti While such estimates have historically apprexéd actual cash received, a change in
estimates could give rise to a reduction in theireable. This could negatively impact our earniagd our cash flows.

Considerable judgment is used in assessing thwatki realization of customer receivables and véadpplier receivables, including
reviewing the financial stability of a customernder information, and gauging current market caads. If our evaluations are incorrect, we
may incur additional charges in the future on aanraolidated statements of operations.

Vendor Allowances

We receive allowances from merchandise vendorprioe protections, discounts, product rebates,ather programs. These allowances
are treated as a reduction of the vendor’s priodsaae recorded as adjustments to cost of saliesemntory, as applicable. Allowances for
product rebates that require certain volumes ofipecbsales or purchases are recorded as the retéiestones are probable of being met. We
also receive vendor co-op advertising funding for catalogs and other programs. Vendors have titieydab place advertisements in the
catalogs or fund other advertising activities fdrieh we receive advertising allowances. These veallimvances, to the extent that they
represent specific reimbursements of the underliingemental and identifiable costs, are offseirmgjs5G&A expense on the consolidated
statements of operations. Advertising allowancas ¢annot be associated with a specific progrardddrby an individual vendor or that
exceed the fair value of advertising expense aasatiwith that program are classified as offsetsoi of sales or inventory. Our vendor
partners generally consolidate their funding ofeatlsing and other marketing programs, and asdtrege classify substantially all vendor
allowances as a reduction of cost of inventory pases rather than a reduction of advertising expens
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Inventories

Inventories (all finished goods) consisting of eafte packages, computer systems, and periphergdregot are stated at cost
(determined under a weighted-average cost methachvapproximates the first-in, first-out method)market, whichever is lower. Inventory
guantities on hand are reviewed regularly, andipions are made for obsolete, slow moving, and sedable inventory, based primarily on
management’s forecast of customer demand for thashucts in inventory. The IT industry is charaizted by rapid technological change and
new product development that could result in inseglobsolescence of inventory on hand. Increassaledrence or decreased customer
demand beyond management’s expectations couldresgddlitional provisions, which could negativelyp@act our earnings. Our obsolescence
charges have historically ranged between $5.0onilind $6.5 million per annum. Historically, théeese been no unusual charges precipitated
by specific technological or forecast issues.

Value of Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets, Includingntangibles

We carry a variety of long-lived assets on our otidated balance sheet. These are all currentisiflad as held for use. These include
property and equipment, identifiable intangibles] goodwill. An impairment review is undertaken(@h an annual basis for assets such as
goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assetsgdd®) on an event-driven basis for all long-livesdets (including indefinite lived intangible
assets and goodwill) when facts and circumstaneggest that cash flows emanating from such assaydoe diminished. We have historically
reviewed the carrying value of all these assetedasartly on our projections of anticipated cashvi-projections which are, in part, depend
upon anticipated market conditions, operationalquerance, and legal status. Any impairment changeis recorded negatively impacts our
earnings. Cash flows are generally not impacted.

We recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment chafgg8d million in the year ended December 31, 2@@0®&rite-off the entire goodwiill
balances held by the SMB and Public Sector segm@uisLarge Account segment which is the only répgrunit with goodwill remaining
continues to carry $49.3 million of goodwill andhet intangible assets. While we believe that otimedes of fair value are reasonable,
different assumptions regarding items such as éutash flows and the volatility inherent in marketgch we serve could materially affect our
valuations and result in impairment charges agaiestarrying value of those remaining assets irLange Account segment.

We completed our annual goodwill and indefiniteeitrademark impairment test on the first day df28nd determined that the fair
value of our Large Account reporting unit substahtiexceeded its carrying value, and as a resaltmpairment resulted. We determined the
fair value of the reporting unit as of January @1@, by preparing a discounted cash flow analysiisgiforward looking projections of the
unit’s future operating results, as well as consitlen of market valuation approaches. We carrigd/érd that assessment of fair value to
January 1, 2011. Please see Note 2, “Goodwill athéQntangible Assets” to the Consolidated FinahStatements included in Item 8 of Part
I of this report for a discussion of the signifitassumptions used in our discounted cash flolysisa

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred income tax assets and liekifior the differences between the financialestegnt and tax basis of assets and
liabilities that will result in taxable or dedudgbamounts in the future, based on enacted tax d&dgates anticipated to be applicable to the
periods in which the differences are expected fiecataxable income. We assess the likelihooddeétrred tax assets will be realized and
recognize a valuation allowance if it is more likhan not that some portion of the deferred taetsswill not be realized. We account for
uncertain tax positions based upon our assessrhemtether a tax benefit is more likely than nob®sustained upon examination by tax
authorities. We report a liability for unrecogniziaat benefits resulting from uncertain tax positidgaken or expected to be taken in a tax return
and recognize interest and penalties, if any, edl&h unrecognized tax benefits in income tax egpen
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RECENTLY ISSUED FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In October 2009, an update was mad&Revenue Recognition—Multiple Deliverable Reventramgements.” This update removes the
objective-and-reliable-evidence-of-fair-value daiiibe from the separation criteria used to determvhether an arrangement involving multiple
deliverables contains more than one unit of acdngnteplaces references to “fair value” with “g&ll price” to distinguish from the fair value
measurements required under tRair Value Measurements and Disclosuregliidance, provides a hierarchy that entities mastto estimate
the selling price, eliminates the use of the resliduethod for allocation, and expands the ongoiaglasure requirements. This update is
effective beginning January 1, 2011 and can beegprospectively or retrospectively. We do notentghe implementation of this guidanc
have a material impact on our consolidated findrat&tements and will apply the update prospedtivel

INFLATION

We have historically offset any inflation in opengt costs by a combination of increased produetiaitd price increases, where
appropriate. We do not expect inflation to havégaiicant impact on our business in the foreseediiure.

ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

We invest cash balances in excess of operatindgresgents in short-term securities, generally withtunities of 90 days or less. In
addition, our unsecured credit agreement providebdrrowings which bear interest at variable rét@sed on the prime rate. We believe the
effect, if any, of reasonably possible néam changes in interest rates on our financiaitipos results of operations, and cash flows shadt
be material. Our credit agreement exposes earmingisanges in short-term interest rates sincednteaates on the underlying obligations are
variable. No borrowings were outstanding pursuarthé credit agreement as of December 31, 2010pandverage outstanding borrowing
during 2010 was minimal. Accordingly, the changeamnings resulting from a hypothetical 10% inceeaisdecrease in interest rates would
be material.

Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementariata
The information required by this Item is includedhis Report beginning at page F-1.

ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.

Iltem 9A.  Controls and Procedures
Management’s Evaluation of Disclosure Controls andProcedures

The Companys management, with the participation of the Chiedditive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaled the effectivene
of the Company'’s disclosure controls and procedasesf December 31, 2010. The term “disclosurerotmaind procedures,” as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated undeEtisgbange Act, means controls and other procedifraxompany that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed lopmpany in the reports that it files or submitder the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported, within the feriods specified in the SEC’s rules and formisclosure controls and procedures
include, without limitation, controls and procedsigesigned to ensure that information requirecetdibclosed by a company in the reports
it files or submits under the Exchange Act is acelated and communicated to the company’s manageimehiding its principal executive
and principal financial officers, as appropriatatow timely decisions regarding required disclesiManagement recognizes that any controls
and procedures, no matter how well designed anchtgag can provide only reasonable assurance @\anb their objectives and managernr
necessarily applies its judgment in evaluatingcibst-
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benefit relationship of possible controls and pcares. The Company’s disclosure controls and pruresdare designed to provide reasonable
assurance of achieving their objectives as dest@beve. Based on this evaluation, the Chief Exee@fficer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that, as of the end of the period covbyetthis report, the Company’s disclosure contesid procedures were effective at the
reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estabfj and maintaining adequate internal control émancial reporting for the
Company. Internal control over financial reportisglefined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulkeghunder the Exchange Act as a process
designed by, or under the supervision of, the Camisgorincipal executive and principal financiafioérs and effected by the Company’s
board of directors, management, and other persaanqebvide reasonable assurance regarding trebily of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with U.S. generally accepteduating principles and includes those
policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to thenteaance of records that, in reasonable detailjrately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) ideweasonable assurance that transactions aneleecas necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with U.S. gdiyesacepted accounting principles and that resefptd expenditures of the Company are
being made only in accordance with authorizatidnmanagement and directors of the Company; angr(8)ide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitted acquisition, use, or disposition of the Compa assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agjext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdates may deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectivehggs Company’s internal controls over financigorting as of December 31,
2010. In making this assessment, the Company’s gaanant used the criteria set forth by the Commifegponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission ilmternal Control-Integrated Framework

Based on our assessment, management concludeddtudtPecember 31, 2010, the Comparigternal control over financial reporting
effective based on those criteria.

The Company’s Independent Registered Public Acéogriirm has issued an audit report on the Compsimgernal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2010. Thjsort appears below.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
PC Connection, Inc.
Merrimack, New Hampshire

We have audited the internal control over finansgplorting of PC Connection, Inc. and subsidiafiee “Company”) as of December 31,
2010, based on criteria establishedniternal Control—Integrated Framewoitsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiribe
Treadway Commission. The Company’s managemensporesible for maintaining effective internal cohtwaer financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal contret financial reporting, included in the accomyag Management’s Annual Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our resgibility is to express an opinion on the Comparigternal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedgdof the Public Company Accounting Oversightq&@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigifenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®@tsr audit included obtaining an understanding tdrimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etéstiyg and evaluating the design and operatifeg®@feness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsreg considered necessary in the circumstanceseliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvigi the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or gars performing similar functions, and effected lng tompany’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reakassurance regarding the reliability of financegdorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles. A comfsaimternal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras(tt) pertain to the maintenance of records thagasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of theetssof the company; (2) provide reasonable asseriduat transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statein accordance with generally accepted acaogiptiinciples, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordgdordance with authorizations of management amdtdirs of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prereatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on than€ial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcohover financial reporting, including the positl of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatemdue to error or fraud may not be preventatketected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenesthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance wWithpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over figal reporting as of December 31,
2010, based on the criteria establishethtarnal Control—Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated financial statements and financidestant schedule as of and for the year ended Deme®ih 2010 of the Company and our
report dated March 112011 expressed an unqualified opinion on thosenfirzh statements and financial statement schedule.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 11, 2011
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirng

No change in the Comparsyinternal control over financial reporting occar@uring the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 20 has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to erally affect, the Company’s internal control o¥i@ancial reporting.

Iltem 9B.  Other information
None.
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PART IlI

Iltem 10.  Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Goverance

The information included under the headings, “ExeeuOfficers of PC Connection” in Item 3 of Patidreof and “Election of
Directors,” “Information Concerning Directors, Nameies, and Executive Officers,” “Section 16(a) Barialf Ownership Reporting
Compliance,” “Code of Business Conduct and Ethialic,” and “Board Committees — Audit Committeia’our definitive Proxy Statement 1
our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be twidMay 25, 2011 (the “Proxy Statement”) is incogied herein by reference. We
anticipate filing the Proxy Statement within 12¢/glafter December 31, 2010. With the exceptiorhefforegoing information and other
information specifically incorporated by referent this Form 10-K, the Proxy Statement is nonhbéfiled as a part hereof.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatior

The information included under the headings “Exieu€Compensation” and “Director Compensation” ia ffroxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andVanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

The information included under the headings “Seg@wnership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Maragnt” and “Equity
Compensation Plan Information” in the Proxy Statehig incorporated herein by reference.

ltem 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information included under the headings “CarRélationships and Related Transactions” and ‘tinrelndependence” in the Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Service

The information included under the heading “Priatiaccounting Fees and Services” in the Proxy $tat# is incorporated herein by
reference.
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PART IV

ltem 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
(a) List of Documents Filed as Part of this Rep
(1) Consolidated Financial Stateme
The consolidated financial statements listed bedoavincluded in this document.

Page
Consolidated Financial Statements Reference
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourf&imm F-2
Consolidated Balance She: F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operati F-4
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockhc’ Equity F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Fl¢ F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme F-7

(2) Consolidated Financial Statement Sched

The following Consolidated Financial Statement Sichhe, as set forth below, is filed with this report

Page
Schedule Reference
Schedule —Valuation and Qualifying Accoun S-1

All other schedules have been omitted becausedteegither not applicable or the relevant infororatias already been disclose
the financial statements.

(3) The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index in Item(bpbelow are filed as part of this Annual ReportForm 1(-K.
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(b) Exhibits
The exhibits listed below are filed herewith or areorporated herein by reference to other filings.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibits
3.2(5) Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatioRegistrant, as amende
3.4(17) Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registr
4.1(2) Form of specimen certificate for shares of Commtmtl§ $0.01 par value per share, of the Regist
9.1()* Form of 1998 PC Connection Voting Trust Agreemeanbag the Registrant, Patricia Gallup individualhdeaas a trustee,
and David Hall individually and as truste
10.1(1)* Form of Registration Rights Agreement among theifemt, Patricia Gallup, David Hall, and the 1998 Connection
Voting Trust.
10.2(5)* 1997 Amended and Restated Stock Incentive |
10.3(29)* 2007 Amended and Restated Stock Incentive |
10.4(25)* Amended and Restated 1997 Employee Stock Purchase
10.5(15)* Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement for 200Meénded and Restated Stock Incentive F
10.6(15)* Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement for 2@@nended and Restated Stock Incentive F
10.7(30)* Amended and Restated Form of Restricted Stock Ageeéfor 2007 Amended and Restated Stock InceRtiae.
10.8(30)* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for 2007 éxrded and Restated Stock Incentive F
10.9(23)* Executive Bonus Plai
10.10(1)* Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1988jeen the Registrant and Patricia Gal
10.11(19)* Employment Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2008yéet the Registrant and Timothy McGre
10.12(19)* Severance Agreement, dated as of October 9, 2@ddebn the Registrant and Bradley Mouss
10.13(21)* Separation Agreement, dated October 14, 2008, Bypatween the Registrant and David B-Negrini.
10.14(26)* Employment Agreement, dated February 1, 2010, bybatween the Registrant and John A. Pol
10.15(8) Agreement for Inventory Financing, dated as of ®eta1, 2002, by and among the Registrant, Merdinservices
Corporation, GovConnection, Inc., MoreDirect, Iramd IBM Credit Corporatior
10.16(8) Guaranty, dated as of November 14, 2002, entetedinRegistrant in connection with the Agreemantlfiventory

Financing, dated as of October 31, 2002, by andngntiee Registrant, Merrimack Services Corporati®oyConnection,
Inc., MoreDirect, Inc., and IBM Credit Corporatic
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Exhibits
10.17(8)
10.18(8)
10.19(12)
10.20(12)

10.21(27)

10.22(16)
10.23(11)
10.24(1)
10.25(2)
10.26(24)
10.27(20)
10.28(1)

10.29(4)

10.30(7)

10.31(10)

10.32(13)

Guaranty, dated as of November 14, 2002, entetecbinPC Connection Sales Corporation in connedctiith the Agreemer
for Inventory Financing, dated as of October 31020y and among the Registrant, Merrimack Servizaporation,
GovConnection, Inc., MoreDirect, Inc., and IBM Citedorporation.

Acknowledgement, Waiver, and Amendment to Agreerf@aninventory Financing, dated as of NovemberZH)3, by and
among the Registrant, Merrimack Services CorpamatégnvConnection, Inc., MoreDirect, Inc., and IBMe@it LLC.

Second Amendment, dated May 9, 2004, to the Agreefoe Inventory Financing between the Registrart #s subsidiaries
Merrimack Services Corporation, GovConnection,,laad MoreDirect, Inc., and IBM Credit LL!

Third Amendment, dated May 27, 2005, to the Agresrfer Inventory Financing between the Registramt &s subsidiarie
Merrimack Services Corporation, GovConnection,,laad MoreDirect, Inc., and IBM Credit LL!

Second Amended and Restated Credit and Securityefggnt, dated June 29, 2005, among Citizens Baktas$achusett:

as lender and as agent, other financial institstjwerty thereto from time to time, as lenders, R@r&ction, Inc., as borrower,
GovConnection, Inc., Merrimack Services Corporati®@ Connection Sales Corporation, PC ConnectitesSd
Massachusetts, Inc., and MoreDirect, Inc., eagjuasantors

Third Amendment, dated October 15, 2007, to theSg@mended and Restated Credit and Security Ageaeby anc
among the Registrant and certain subsidiary guarsnd RBS Citizens, National Association, susgeby merger to
Citizens Bank of Massachusetts, as lender and &

Bill of Sale, dated October 21, 2005, between P@neation, Inc. and IBM Credit, LLC

Amended and Restated Lease between the Registrdi@i&H Post, LLC, dated December 29, 1997, for proplocated at
Route 101A, Merrimack, New Hampshi

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Lease betithe Registrant and G&H Post, LLC, dated Deceribed 998, for
property located at Route 101A, Merrimack, New Hahige.

Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Lease betihe Registrant and G&H Post, LLC, dated Deceribed 998, fol
property located at Route 101A, Merrimack, New Hahige.

Lease between the Merrimack Services Corporation@®H Post LLC, dated August 11, 2008, for propéoiyated a
Merrimack, New Hampshire

Lease between the Registrant and Miller-Valentiadriers, dated September 27, 1990, as amendeatofoerty located at
Old State Route 73, Wilmington, Oh

Third Amendment, dated June 26, 2000, to the LAgseement between Merrimack Services CorporatichEWE
Warehouse Investments V, LTD., dated Septembet 230, for property located at 2840 Old State R@@teWilmington,
Ohio.

Fourth Amendment, dated July 31, 2002, to the Léageement between Merrimack Services CorporatichEEWE
Warehouse Investments V, LTD., dated Septembet 230, for property located at Old State Route 78mikigton, Ohio.

Fifth Amendment, dated February 28, 2005, to thaseeAgreement between Merrimack Services Corporatiol EWE
Warehouse Investments V, LTD., dated Septembet 290, for property located at 2780-2880 Old StaiatR 73,
Wilmington, Ohio.

Sixth Amendment, dated October 26, 2006, to thesé deggreement between Merrimack Services CorporatnohEWE
Warehouse Investments V, LTD., dated Septembet 290, for property located at Old State Route 78mikigton, Ohio.
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Exhibits

10.33(24
10.34(28
10.35(28
10.36

10.37(3)

10.38(6)

10.39(8)
10.40(12
10.41(28
10.42(28
10.43

10.44(4)
10.45(4)
10.46(4)

10.47(4)

Seventh Amendment, dated January 28, 2009, toghed Agreement between Merrimack Services Corpaoratid EWE
Warehouse Investments V, LTD., dated Septembet 290, for property located at Old State Route 78mikigton, Ohio.

Eighth Amendment, dated October 13, 2009, to treskedgreement between Merrimack Services Corparatiol EWE
Warehouse Investments V, LTD., dated Septembet 230, for property located at Old State Route 78mikigton, Ohio.

Ninth Amendment, dated February 5, 2010, to theseesgreement between Merrimack Services CorporatimhEWE
Warehouse Investments V, LTD., dated Septembet 230, for property located at Old State Route 78mikigton, Ohio.

Tenth Amendment, dated September 29, 2010, to¢lhasd. Agreement between Merrimack Services Corparatid EWE
Warehouse Investments V, LTD., dated Septembet 230, for property located at Old State Route 78mikigton, Ohio.

Assignment of Lease Agreements, dated December@P®, between Micro Warehouse, Inc. (assignor)thedRegistrant
(assignee), for property located at Old State R@8taNilmington, Ohio

First Amendment, dated June 19, 2001, to the Assign of Lease Agreements, dated as of Decembei9B®, betwee
Micro Warehouse Inc. (assignor) and Merrimack SmwiCorporation for property located at Old StatatR 73,
Wilmington, Ohio.

Second Amendment, dated April 24, 2003, to the &dereement between Merrimack Services and EWE Wdaise
Investments V, LTD., dated December 13, 1999, foperty located at Old State Route 73, Wilmingt©hjo.

Third Amendment, dated November 11, 2005, to treskeAgreement between Merrimack Services Corporatiol EWE
Warehouse Investments V, LTD., dated December 499 1for property located at Old State Route 73mivigton, Ohio.

Fourth Amendment, dated October 13, 2009, to tleséégreement between Merrimack Services Corpaoratiol EWE
Warehouse Investments V, LTD., dated December 939 Ifor property located at Old State Route 73mivigton, Ohio.

Fifth Amendment, dated February 5, 2010, to thesee®greement between Merrimack Services CorporatahEWE
Warehouse Investments V, LTD., dated December 939 Ifor property located at Old State Route 73mivigton, Ohio.

Sixth Amendment, dated May 20, 2010, to the Leagedment between Merrimack Services CorporationEANEE
Warehouse Investments V, LTD., dated December 939 Ifor property located at Old State Route 73mivigton, Ohio.

Lease between ComTeq Federal, Inc. and Rockvilfe@mhdustrial Associates dated December 14, 1893)roperty
located at 7503 Standish Place, Rockville, Maryli

First Amendment, dated November 1, 1996, to thesédggreement between ComTeq Federal, Inc. and Rlec
Office/Industrial Associates, dated December 1831 %or property located in Rockville, Marylar

Second Amendment, dated March 31, 1998, to theed Agseement between ComTeq Federal, Inc. and Ribe!
Office/Industrial Associates, dated December 1831 %or property located in Rockville, Marylar

Third Amendment, dated August 31, 2000, to the dsgreement between ComTeq Federal, Inc. and Rite!
Office/Industrial Associates, dated December 1831 ®roperty located in Rockville, Marylar
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Exhibits
10.48(7)
10.49(12)
10.50(22)
10.51(9)

10.52(19)

10.53(10)
10.54(15)

10.55*
10.56*
211
23.1
311

31.2
32.1

32.2

Fourth Amendment, dated November 20, 2002, to tesé Agreement between GovConnection, Inc. (foynkedwn as
ComTeq Federal, Inc.) and Metro Park I, LLC (formdmown as Rockville Office/Industrial Associatedated December 1
1993, for property located in Rockville, Marylar

Fifth Amendment, dated December 12, 2005, to theseeédgreement between GovConnection, Inc. and Mrgrk |, LLC,
dated December 14, 1993, for property located iokRile, Maryland.

Sixth Amendment, dated September 18, 2008, to #dasé Agreement between GovConnection, Inc. andoNretrk |, LLC,
dated December 14, 1993, for property located iokRile, Maryland.

Fifth Amendment, dated September 24, 2004, to tase Agreement between Merrimack Services Corparatid Bronx |l
LLC, dated October 27, 1988, as amended for prgppecated in Marlborough, MA

Sixth Amendment, dated February 29, 2008, to theseedgreement between Merrimack Services Corporatiol RFF
Lincoln 293, LLC, assignee of the leasehold inteoé8ronx I, LLC, dated October 27, 1988, as adezhfor property
located in Marlborough, MA

Lease between MoreDirect, Inc. and Boca Technolgpter, LLC, dated February 14, 2005, for propkrtated in Boca
Raton, Florida

Release and Settlement Agreement, dated DecemBép@, by and between the United States of Amenict
GovConnection, Inc

Summary of Compensation for Executive Office
Summary of Compensation for N-Employee Directors
Subsidiaries of Registrar

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLI

Certification of the Company’s Chairman and Chigé€&utive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of theb@aes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Certification of the Company’s Executive Vice Poesit, Treasurer, and Chief Financial Officer purdua Section 302 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Compar's Chairman and Chief Executive Officer pursuart8dJ.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted purs
to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Compar's Executive Vice President, Treasurer, and Chieéidial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secl
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 cSarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

(1) Incorporated by reference from the exhibits fileithwhe Compan’s registration statement (:-41171) on Form -1 filed under the
Securities Act of 193:
(2) Incorporated by reference from exhibits filehathe Company’s annual report on Form 10-K, Nlenber 0-23827, filed on March 31,

1999.

(3) Incorporated by reference from exhibits filethithe Company’s annual report on Form 10-K/A Amherent No. 1, File Number 0-
23827, filed on April 4, 200(
(4) Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed wiitle Compan’s annual report on Form -K, File Number (23827, filed on March 3(

2001.

(5) Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed witle Compan’s proxy statement pursuant to Section 14(a), Rilmbkr (-23827, filed
on April 17, 2001
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(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)

(11)
(12)

(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)

(19)
(20)
(21)
(22)
(23)
(24)
(25)
(26)
(27)
(28)
(29)

(30)

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed witle Compan’s quarterly report on Form -Q, File Number -23827, filed or

August 14, 2001

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filethathe Company’s annual report on Form 10-K, Nlember 0-23827, filed on March 31,
2003.

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filedhathe Company’s annual report on Form 10-K, Nlenber 0-23827, filed on March 30,
2004.

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed witle Compan’s quarterly report on Form -Q, File Number -23827, filed

November 15, 200¢

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed wile Compan’s annual report on Form -K, File Number (23827, filed on March 3!
2006.

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed wiitle Compan’s current report on Forn-K, filed on October 27, 200!

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed wile Compan’s annual report on Form -K, File Number (23827, filed on March 3(
2006.

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed wiitle Compan’s current report on Forn-K, filed on October 31, 200

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed witle Compan’s current report on Forn-K, filed on December 7, 200

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed witle Compan’s quarterly report on Form -Q, filed on August 10, 200

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed witle Compan’s quarterly report on Form -Q, filed on November 13, 200
Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed wile Compan’s current report on Forn-K, filed on January 9, 200

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filgith the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K, Nigmber 0-23827, filed on March 14,
2008.

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed wile Compan’s quarterly report on Form -Q, filed on May 12, 200¢

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed witle Compan’s quarterly report on Form -Q, filed on August 11, 200:

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed wiitle Compan’s current report on Forn-K, filed on October 17, 200i

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed witle Compan’s quarterly report on Form -Q, filed on November 10, 200
Incorporated by reference from exhibits filgith the Company’s proxy statement pursuant toiSedt4(a), File Number 0-23827, filed
on April 10, 2009

Incorporated by reference from exhibits fileith the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K, Niegmber 0-23827, filed on March 16,
2009.

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed wiitle Compan’s proxy statement pursuant to Section 14(a), Filmber (-23827, filed
on April 30, 2009

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed witle Compan’s current report on Forn-K, filed on January 29, 201

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed wiitle Compan’s current report on Forn-K, filed on February 8, 201!

Incorporated by reference from exhibits fileith the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K, Niegmber 0-23827, filed on March 15,
2010.

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filgith the Company’s proxy statement pursuant toiSedt4(a), File Number 0-23827, filed
on April 16, 2010

Incorporated by reference from exhibits filed wile Compan’s quarterly report on Form -Q, filed on November 10, 201
Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 jbf the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigrk thereunto duly authorized.

PC CONNECTION, INC

Date: March 11, 201 By: /s| PATRICIA G ALLUP
Patricia Gallup
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exadnge Act of 1934, this report has been signed beldw the following persons ol
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities anan the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s| PaTRICIA G ALLUP Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Principal March 11, 2011
Patricia Gallup Executive Officer
/s/ Jack F ERGUSON Executive Vice President, Treasurer, and C March 11, 201:
Jack Ferguson Financial Officer (Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer)

/s/ JosePHB AUTE Director March 11, 201:
Joseph Baute

/s/ DaviD B EFFA-N EGRINI Director March 11, 2011
David Beffa-Negrini

/s/  BARBARA D UCKETT Director March 11, 2011
Barbara Duckett

/s/ DAviD H ALL Director March 11, 201
David Hall
/s/ DoNALD W EATHERSON Director March 11, 2011

Donald Weatherson
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
PC Connection, Inc.
Merrimack, New Hampshire

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of PC Connection, Inc. and subsidiatties‘Company”) as of
December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the related coasetidtatements of operations, changes in stocki®lequity, and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 3. 20ur audits also included the financial statensehedule listed in the Index at Iltem 15.
These financial statements and financial statersamtdule are the responsibility of the Company’sagament. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the financial statementdiaadcial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiogUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &madbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial stateteg@resent fairly, in all material respects, timarficial position of PC Connection, Inc.
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and 20@Bthe results of their operations and their ¢asts for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2010, in conformity &itbounting principles generally accepted in thetééhBtates of America. Also, in our
opinion, such financial statement schedule, whesicered in relation to the basic consolidatedrfoia statements taken as a whole, presents
fairly, in all material respects, the informaticet $orth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
Company’s internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2010, based on criteria estadiininternal Control—Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission and our report datecchal, 2011 expressed
an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internatteol over financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 11, 2011
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PC CONNECTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(amountsin thousands, except per share data)

December 31,
2010 2009
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel $ 35,37« $ 46,297
Accounts receivable, n 238,01: 218,09!
Inventories 74,29: 67,39:
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 4,21( 2,75(
Deferred income taxe 3,81: 3,38¢
Income taxes receivahb 1,48¢ 93t
Total current asse 357,19( 338,85«
Property and equipment, r 13,50( 12,42(
Goodwill 48,06( 48,06(
Other intangibles, n¢ 1,78¢ 1,27¢
Other asset 40& 482
Total Assets $420,94: $401,09!
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Current maturities of capital lease obligation fidliate $ 87C $ 78C
Accounts payabl 114,63: 125,12(
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 23,96: 20,44:
Accrued payrol 12,65: 8,84:
Total current liabilities 152,117 155,18
Deferred income taxe 5,82: 3,84¢
Capital lease obligation to affiliate, less curreraturities 1,96( 2,83(
Other liabilities 3,40: 3,96¢
Total Liabilities 163,30: 165,82¢
Commitments and Contingencies (Note
Stockholder’ Equity:
Preferred Stock, $.01 par value, 10,000 share®dné, none issue — —
Common Stock, $.01 par value, 100,000 shares améthr27,507 and 27,375 issued, 26,653 and 2¢
outstanding at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respéc 27E 274
Additional paic-in capital 98,87 97,21:
Retained earning 164,07! 141,11
Treasury stock at cost, 854 and 527 shares at Desaedd, 2010 and 2009, respectiv (5,587) (3,339
Total Stockholders’ Equity 257,63¢ 235,26t
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $420,94: $401,09!

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PC CONNECTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(amountsin thousands, except per share data)

Net sales
Cost of sale:
Gross profi
Selling, general and administrative exper
Special charge
Goodwill impairment
Net income (loss) from operatio
Interest expens
Other, ne
Net income (loss) before tax
Income tax provisiol
Net income (loss
Earnings (loss) per common she
Basic

Diluted

Shares used in computation of earnings (loss) @anwon share
Basic

Diluted

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
$1,974,19: $1,569,65! $1,753,68!
1,744,29; 1,384,86! 1,538,83
229,90( 184,79t 214,84«
191,23: 172,65: 186,72¢
— 12,82¢ 1,431
— — 8,807
38,66 (684) 17,87¢
(490) (517) (681)
21¢ 524 811
38,39( (677) 18,00¢
(15,429 (545 (7,642)
$ 22,96 $ (1,22 $ 10,36¢
$ 0.8¢ $ (0.0 % 0.3¢
$ 0.8¢ $ (0.0 $ 0.3¢
27,007 26,83: 26,82¢
27,05: 26,83: 26,89¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PC CONNECTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS'
(amountsin thousands)

Balance—January 1, 2008

Issuance of common stock under stock incentivesplan
including income tax deficiencie

Issuance of common stock under Employee Stock Bae
Plan

Stoclk-based compensation expel

Nonvested stock awart

Repurchase of common stock for Treas

Net income and comprehensive inco

Balance—December 31, 200

Issuance of common stock under Employee Stock Res
Plan

Stock-based compensation expel

Nonvested stock awart

Repurchase of common stock for treas

Tax shortfall from stoc-based compensatic

Net loss and comprehensive ¢

Balance—December 31, 200!

Issuance of common stock under stock incentivesplan
including income tax deficiencie

Issuance of common stock under Employee Stock Bae
Plan

Stoclk-based compensation expel

Nonvested stock awart

Repurchase of common stock for treas

Net income and comprehensive inco

Balance—December 31, 201!

EQUITY

Additional
Common Stock Treasury Shares
Paid-In Retained
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Shares Amount Total
27,25: $ 27¢ $9413: $131,97C (327) $(2,06Y) $224,31(
33 — 10E — — — 10¢
41 — 257 — — — 257
— — 1,82 — — — 1,82
= = (320 - 46 32C =
— — — — (211) (1,539 (1,537
— — — 10,36¢ — — 10,36¢
27,32¢ 27° 95,997 142,33t  (492) (3,287 235,32
49 1 274 — — — 27¢
_ — 1,42( — — — 1,42(
= = (372) = 58 372 =
— — — — (93) (425) (425)
— — (10€) — — — (10€)
— — — 122) — — (1,227)
27,37" 274 97,21¢ 14111 (527) (3,33f) 235,26t
90 1 653 — — — 654
42 — 294 — — — 294
— — 1,531 — — — 1,531
— — (820) — 12¢€ 82C —
— — — — (455) (3,067 (3,067)
— — — 22,96! — — 22,96.
27,507 $ 275 $98,877 $164,07! (854) $(5,582) $257,63¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PC CONNECTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(amountsin thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (loss $ 22,96 $ (1,229 $ 10,36¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rmshc(used for) provided by operating activiti
Non-cash portion of special charg — 11,62¢ —
Goodwill impairment — — 8,801
Depreciation and amortizatic 5,43( 6,79¢ 6,96¢
Provision for doubtful accoun 2,37: 2,35¢ 2,27
Deferred income taxe 1,54¢ (1,476 (639)
Stoclk-based compensation expel 1,531 1,42( 1,82:
Loss on disposal of fixed ass: 2 16 614
Income tax deficiency from sto-based compensatic (16) (20€) (98)
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock opti — — 3
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivabl (22,28%) (34,569 14,05«
Inventories (6,9072) (6,57¢) 15,277
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (2,019 1,38¢ (407
Other nor-current assel 77 (97) (67)
Accounts payabl (10,329 23,47: (9,197
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 6,76¢ 2,682 (4,629
Net cash (used for) provided by operating actisi (862) 5,71( 45,15t
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipm (6,387) (5,56¢9) (10,370
Purchase of intangible ast (800) — —
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn 9 2 44
Net cash used for investing activiti (7,17¢%) (5,567) (10,326
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from sh¢-term borrowings 9,48t 22,40: 37,34
Repayment of shc-term borrowings (9,485 (22,40 (37,349
Repayment of capital lease obligation to affili (780) (699) (527)
Purchase of treasury sha (3,06%) (42%) (1,539
Issuance of stock under Employee Stock Purchase 294 27t 257
Exercise of stock optior 67C — 203
Net share settlement obligati — — 34
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock opti — — 3
Net cash used for financing activiti (2,887 (849) 1,567
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivz (10,929 (70€) 33,26:
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of ' 46,291 47,00 13,74
Cash and cash equivalents, end of ) $ 35,37 $ 46,297 $ 47,00
Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities:
Accrued capital expenditur $ 4 $ 16: $ 29¢€
Issuance of nonvested stock from treas 82C 372 32C
Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Income taxes pai $ 14,89 $ 1,557 $ 10,08
Interest paic 40% 45¢€ 581

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PC CONNECTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(amountsin thousands, except per share data)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We are a leading direct marketer of a wide rangafofmation technology, or IT, solutions. We helpmpanies design, enable, manage,
and service their IT environments. We provide aeniahge of products, including computer systemfswaoe and peripheral equipment,
networking communications, and other products amessories that we purchase from manufacturetsibdi®ors, and other suppliers. We
operate through four sales segments, which prignaeitve: (a) small- to medium-sized businesseSMBs, through our PC Connection Sales
subsidiary, (b) large enterprise customers, or &a@&gcount, through our MoreDirect subsidiary, @Jédral, state, and local government and
educational institutions, or Public Sector, throagin GovConnection subsidiary, and (d) consumedssamall office/home office customers, or
Consumer/SOHO, through our PC Connection Exprdssidiary.

The following is a summary of our significant acoting policies.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of PC Connection, Inc. and its wholly-owsabsidiaries. Intercompany
transactions and balances are eliminated in catet@n.

Use of Estimatesin the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@ United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assmsipfioese estimates and assumptions affect theras@ported in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. Actual reswitda differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue on product sales is recognized at the poiimhe when persuasive evidence of an arrangemasis, the price is fixed or
determinable, delivery has occurred, and thereréaaonable assurance of collection of the satesepds. We generally obtain oral or written
purchase authorizations from our customers foregifipd amount of product at a specified price. 8exe we either (i) have a general practice
of covering customer losses while products arednsit despite title transferring at the point loffpsnent or (ii) have FOB—destination shipping
terms specifically set out in our arrangements Wétteral agencies and certain commercial custordefisery is deemed to have occurred at
the point in time when the product is received oy ¢ustomer.

We provide our customers with a limited thirty-d&yht of return generally limited to defective meandise. Revenue is recognized at
delivery and a reserve for sales returns is recbrdée have demonstrated the ability to make reddersnd reliable estimates of product
returns based on significant historical experieswo@ record our sales reserves as a reduction ehves and either as offsets to accounts
receivable or, for customers who have already @aidiredits to accrued expenses. At December 30, 2@ recorded sales reserves of $3,244
and $354 as components of accounts receivablecamdeal expenses, respectively. At December 31,,200%9ecorded sales reserves of $1
and $309 as components of accounts receivablecandesl expenses, respectively.

All amounts billed to a customer in a sale transactelated to shipping and handling, if any, reerd revenues earned for the goods
provided, and these amounts have been classifitneaisales.” Costs related to such shipping amdilidg billings are classified as “cost of
sales.” Sales are reported net of sales, useher thnsaction taxes that are collected from enste and remitted to taxing authorities.
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We use our own engineering personnel in projeatsiing the design and installation of systems aetivorks, and we also engage third-
party service providers to perform warranty maiatese, implementations, asset disposals, and athécss. We evaluate such engagemer
determine whether we or the third-party assumegémeral risk and reward of ownership in thesestations. For those transactions in which
we do not assume the risk and reward but instelaasagn agent, we recognize the transaction revemaenet basis. Under net sales
recognition, we recognize the cost of the thirdypas a reduction to the selling price, and acewigi report as revenue only our gross profit
earned on the transaction. In those engagemenisialh we are the principal and primary obligor, igport the sale on a gross basis, and the
cost of the service provider is recognized in efgjoods sold.

Similarly, we recognize revenue from agency sakassactions on a net sales basis. In agency satesattions, we facilitate product s:i
by equipment and software manufacturers directlyuilocustomers and receive agency, or referras, fimesuch transactions. We do not take
title to the products or assume any maintenancetorn obligations in these transactions; titlpassed directly from the supplier to our
customer.

Net amounts included in revenue for such thirdypaervices and agency sales transactions were 234,4502,337, and $13,250 for the
years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 200&atbsgly.

Although service revenues represent a small peagerif our consolidated revenues, we offer a wadge of services, including design,
installation, configuration, and other servicesgened by our personnel and thiparty providers. If a service is performed in cargion with
the delivery of hardware, software, or another isenthen we determine whether an item includesbich multiple-element arrangements
constitutes a separate deliverable.

In these arrangements, an element is separatedediverable only when the following three conditsoare met:
. The delivered item(s) has value to the customex standalone basi

. There is objective and reliable evidence of thevalue of the undelivered item; a

. If the arrangement includes a general right ofrretelative to the delivered item, delivery or merhance of the undelivered item
is considered probable and substantially undercontrol.

Cost of Sales and Certain Other Costs

Cost of sales includes the invoice cost of the petddirect costs of packaging, inbound and outldugight, and provisions for inventc
obsolescence, adjusted for discounts, rebatesythied vendor allowances. Direct operating experslesing to our purchasing function and
receiving, inspection, internal transfer, warehngspacking and shipping, and other operating exg&iof our distribution center are included
in selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) eqgses. Total direct operating expenses relatitige®e functions included in SG&A
expenses for the three years ended December 30,226 5hown below:

Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008

$12,18( $ 11,79¢ $ 12,12¢

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid short-term investmentith original maturities of 90 days or less todash equivalents. The carrying value
of our cash equivalents approximates fair values iitajority of payments due from credit card prooesand banks for third-party credit card
and debit card transactions process within oné/éoldusiness days. All credit card and debit ceadgactions that process in less than seven
days are classified as cash and cash equivalemsuAts due from banks for these transactions fiedsis cash totaled $3,134 and $3,475 at
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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Accounts Receivable

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our custsrand adjust credit limits based on payment histod customer creditworthiness.
We maintain an allowance for estimated doubtfubaots based on our historical experience and temer credit issues identified. Our
customers do not post collateral for open accogusivable. We monitor collections regularly anguatithe allowance for doubtful account:
necessary to recognize any changes in credit ekposu

Inventories

Inventories (all finished goods) consisting of aa@fte packages, computer systems, and peripherigdregat, are stated at cost
(determined under a weighted-average cost methachveipproximates the first-in, first-out method)moarket, whichever is lower. Inventory
guantities on hand are reviewed regularly, andaadlces are maintained for obsolete, slow movind,ramsalable inventory.

Vendor Allowances

We receive allowances from merchandise vendorprioe protections, discounts, product rebates,ather programs. These allowances
are treated as a reduction of the vendor’s prindsaae recorded as adjustments to cost of salles@ntory, as applicable. Allowances for
product rebates that require certain volumes ofipcbsales or purchases are recorded as the retélestones are probable of being met.

Advertising Costs and Allowances

Costs of producing and distributing catalogs amrgéd to expense in the period in which the catatog first issued. Other advertising
costs are expensed as incurred.

Vendors have the ability to place advertisementsuincatalogs or fund other advertising activifi@swhich we receive advertising
allowances. These vendor allowances, to the extanthey represent specific reimbursements ofitteerlying incremental and identifiable
costs, are offset against SG&A expenses. Advegdiallowances that cannot be associated with afsppcogram funded by an individual
vendor or that exceed the fair value of advertigirgense associated with that program are cladsieoffsets to cost of sales or inventory.
vendor partners generally consolidate their fundihgdvertising and other marketing programs, aswbalingly, we classify substantially all
vendor consideration as a reduction of cost ofssaténventory rather than a reduction of advertjsxpense. Advertising expense, which is
classified as a component of SG&A expenses, totBl&g887, $17,126, and $19,470, for the years ebdeember 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008,
respectively.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, netcafraulated depreciation and amortization. Deprisiaand amortization is provided for
financial reporting purposes over the estimateduldiges of the assets ranging from three to seyears. Computer software, including
licenses and internally developed software, istafiped and amortized over lives ranging from thieéve years. Depreciation is provided
using the straight-line method. Leasehold improvaisiand facilities under capital leases are anemtaver the terms of the related leases or
their useful lives, whichever is shorter, whereasificome tax reporting purposes, they are amatti®esr the applicable tax lives.

When events or circumstances indicate a potemtiphirment, we evaluate the carrying value of prgpand equipment based upon
current and anticipated undiscounted cash flowsr&¥egnize an impairment when it is probable thiahsestimated future cash flows will be
less than the asset carrying value. In 2009, weetkfurther development on a customer relationstsipagement (“CRM”) module of
internally developed software
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and determined that we would not realize any futagh flows from this CRM software module. As autgsve recognized a special charge of
$11,681 in our operating results for the year erldedember 31, 2009, which consisted of a non-casetampairment write-off of $11,609
representing the CRM module’s capitalized cost&iri2lin related restructuring costs. See Note 5.

Goodwill and Other I ntangible Assets

Our intangible assets consist of (1) goodwill, vihig not subject to amortization; (2) indefinitedd intangibles, which consist of certain
trademarks that are not subject to amortizatiod; (& amortizing intangibles, which consist of@lising agreement, which is being amortized
over its useful life.

Note 2 describes the annual impairment methodadllogtywe employ on Januarytl of each year in cdicgldhe recoverability of
goodwill. This same impairment test is performedtaer times during the course of a year shoulevamt occur or circumstance change that
would more likely than not reduce the fair valueagkporting unit below its carrying amount. Noneatizing intangibles are also subject to
annual impairment tests and interim tests if caodg require.

Recoverability of amortizing intangibles assetassessed only when events have occurred that mayigeé to impairment. When a
potential impairment has been identified, forechstediscounted net cash flows of the operationgtich the asset relates are compared to the
current carrying value of the long-lived assetspre in that operation. If such cash flows are feaa such carrying amounts, long-lived assets
including such intangibles, are written down toithespective fair values.

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred income tax assets and liekifior the differences between the financialestegnt and tax basis of assets and
liabilities that will result in taxable or dedudgbamounts in the future, based on enacted tax dsigates anticipated to be applicable to the
periods in which the differences are expected feecataxable income. We assess the likelihooddbédrred tax assets will be realized and
recognize a valuation allowance if it is more likhan not that some portion of the deferred taetsswill not be realized. We account for
uncertain tax positions based upon our assessrhemtather a tax benefit is more likely than nob®sustained upon examination by tax
authorities. We report a liability for unrecognizieat benefits resulting from uncertain tax positidaken or expected to be taken in a tax return
and recognize interest and penalties, if any, edl& unrecognized tax benefits in income tax egpen

Concentrations

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to tradeount receivables are limited due to the largaber of customers comprising our
customer base.

No single customer, other than the federal goventpaecounted for more than 3% of total net sale&0il0, 2009, and 2008. Net sales to
the federal government in 2010, 2009, and 2008 %&889,797, $154,835, and $134,836, or 9.6%, 9.9h,7a7% of total net sales,
respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2010, 20092808, product purchases from Ingram Micro, Inar,largest vendor, accounted
approximately 25%, 23%, and 24%, respectively,wftotal product purchases. Purchases from Teca Oatporation comprised 14%, 15%,
and 17% of our total product purchases in 20109280d 2008, respectively. Purchases from SynnegdZation comprised 12%, 11%, and
9% of our total product purchases in 2010, 200€,2008, respectively. Purchases from Hewlett-Patkarmpany comprised 9%, 10%, and
12% of our total product purchases in 2010, 2086, 2008, respectively. No other vendor suppliedertban 10% of our total product
purchases in 2010, 2009, or 2008.
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Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per common share is compusgigd) the weighted average number of shares odisgrDiluted earnings per share
is computed using the weighted average numberarestoutstanding adjusted for the incremental stettébuted to options outstanding to
purchase common stock, if dilutive. In periods ef loss, dilutive securities are antidilutive inozdating diluted loss per share due to opera
losses realized in the period and therefore aréncbtded in the calculation.

The following table sets forth the computation aéle and diluted earnings (loss) per share:

2010 2009 2008
Numerator:
Net income (loss $22,96 $(1,229) $10,36¢
Denominator
Denominator for basic earnings (loss) per sl 27,00 26,83: 26,82¢
Dilutive effect of employee stock optio 46 — 68
Denominator for diluted earnings (loss) per st 27,05: 26,83: 26,89¢
Earnings (loss) per shal
Basic $ 0.8F $ (0.05) $ 0.3¢
Diluted $ 0.8F $ (0.05) $ 0.3¢

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, s0f] &tk following unexercised stock options wereleded from the computation of
diluted earnings (loss) per share because theteffmdd have been anti-dilutive:

2010 2009 2008
Common stock option 7 1,17¢ 78¢€

~I

Recently I ssued Financial Accounting Standards

In October 2009, an update was mad&Revenue Recognition—Multiple Deliverable Reventrakgements.” This update removes the
objective-and-reliable-evidence-of-fair-value diiibe from the separation criteria used to determvhether an arrangement involving multiple
deliverables contains more than one unit of acdngnteplaces references to “fair value” with “g&l price” to distinguish from the fair value
measurements required under tRair Value Measurements and Disclosuregllidance, provides a hierarchy that entities mastta estimate
the selling price, eliminates the use of the resliduethod for allocation, and expands the ongoiaglasure requirements. This update is
effective beginning January 1, 2011 and can beiegplrospectively or retrospectively. We do notestthe implementation of this guidanc
have a material impact on our consolidated findrata&tements and will apply the update prospedtivel

2. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite bvare not amortized but are subject to an annyadimment test; these assets are tested
more frequently if events or circumstances occat would indicate a potential decline in fair vali&e goodwill impairment test, performec
a reporting unit level, is a twstep test that requires under the first test theatlatermine the fair value of our reporting unite have identifie
four reporting units, consisting of our four opérgtsegments. We determine the fair value of seplonting units using established income and
market valuation approaches.

In the fourth quarter of 2008, we experienced aedliin our net sales and the publicly quoted mfagur common stock. We deemed
these declines to be a triggering event as of Dbeei®l, 2008. We performed the
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first step of the impairment test and found thatfthir values of the SMB and Public Sector repgrtinits were less than the respective carr
values and thus a potential impairment of goodexlsted for both reporting units. The fair valuetloé Large Account reporting unit, however,
exceeded its carrying value, and accordingly, ngeiinment was indicated for this reporting unit. YWeceeded to the second step of the
impairment test to measure the amount, if anyhefilmpairment loss for the SMB and Public Sectporéng units. The second step of the
impairment test compares the implied fair valua oéporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amduwi that goodwill. If the carrying value of
the goodwill exceeds the implied fair value, a Issgecognized to the extent of such excess. Utidesecond step, we found a zero implied
value of goodwill for the SMB and Public Sectoragmg units, and as a result, we recognized araiment loss of $8,807, or $5,383 net of
taxes, in our operating results for the year eridecember 31, 2008.

We completed our annual goodwill and indefiniteetitrademark impairment test on the first day @f®®010, and 2011 for our Large
Account reporting unit. For each year, we determhithat its fair value exceeded its carrying valgd as a result, we did not identify any
impairment.

To determine the fair value of our Large Accoumtaiting unit, we considered its operating resuftd future projections, as well as
changes in the Company’s overall market capitabpafl he significant assumptions used in our disted cash flow analysis include:
projected cash flows and profitability, the discbrate used to present value future cash flowskingrcapital requirements, and terminal
growth rates. Cash flows and profitability assumpsiinclude sales growth, gross margin, and SG&AvgT assumptions which are generally
based on historical trends. The discount rate issadmarket participant” weighted average costagital (“WAAC"). For our computation of
fair value as of January 1, 2010, we used a WAAE 0613.5% and estimated terminal growth rate @¥band working capital requirement:
7.5% of revenues.

When completing the test on the first day of 2044 elected to carry forward the previous deternmmadf fair value for our Large
Account unit rather than reassess its fair valizabse we met the following requirements:
. The most recent fair value determination exceetledarrying amount by* substantial margi”

. Based on an analysis of the events that have fradsgince last year’s fair valuation, the likeldtbwas remote that the current fair
value would be less than the current carrying amofithe reporting unit

. The assets or liabilities of the reporting unit @aot changed significantly since the valuat

A roll forward of the carrying amount of goodwithfthe two years ended December 31, 2010 by afiydicgperating segment (and
reporting unit) is as follows:

Large Public
SMB Account Sector Total

Balance at January 1, 20(

Goodwiill $1,17: $48,06( $7,63¢ $56,86"

Accumulated impairment loss (1,177) — (7,634 (8,807)
Balance at December 31, 2C — 48,06( — 48,06(
Balance at December 31, 20:

Goodwill 1,17: 48,06( 7,63¢ 56,86

Accumulated impairment loss (1,179 — (7,639 (8,807

Net balance $ — $48,06( $ — $48,06(

Intangible assets not subject to amortization ctediof trademarks of $1,190 at both December @10 2nd 2009. We purchased a
licensing agreement for $800 in the first quarfe2@L0, which we are amortizing on a straight-lo@sis over the five-year license term.
Intangible assets subject to amortization at Decer8i,
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2010 consisted of the licensing agreement of $586¢f accumulated amortization of $204). Intargiéssets subject to amortization at
December 31, 2009 consisted of customer lists 6f(§8t of accumulated amortization of $5,130). Atization expense related to intangible
assets is recorded on a straight-line basis. Foydlars ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 200&ocesled amortization expense of $293,
$941, and $1,071, respectively.

The estimated amortization expense relating tditkasing agreement for each of the five succeegasgs and thereafter is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 $14C
2012 14C
2013 14C
2014 14C
2015 36

2016 and thereafte —

3. FAIR VALUE

Our financial instruments consist primarily of casid cash equivalents, accounts receivable, aralatspayable. The carrying value:
cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payabtexapate their fair values due to their short-tarature. We are required to measure fair
value under a fair value hierarchy that maximitesuse of observable inputs and minimizes the fisaabservable inputs. Observable inputs
are obtained from independent sources and canlioiatesl by a third party, whereas unobservabletspeflect assumptions regarding what a
third party would use in pricing an asset or lidilA financial instrument’s categorization withihe fair value hierarchy is based upon the
lowest level of input that is significant to therfaalue measurement. Three levels of inputs maydeel to measure fair value:

Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for idegltezssets or liabilities.
Level 2—Include other inputs that are directly mdirectly observable in the marketplace.
Level 3—Unobservable inputs which are supporteditby or no market activity.

We measure our cash equivalents at fair value Esdify such assets within Level 1 of the fair eahierarchy. The classification has
been determined based on the manner in which we\@lr cash equivalents, primarily using quotedketgprices for identical assets.

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring lzasisisted of the following types of instruments arate reported as cash equivalents at
December 31, 2010 and 2009:

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical
Instruments Inputs Inputs Total

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Balance

Assets
Cash Equivalents

Money market fund deposits at December 31, 2 $ 1,03¢ $ — $ — $ 1,03¢
Money market fund deposits at December 31, Z $ 30,02: $ — $ — $30,02:
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As discussed in Note 5, we abandoned the develapofi@CRM software module in the year ended Deaarth, 2009. We wrote off
the total amount capitalized of $11,609 becauséaihealue of the CRM software was deemed to ye as there was no alternative use or
salvage value. The measurement of the fair valeeaf and resulting charge is considered a Leugb@t.

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable consisted of the following:

December 31
2010 2009

Trade $230,18¢ $201,50°
Vendor returns, rebates, and ot 9,81¢ 16,89:
Advertising consideratio 3,89t 4,03:
Due from employee 191 182
Due from affiliates 4 4
Total 244,09¢ 222,61
Allowances for:

Sales return (3,244 (1,85%)
Doubtful account: (2,84)) (2,66%)
Accounts receivable, n $238,01: $218,09!

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31,

2010 2009

Facilities and equipment under capital lease witilice $ 7,21t $ 7,21t
Leasehold improvemen 7,031 7,61(
Furniture and equipmel 25,96¢ 26,78:
Computer software, including licenses and intey- developed softwar 36,40« 35,04(
Automobiles 197 22¢
Total 76,81 76,88:
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (63,31) (64,46
Property and equipment, r $ 13,50( $ 12,42

We recorded depreciation and amortization expanskiding capital lease amortization, of $5,137,855, and $5,894 for the years
ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, resplgctive

In 2009, we ceased further development of an iatBraeveloped CRM software module as a resultdehtified significant increases in
the estimated costs to complete and significargresions of delivery schedules. We further deterchthat we would not realize any future
cash flows from this CRM module, and as a resudty@corded, as a special charge, a non-cash astebff of $11,609 representing the CF
module’s capitalized cost.

6. SPECIAL CHARGES

In 2009, we recorded a special charge of $11,68ichwconsisted of a non-cash asset write-off of, 19 representing the write-off of
the abandoned CRM software’s capitalized cost & related restructuring costs. See Note 5dathér discussion.
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In 2009 and 2008, we recorded charges of $1,14%a#81, respectively, related to workforce redut&nd management restructuring
costs, classified as workforce reductions and dthdre table below.

A roll forward of liabilities related to special atges for the three years ended December 31, 23Gstdivn below.

Workforce
Reductions CRM
Asset
& Other Write-Off Total
Balance, January 1, 20! $ 541 $ — $ 541
Charges 1,431 — 1,431
Cash Payment (708 — (70¢8)
Balance, December 31, 20 1,264 — 1,26¢
Charges 1,14t 11,68! 12,82¢
Adjustments (16) (11,609 (11,625
Cash Paymeni (2,04)) (72) (2,119
Balance, December 31, 20 352 — 352
Adjustments — — —
Cash Payment (339 — (336)
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 16 $ — $ 16

Non-cash special charges in 2009 totaled $11,68%enreflected as an “adjustment” in the aboviefoolvard. Liabilities at
December 31, 2010 were reported as accrued payrahe consolidated balance sheet. Liabilitiesetdbnber 31, 2009 consisted of $23 in
accrued expenses and other liabilities, $312 afuectpayroll, and $17 of non-current other lialgbton the consolidated balance sheet.

7. BANK BORROWINGS

We have a $50,000 credit facility collateralizedsopstantially all of our assets. This facility danincreased, at our option, to $80,000
for approved acquisitions or other uses authorizethe lender at substantially the same terms. Ansoutstanding under this facility bear
interest at the prime rate (3.25% at December @10R The facility also gives us the option of abiteg Eurodollar Rate Loans in multiples of
$1,000 for various short-term durations. The créatitlity includes various customary financial catiand operating covenants, including
minimum net worth and maximum funded debt ratiacureEements, and restrictions on the payment of @inab to shareholders, repurchase of
our common stock, and default acceleration promisimone of which we believe significantly ressiour operations. Funded debt ratio is the
ratio of average outstanding advances under ttibtdeeility to EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest pense, Taxes, Depreciation, and
Amortization). The maximum allowable funded delitcainder the agreement is 2.0 to 1.0. Borrowingen the credit facility in the fourth
quarter were minimal in amount and duration, andeveero at December 31, 2010, and accordingly &oahcial ratio did not limit potential
borrowings at December 31, 2010. Decreases inansatidated EBITDA, however, could limit our potiehtorrowings under the credit
facility.

No borrowings were outstanding under this creditlitg at December 31, 2010 or 2009, and accordinje entire $50,000 facility was
available for borrowing at both dates. The credlifilfty matures on October 15, 2012, at which tem@unts outstanding become due.
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Certain information with respect to short-term loarings was as follows:

Weighted

Average Maximum Average

Interest Amount Amount
Year ended December 31, Rate Outstanding Outstanding
2010 3.2% $ 5,00C $ 58
2009 3.3 20,50¢ 94
2008 6.S 9,687 167

8. TRADE CREDIT AGREEMENTS

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, we had securityeageats with two financial institutions to faciliathe purchase of inventory from
various suppliers under certain terms and conditidihe agreements allow a collateralized firstfpmsiin certain branded products inventory
financed by the financial institutions up to an emg@ted amount of $45,000. The cost of such fimenanhder these agreements is borne by the
suppliers by discounting their invoices to the figial institutions as an incentive for us to puséheir products. We do not pay any intere
discount fees on such inventory financing. At DebenB1, 2010 and 2009, accounts payable includéb®2 and $11,406, respectively, ov
to these financial institutions.

9. CAPITAL LEASE

In November 1997, we entered into a fifteen-yeaséefor our corporate headquarters with an entitgrolled by our principal
stockholders. We occupied the facility upon conipledf construction in late November 1998, andl#@se payments commenced in
December 1998.

Annual lease payments under the terms of the leas@nended, are approximately $911 for the fivstyfears of the lease, increasing to
$1,025 for years six through ten and $1,139 foryeteven through fifteen. The lease requires ymyoour proportionate share of real estate
taxes and common area maintenance charges eithetlylto providers or as additional rent and a@tspay insurance premiums for the leased
property. We have the option to renew the leasénoradditional terms of five years each. The ldes®been recorded as a capital lease.

The net book value of capital lease assets wa®$BAd $1,884 as of December 31, 2010 and 20Q%cteely.

Future aggregate minimum annual lease payments tineleapital lease at December 31, 2010 are vl

Year Ending December 31 Payment:
2011 $1,13¢
2012 1,13¢
2013 1,04t
2014 and thereafte —

Total minimum payments (excluding taxes, mainteeaaad insurance 3,32:
Less amount representing inter 492
Present value of minimum lease payme 2,83(
Less current maturities (excluding intere 87C
Long-term portion $ 1,96(
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10. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND SHARE -BASED COMPENSATION
Preferred Stock

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporafihe “Restated Certificate”) authorizes the ésse of up to 10,000 shares of
preferred stock, $.01 par value per share (thefémed Stock”). Under the terms of the Restatedifite, the Board is authorized, subject to
any limitations prescribed by law, without stockde approval, to issue by a unanimous vote suctesitd Preferred Stock in one or more
series. Each such series of Preferred Stock shedl buch rights, preferences, privileges, andicéistis, including voting rights, dividend
rights, redemption privileges, and liquidation ereihces, as shall be determined by the Board. Weme no preferred shares outstanding at
December 31, 2010 or 2009.

Share Repurchase Authorization

On March 28, 2001, our Board of Directors authatitee spending of up to $15,000 to repurchase awmnwon stock. Share purchases
will be made in the open market from time to tinepending on market conditions. Our current bank ¢icredit, however, limits repurchases
made after June 2005 to $10,000 without bank agbivhigher amounts.

We repurchased 423 shares for $2,857 in 2010, &&@slior $353 in 2009, and 196 shares for $1,42908. As of December 31, 2010,
we have repurchased an aggregate of 1,060 shar®6,8215. The maximum approximate dollar valuehafres that may yet be purchased u
the program without further bank approval is $5,34% have issued nonvested shares from treaswly atwl have reflected upon the vesting
of such shares the net remaining balance of trgasack on the consolidated balance sheet. Iniaddive withheld 32 shares, having an
aggregate fair value of $210, upon the vestingoviviested stock to satisfy related employee taxgahitins during the year ended Decembe
2010. Such transactions were recognized as a ieggef common stock and returned to treasury doabtl apply against authorized
repurchase limits under our bank line agreementBaatd of Directors’ authorization.

Equity Compensation Plan Descriptions

In November 1997, the Board adopted and the stddkr®approved the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (897 Plan”). Under the terms of
the 1997 Plan, we were authorized, for a ten-yedog, to grant stock options, nonvested stock,ahdr stock-based awards. The 1997 Plan
expired in November 2007. Under such plan, opttoraurchase 498 shares remain outstanding as @&frbleer 31, 2010.

In 2007, the Board adopted and our stockholdersoapp the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Origid@07 Plan”). A total of 500 shares
was authorized for issuance by stockholders udde©tiginal 2007 Plan. In April 2009, the Board ptal an amendment to, and restatement
of, the Original 2007 Plan, to among other thingstease the number of shares of common stockvesdor issuance to 700 shares. Our
shareholders approved the Amended and Restated206k Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan”) in June 20® May 2010, our shareholders
approved an amendment to the 2007 Plan to incfea®e700 to 1,000 the number of shares of commocksauthorized for issuance under
the 2007 Plan. Under the terms of the 2007 Plarane@uthorized, for a ten-year period to granioogt stock appreciation rights, nonvested
stock, nonvested stock units, and other stock-bagedds to employees, officers, directors, and witansts. As of December 31, 2010, there
were 204 shares eligible for future grants under2®07 Plan.

1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In November 1997, the Board adopted and the stddklmapproved the 1997 Employee Stock Purchase(fla “Purchase Plan”),
which became effective on February 1, 1999. Thelage Plan authorizes the issuance of common Bigekticipating employees. Under the
Purchase Plan, as amended, our employees ardesligipurchase company stock at 95% of the purcpase as of the last business day of
each six-month offering period. An aggregate of 888res of common stock has been reserved fomissumder the Purchase Plan, of which
830 shares have been purchased.
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Accounting for Share-Based Compensation

We measure the grant date fair value of equity da/given to employees and recognize that coststatjifor forfeitures, over the period
that services are performed.

We record share-based compensation costs as aitteenponent of SG&A expenses or, when applicalsle, special charge related to
management restructuring. In 2008 and 2010, wetgdaroth stock options and nonvested stock, a2@@9, we granted only nonvested stock.
Such awards vest over varying periods of up to j@ars and have contractual lives of ten years.

We employ the Black-Scholes option valuation mddedssess the grant date fair value of each ogtiant. We value each grant as a
single award. The application of this model reqaizertain key input assumptions, including expeetddtility, option term, and risk-free
interest rates. Expected volatility is based onhilseorical volatility of our common stock. The eqted term of an option grant is estimated
using the historical exercise behavior of employa®s directors. The riskee interest rate for periods within the contrattife of the option i
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve correspgnihinhe stock option’s expected average life. \&tereate expected forfeitures based upon
historical patterns of employee turnover. The keyghted-average assumptions we used to apply ticieg model for the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2008 are as follows:

2010 2008
Risk-free interest rat 2.26% 3.04%
Volatility 68.01¥% 57.89¥%
Expected life of option gran 4.5 year 4.8 year
Dividend yield 0% 0%

The following table summarizes the components afetbased compensation recorded as expense fitwéeeyears ended December 31,
2010:

2010 2009 2008

Stock options $ 76¢ $ 78€ $ 88:
Nonvested share 762 634 94(
Pre-tax compensation expen 1,531 1,42( 1,82
Tax benefil (479 (420) (544)
Net effect on net incom $1,05¢€ $1,00( $1,27¢

We have historically settled stock option exerciséh newly issued common shares. The intrinsicigalf options exercised in 2010 and
2008 was $122 and $83, respectively, and no opti@re exercised in 2009.

The following table sets forth our stock optioniity for the year ended December 31, 2010:

Weighted
Average Aggregate
Option Weighted Remaining
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price Term (Years) Value
Outstanding, January 1, 20 91€ $ 12.2¢
Granted 13t 6.5¢
Exercisec (89 7.4¢
Expired (148 27.2]
Outstanding, December 31, 20 814 9.1(C 6.0€ $ 1,05¢
Vested and expected to vi 754 9.1¢ 5.9C 96¢€
Exercisable, December 31, 20 594 9.57 5.24 69¢€
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The weighted-average grant date fair values oboptgranted in 2010 and 2008 were $3.65 and $re4pectively. Total exercisable
options and their weighted average exercise ptiGeaember 31, 2009 were 698 shares at $12.8%hpee.sUnearned compensation cost
related to the unvested portion of outstandingkstiations as of December 31, 2010 was $468 anxbisated to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of approximately two years.

We have issued nonvested stock awards from treasoek in each of the three years ended Decemh&(3D. Recipients of nonvested
stock possess the rights of stockholders, inclugisting rights and the right to receive dividendé recognize expense associated with stock
awards ratably over the respective vesting peridéisuse the end of day market value of our comnbackn the grant date to determine the
fair value of nonvested stock. The following tablanmarizes our nonvested shares activity as ofideee31, 2010:

Weighted-
Average

Grant

Date

Fair

Shares Value
Nonvested at January 1, 20 32z $ 6.3¢
Awarded 50 4.87
Vested (130 6.8€
Nonvested at December 31, 2C 242 5.7¢€

The weighted-average grant-date fair values of astad stock awards granted in 2009 and 2008 webd $hd $9.04, respectively. The
total fair values of nonvested shares that vest&d10, 2009, and 2008 were $859, $576, and $4%pectively. Unearned compensation cost
related to the nonvested portion of outstandingvasted stock as of December 31, 2010 was $784sagxhiected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of approximately two years.

11. INCOME TAXES
The provision for income taxes consisted of théofeing:

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Current:

Federal $11,06¢ $1,51¢ $7,28¢
State 2,841 502 1,10¢
Total curren 13,90 2,021 8,39:
Deferred:

Federal 1,58¢ (1,40¢6) (960)
State (63 (70) 20¢
Net deferrec 1,522 (1,476 (75))
Net provision $15,42¢ $ 54t $7,64:
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The components of the deferred taxes at Decemhe&03D and 2009 are as follows:

2010 2009
Current:

Provisions for doubtful accoun $ 1,14¢ $ 1,02t
Inventory costs capitalized for tax purpo 163 141
Inventory and sales returns reser 534 50¢
Deductible expenses, primarily emplo-benefit relatec 2717 25¢
State tax contingency and other accri 917 68t
Other 774 76¢
Net deferred tax as«—current $ 3,81 $ 3,38¢
Non-Current:

Compensation under n-statutory stock option agreeme $ 84z $ 70¢
State tax loss carryforwar: 611 67€
State tax credit carryforwart 558 63C
Goodwill and other intangible (7,940 (6,127
Property and equipme (540) (430)
Federal benefit for uncertain state tax positi 80C 80¢
Capitalized softwar 52t 64€
Deferred revenu — 262
Subtotal (5,149 (2,820
Valuation allowanct (679 (1,029
Net deferred tax liabilit—nor-current (5,827) (3,84¢
Net deferred tax liabilit $(2,009 $ (469

The state tax credit carryforwards are availableftset future state income taxes in years witliicgieht state income levels to create
creditable tax and within the applicable carryfordvperiod for these credits. Total tax credit chorywards aggregated $850 and $969 at
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Theshts@re subject to a five-year carryforward penigth $280 expiring beginning in 2011,
$172in 2012, $9 in 2014, and $389 in 2015. Addgity, certain of our subsidiaries have state pefrating loss carryforwards aggregating
$940 at December 31, 2010, and representing stateenefits, net of federal taxes, of approxima$8§1. These loss carryforwards are sul
to five- and twentyyear carryforward periods, with $33, $22, $20, &6dexpiring from 2011 through 2014 respectivelyd 8859 expiring afte
2015. We have provided valuation allowances of $678$1,029 at December 31, 2010 and 2009 respbgtagainst the state tax credit and
state tax loss carryforwards, representing theigrodf carryforward credits and losses that wedwaiare not likely to be realized. The net
change in the valuation allowance in 2010 includedduction of $356 related to the utilization axgiration of state net operating loss
carryforwards and state tax credit carryforwardse $411 change in the valuation allowance in 2@@®asents a reduction related to the
expiration of state net operating loss carryfongaadd state tax credit carryforwards. The $643 gham the valuation allowance in 2008
represents a reduction related to the expiraticstaie net operating loss carryforwards and séateredit carryforwards.

A reconciliation of our 2010, 2009, and 2008 incadi@e provision to total income taxes at the statufederal tax rate is as follows:

2010 2009 2008
Federal income taxes, at statutory tax $13,43¢ $(237) $6,30:
State income taxes, net of federal ber 1,802 24¢ 907
Nondeductible expens: 161 43¢ 218
Othe—net 30 10C 21¢
Tax provision, at effective income tax r: $15,42¢ $ 54¢ $7,64:
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We file one consolidated United States federalimedax return that includes all of our subsidiadgesvell as several consolidated,
combined, and separate company returns in manystat tax jurisdictions. The tax years 2006-2@8ain open to examination by the major
state taxing jurisdictions in which we file. An émbal Revenue Service (“IRS”) audit of the 2005year was settled in 2008. The tax years
2007-2009 remain open to examination by the IRS.

A reconciliation of unrecognized tax benefits f@1D, 2009, and 2008, is as follows:

2010 2009 2008
Balance at January $2,18: $2,27¢ $2,36¢
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal — 40 12¢
Additions based on tax positions of prior ye — — 96
Reductions based on tax positions of prior y (6) (90) —

Lapses of applicable statute of limitatic (38E) (43) (317)
Balance at December 2 $1,791 $2,182 $2,27¢

We recognize interest and penalties related tocagmized income tax benefits as a component ohigctax expense, and the
corresponding accrual is included as a componeatiofiability for unrecognized income tax benefisiring the years ended December 31,
2010, 2009, and 2008, we recognized interest andltes totaling $185, 188, and $556, respectivétyDecember 31, 2010 and 2009, accrued
interest aggregated $1,017 and $1,033, respectiaetyaccrued penalties aggregated $318 and $33tkatively. During the year ended
December 31, 2010, we reduced our unrecognizebemefits by $196 for interest and penalties rel&dddpses of applicable statute of
limitations. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009,ureecognized tax benefits and the related interedtpenalties, which would favorably
affect our effective tax rate, if recognized, ate892 and $1,818, respectively.

We do not anticipate that total unrecognized tenefies will change significantly due to the settksmh of audits, expiration of statute of
limitations, or other reasons in the next twelvenths.

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

We have a contributory profit-sharing and emplogaeings plan covering all qualified employees. Motdbutions to the profit-sharing
element of the plan were made by us in 2010, 2602008. Given the decline in IT spending expergehinn 2009, we suspended, effective
July 1, 2009, employer-matching contributions t® émployee savings element of such plan. We madehing contributions of $1,103 in
2008 and $595 during the first six months of 2@®ective January 1, 2011, we reinstated the emgslayatching contribution.

13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating Leases

In August 2008, we entered into an operating legseement with an entity controlled by our printigtackholders for an office facility
adjacent to our corporate headquarters. The lessa term of ten years and provides us the oppioartew for two additional two-year terms.
The lease requires us to pay our proportionateestfareal estate taxes and common area mainteicaacges either as additional rent or
directly to third-parties and also to pay insurapsemiums for the leased property. We also leagerakother buildings from our principal
stockholders on a month-to-month basis. We belikaethe above leasing transactions were consundnoatéerms comparable to terms we
could have obtained with unrelated third parties.

In addition, we lease office, distribution faciit, and equipment from unrelated parties with ramgiterms of one to three years.
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Future aggregate minimum annual lease payments tinelee leases at December 31, 2010 are as follows:

Year Ending December 31 Related Parties Others Total

2011 $ 22¢ $2,12i $2,352
2012 22F 70€ 931
2013 22F 45 27C
2014 22F — 22F
2015 22¢ — 22¢
2016 and thereafte 582 — 582

Total rent expense aggregated $2,594, $3,137, 2y71@% for the years ended December 31, 2010, 20@D2008, respectively, under the
terms of the leases described above. Such amawhisied $380, $360, and $358 in 2010, 2009, an8,2@8pectively, paid to related parties.

Sports Marketing Agreements

We have entered into multi-year sponsorship agratsmeith the New England Patriots and the Bostod &ex that extend to 2013 and
2014, respectively. These agreements grant ususanmrketing rights and seating arrangements.

Future aggregate minimum annual payments requindénthese agreements as of December 31, 2016 &okoavs:

Year Ending December 31 Total
2011 $93¢E
2012 39¢€
2013 40¢
2014 and thereafte 114

Total marketing expense payments under agreemaéifitshese organizations aggregated $879, $517$ar&80 for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectiveljertne terms of the agreements described above.

Contingencies

We are subject to various legal proceedings arithslancluding patent infringement claims, whictvlarisen during the ordinary cou
of business. In the opinion of management, theaa&cof such matters is not expected to have a rmbgdfect on our financial position, rest
of operations, and cash flows.

We are subject to audits by states on sales andh@ctaxes, unclaimed property, employment matserd,other assessments. A
comprehensive multi-state unclaimed property aisditirrently in progress, and total accruals foglaimed property aggregated $1,595 and
$1,133 at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectivéhyle management believes that known and estimabilities have been adequately
provided for, it is too early to determine the misite outcome of such audits. Additional liabilitesild be assessed, and such outcome could
have a material negative impact on our financiaifom, results of operations, and cash flows.
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14. OTHER RELATED -PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As described in Notes 9 and 13, we have leasedindécilities from related parties. Other relafgatty transactions include the
transactions summarized below. We believe suclé@ions were consummated on terms comparablents tge could have obtained with
unrelated third parties. Related parties consistgmily of affiliated companies related to us thghucommon ownership.

201C 200¢ 200¢
Revenue
Sales of services to affiliated compar $82 $61 $22

15. SEGMENT AND RELATED DISCLOSURES

We are required to report profits and losses anghioeother information about our “reportable opeg segments” in our annual and
interim financial statements. The internal repaytatructure used by our chief operating decisioken§'CODM”) to assess performance and
allocate resources determines the basis for owrtape operating segments. Our CODM is our Chiafdative Officer, and she evaluates
operations and allocates resources based on a rmedxaperating income.

In January 2010, we formed a new sales company;#ection Express, Inc., to focus on the consumdrSOHO customer. This new
operating segment is comprised of inbound salegseptatives, certain internet support staff, andagement. Prior period sales and oper:
results relating to consumer and SOHO customers vegrorted within our SMB segment. We have revisedeporting of operating segments
to reflect the new basis for assessing performandeallocating resources. Under this revised r@mpdtructure, the operating results related to
our consumer and SOHO customers that were formmeelyded within the SMB segment are now reportgehsstely under the new
Consumer/SOHO segment.

Our operations are organized under four reportegggreents—the SMB segment, which primarily servedismad medium-sized
businesses; the Large Account segment, which pilyrsarves medium-to-large corporations; the Pukctor segment, which serves federal,
state, and local government and educational intits, and the Consumer/SOHO segment, which séineesonsumer and SOHO markets. In
addition, the Headquarters/Other group providegices in areas such as finance, human resourdesniation technology, product
management, and marketing. Most of the operatisgsassociated with the Headquarters/Other grougtifins are charged to the operating
segments based on their estimated usage of thelyind€functions. We report these charges to therating segments as “Allocations.”

Certain of the headquarters costs relating to ékecoversight and other fiduciary functions theg aot allocated to the operating segments are
included under the heading of Headquarters/Oth#rariables below.
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Segment information applicable to our reportablerapng segments for the years ended Decembel030, 2009, and 2008 is shown

below:

Net sales

Operating income (loss) before allocati
Allocations

Operating income (lost

Net interest expense and other,
Income before taxe

Selected Operating Expens
Depreciation and amortizatic

Balance Sheet Dati

Total asset
Goodwill

Net sales

Operating income (loss) before allocati
Allocations

Operating income (los:
Net interest expense and other,
Loss before taxe

Selected Operating Expen:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Special charge

Balance Sheet Dat:i

Total asset

Goodwill

Year Ended December 31, 201

Consumer;
Large Public Headquarters

SMB Account Sector SOHO
Segment Segment Segment Segment /Other Consolidated
$833,43: $603,17° $462,88( $ 74,70¢ $1,974,19
$ 68,02¢ $ 30,71 $22,31¢ $ (3,00 $ (79,379) $ 38,667
(40,644 (4,355 (18,169 (3,959 67,117 —
$ 27,38 $2635 $ 415( $(6,96) $ (12,26) $ 38,66:
(277)
$ 3839
$ 52 $ 44: % 10¢ — $ 482¢ $ 5,43(
$139,86¢ $151,50:0 $64,39¢ $ 359¢ $ 6157¢ $ 420,94
_ 48,06( — — 48,06(

Year Ended December 31, 200
Consumer;
Large Public Headquarters

SMB Account Sector SOHO
Segment Segment Segment Segment /Other Consolidated
$657,03¢  $427,89. $389,297 $95,43( $1,569,65!
$ 48,41¢ $18,74F $1762( $ (3249 $ (8514) $ (684)
(35,237 (3,250 (17,080 (5,100 60,66: -
$ 13,18 $1549F $ 54C $ (542 $ (24,480 (684)
7
$ (677
$ 18¢ $ 1212 % 11€ — $ 527t % 6,79¢
112 107 12€ — 12,47¢ 12,82¢
$155,12¢ $144,50¢ $ 77,18¢ 50C $ 23,76¢ $ 401,09
— 48,06( — — — 48,06(
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Year Ended December 31, 200

Consumer/
Large Public Headquarters
SMB Account Sector SOHO

Segment Segment Segment Segment /Other Consolidated
Net sales $811,98° $475,29( $359,32¢ $107,06! $1,753,68!
Operating income (loss) before allocatit $60,97¢ $ 25100 $ 6,03 $ 1,847 $ (76,090 $ 17,87¢
Allocations (40,509 (2,927 (14,33%) (5,717 63,48 —
Operating income (los: $2047: $ 22,18 $ (8,309) $ (3,870 $ (12,609 17, 87¢
Net interest expense and other, 13C
Income before taxe $ 18,00¢
Selected Operating Expen:
Depreciation and amortizatic $ 28 $ 1,32 $ 16z — $ 5197 $ 6,96¢
Goodwill impairment 1,17¢ — 7,634 — — 8,801
Special charge 12 — 43 — 1,37¢ 1,431

Our operating segments’ assets presented aboviestprimarily of accounts receivable, intercompaegeivable, goodwill, and other
intangibles. Assets for the Headquarters/Othergere managed by corporate headquarters, inclwgislg, inventory, and property and
equipment. Total assets for the Headquarters/@itoerp are presented net of intercompany balanéeietions of $46,111 and $61,139 for
the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respecOur capital expenditures are largely comgulisf IT hardware and software
purchased to maintain or upgrade our managemesrniattion systems. These systems serve all of dagidiaries, to varying degrees, and as a
result, our CODM does not evaluate capital expenelt on a segment basis.

Senior management also monitors revenue by pradixcNotebook and PDA; Desktop/Server; Softwarejadi, Imaging, and Sound,;
Net/Com Product; Printer and Printer Supplies; &erDevice; Memory and System Enhancements; anes&ocies/Other

Net sales by product mix are presented below:

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Product Mix
Notebook and PD/ $ 342,19 $ 234,31t $ 270,80¢
Desktop/Serve 308,26: 212,08t 233,34¢
Software 280,87: 219,56° 225,29°
Video, Imaging and Sour 227,65¢ 212,88! 260,70:
Net/Com Produc 192,62 167,28 184,10t
Printers and Printer Suppli 157,02¢ 133,85 159,41
Storage Devici 144,53: 128,94( 152,65(
Memory and System Enhanceme 83,771 60,30: 63,43¢
Accessories/Othe 237,25! 200,41¢ 203,91¢
Total $1,974,19i $1,569,65! $1,753,68!

Substantially, all of our sales in 2010, 2009, 26688 were made to customers located in the Unitak& Shipments to customers
located in foreign countries aggregated less tR&nn2010, 2009, and 2008. All of our assets atdbsmer 31, 2010 and 2009 were located in
the United States. Our primary target customersSMBs comprised of 20 to 1,000 employees, fedstate, and local government agencies,
educational institutions,
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medium-to-large corporate accounts, and consumé&tEONo single customer other than the federal gowent accounted for more than 3%
of total net sales in 2010, 2009, and 2008. Netsst the federal government in 2010, 2009, an® 20&re $189,797, $154,835, and $134,836,
or 9.6%, 9.9%, and 7.7% of total net sales, respyt

16. SELECTED UNAUDITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL RESULTS

The following table sets forth certain unauditecderly data of the Company for each of the caleqdarters in 2010 and 2009. This
information has been prepared on the same batfie @ nual financial statements and all necesshingtments, consisting only of normal
recurring adjustments, have been included in theuats stated below to present fairly the selecteattgrly information when read in
conjunction with the annual financial statementd #e notes thereto included elsewhere in this ehecu. The quarterly operating results are
not necessarily indicative of future results of igtiens.

Quarters Ended

March 31, June 30,
2010 2010 2010 2010

Net sales $408,26: $477,54t $ 532,82 $ 555,56:
Cost of sale: 359,61: 421,56« 470,85t 492,26°
Gross profil 48,65! 55,98: 61,97: 63,29¢
Selling, general and administrative exper 44,474 47,50 47,64( 51,61¢
Income from operation 4,17 8,481 14,33 11,67¢
Interest expens (99) (95) (111) (18%)
Other, ne 75 35 49 54
Income before taxe 4,15% 8,421 14,26¢ 11,547
Income tax provisiol (1,719 (3,399 (5,649 (4,669
Net income $ 2,43« $ 5,028 $  8,62¢ $ 6,87¢
Weighted average common shares outstan

Basic 27,157 27,11¢ 26,93¢ 26,82:
Diluted 27,19: 27,15¢ 26,97 26,88t¢
Earnings per common sha

Basic $ 0.0¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.32 $ 0.2¢
Diluted $ 0.0¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.32 $ 0.2¢
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Net sales
Cost of sale:

Gross profi
Selling, general and administrative exper
Special charge

(Loss) income from operatiol
Interest expens
Other, ne

(Loss) income before tax:
Income tax benefit (provisiot

Net (loss) incom

Weighted average common shares outstans
Basic

Diluted

(Loss) earnings per common she
Basic

Diluted
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Quarters Ended

March 31,
2009

$326,22:
284,61
41,61
43,28¢
891
(2,56¢)
(134)
19¢
(2,509)
88t

$ (1,619

26,81¢
26,81¢

$  (0.06)
$ (0.06)

September 3C

December 31

June 30,

2009 2009 2009
$377,26: $ 403,05: $ 463,12
332,92( 356,70t 410,62:

44,34 46,341 52,49¢

42,11¢ 41,26 45,98¢

12,06¢ — (129)

(9,840 5,081 6,64¢

(152) (99) (132)
16C 93 72

(9,83:) 5,07t 6,58¢

3,37¢ (2,186 (2,617
$ (6,459 $ 2,88¢ $ 3,967

26,81¢ 27,07¢ 27,15¢

26,81¢ 27,09t 27,18
$ (0.29 $ 0.11 $ 0.1F
$ (0.29 $ 0.11 $ 0.1°F
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PC CONNECTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(amountsin thousands)

Description
Allowance for Sales Returr

Year Ended December 31, 2C
Year Ended December 31, 2C
Year Ended December 31, 20

Allowance for Doubtful Account
Year Ended December 31, 2C
Year Ended December 31, 2C
Year Ended December 31, 2C

S-1

Balance a

Beginning Charged tc Deductions,

of Period Operations Write- Offs

$ 2,14¢ $ 34,65: $ (34,666
2,12¢ 29,70( (29,97)
1,857 36,49t (35,108

$ 3,94t $ 2,271 $ (3,129
3,10¢ 2,35¢ (2,789
2,66¢ 2,37: (2,196

Balance a

End of
Period

$ 2,12¢
1,857
3,241

$ 3,10C
2,66¢
2,841



Exhibit 10.3€
AMENDMENT NO. 10 TO LEASE

THIS AGREEMENT made this 29tthay of September20 10, by and between EWE WAREHOUSE INVESTMENTS V, LTBs,
Lessor and MERRIMACK SERVICES CORPORATION dba PCNONEECTION SERVICES, as Lessee located at 2780-28808tate Route
73, Wilmington, Ohio 45177.

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Lessor and Lessee entered into a Leasd @&#ptember 27, 1990, as amended June 28, 19981J1998, June 26,
2000, July 31, 2002, February 28, 2005, Octobe2@66, January 28, 2009, October 13, 2009 and Bepf) 2010, and

WHEREAS, the Lessor and Lessee desire to amenideifige of approximately 102,400 square feet to elxtiee Term, revise the
Rent and revise Option to Renew.

NOW THEREFORE, the Lease is amended as follows.
1. Article 1. TERM. shall be revised as follows.

Effective March 1, 2011, the term of this Leaselldbam extended for an additional one (1) year ftotal term of twenty (21) years,
two (2) months commencing January 1, 1991 and @rigébruary 29, 2012, both dates inclusive.

2. Lessee warrants that Lessee has accepted nod is) possession of the Premises and that theelisaglid and presently in full
force and effect. Lessee accepts the Premises [masent “as is” condition.

3. Article 4. RENT. shall be revised as follows.

For the one (1) year period commencing March 11281d ending February 29, 2012, the Lessee shaliopthe Lessor as Annual
Rent for the Leased Premises the sum of FOUR HUNDRBIRTY-FIVE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED AND 04/100 DOLLRS
($435,200.04) which shall be paid in equal monthstallments of THIRTY-SIX THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED SIKY-SIX AND 67/100
DOLLARS ($36,266.67), due and payable on the @iest of each month, in advance, without demand.



Checks should be made payable to Easton & Assadidémagement Account c/o The Easton Group, 10168 N9t St., Miami,
FL 33172. Said rent shall be paid to the Lessotp dine duly authorized agent of the Lessor, atfise during business hours. If the
commencement date of this Lease is other thanmgtedfly of the month, any rental adjustment oritamlthl rents hereinafter provided for shall
be prorated accordingly. The Lessee will pay timt as herein provided, without deduction whatsoeaed without any obligation of the
Lessor to make demand for it. Any installment oftr@ccruing hereunder and any other sum payab&uhder, if not paid when due, shall bear
interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%ppaum until paid.

Section 2Shall remain the same.
Section 3Shall remain the same.

4. The following OPTION TO RENEWSshall be revised.

Lessee is hereby granted two (2) Options to Rehénlease for an additional term of one (1) yeacheon the same terms and
conditions contained herein except for the rental the length of the term, upon the conditions:that

a. written notice of the exercise of such optioallshe given by Lessee to Lessor not less tharhondred twenty (120) days prior
to the end of the term of this Lease (October 81,12and October 31, 2012 respectively); and

b. at the time of the giving of such notice anthatexpiration of the term of this Lease, thererarelefaults in the covenants,
agreements, terms and conditions on the part cfdee® be kept and performed, and all rents ardnawnel been fully paid. Provided also, that
the rent to be paid during each of the said ren@&abds shall be as follows:

First Renewal Period (March 1, 2012 thru Februdy2®13)

For the period commencing March 1, 2012 and enBelguary 28, 2013, the Lessee shall pay to thedressAnnual Rent for the
Leased Premises the sum of FOUR HUNDRED FORTY-EIGHDUSAND FIVE HUNDRED TWELVE AND 00/100 DOLLARS
($448,512.00) which shall be paid in equal month$tallments of THIRTY-SEVEN THOUSAND THREE HUNDREBEVENTY-SIX AND
00/100 DOLLARS ($37,376.00), due and payable orfitkeday of each month, in advance, without dethan

Second Renewal Period (March 1, 2013 thru Febr2@yp014)

For the period commencing March 1, 2013 and enBalguary 28, 2014, the Lessee shall pay to thedcessAnnual Rent for the
Leased Premises the sum of FOUR HUNDRED SI-ONE



THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED TWENTY-THREE AND 96/100 DOLARS ($461,823.96) which shall be paid in equal rhiynt
installments of THIRTY-EIGHT THOUSAND FOUR HUNDREBIGHTY-FIVE AND 33/100 DOLLARS ($38,485.33), duechpayable on
the first day of each month, in advance, withouhded.

5. Except as expressly amended herein, all otherstand conditions of the Lease remain in full éoand effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Lessor and Lessee haveeaftheir signatures to duplicates of this Amendinidais 29th day of
September 20 10as to Lessee and this 6th day of October, 20ako Lessor.

Signed and acknowledg: Lessor: EWE WAREHOUSE INVESTMENTS V, LTD
in the presence o By MV Realty, Inc.
Its: Managing Agen

/S/ CHARLES A. MCCOSH By: /S/ BARBARA J. GILMORE
Charles A. McCosl| Barbara J. Gilmor
Print Name Authorized Signe
/S/ KELLI L. WILSON
Kelli L. Wilson
Print Name
LESSEE: MERRIMACK SERVICES CORPORATIO!
dba PC CONNECTION SERVICE
/S/ PAMELA J. CARTER By: /S/ ROBERT PRATT
Pamela J. Carte Robert Prat
Print Name Title: Vice President of Facilities/Site Servic

/S/ MICHELLE L. GAUTHIER
Michelle L. Gauthier
Print Name

[NOTARY ON NEXT PAGE...]



STATE OF OHIO, COUNTY OF MONTGOMERY, SS:

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged beforghise6thday of October 20 10, by Barbara J. Gilmore, Authorized Signe
MV Realty, Inc., Managing Agent of EWE WAREHOUSEVHESTMENTS V, LTD., on behalf of said company.

/S/ THERESA B. LYON
Notary Public

STATE OF_New HampshireCOUNTY OF Hillsborough SS:

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged beforghise?9th day of September, 20 18y Robert Pratt, the Vice President of
Facilities and Site Services of MERRIMACK SERVICE®RPORATION dba PC CONNECTION SERVICES, a corporatin behalf of
said corporation.

/S/ DOLORES R. COLLINS
NOTARY PUBLIC




Exhibit 10.43
AMENDMENT NO. 6 TO LEASE

THIS AGREEMENT made this 20ttiay of May, 2010, by and between EWE WAREHOUSE INVESTMENTS V, LTBs, Lessc
and MERRIMACK SERVICES CORPORATION dba PC CONNECTGHRVICES, as Lessee located at 2841-2931 Old Biée 73,
Wilmington, Ohio 45177.

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Lessor and Lessee entered into a Leasd dédy 13, 1993, as amended June 19, 2001, Apr2@33, November 11,
2006, October 13, 2009 and February 5, 2010, and

WHEREAS, the Lessor and Lessee desire to amenideiiige of approximately 102,400 square feet to elxtied term and revise
rent.

NOW THEREFORE, the Lease is amended as follows.
1. Article 1. TERM. shall be revised as follows.

Effective December 1, 2010, the term of this Lestsa| be extended for an additional one (1) yearaftotal term of eighteen
(18) years, two (2) months, commencing Octobe993land ending November 30, 2011, both dates iivelus

2. Lessee warrants that Lessee has accepted aod is possession of the Leased Premises andnthdtetase is valid and preser
in full force and effect. Lessee accepts the Presis its present “as is” condition.

3. Article 3. RENT. shall be revised as follows.

For the period commencing December 1, 2010 anchgridovember 30, 2011, the Lessee shall pay to #ssdr as Annual Rent f
the Leased Premises the sum of FOUR HUNDRED FORT&H THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED TWELVE AND 00/100 DOLLAR
($448,512.00) which shall be paid in equal monthstaliments of THIRTY-SEVEN THOUSAND THREE HUNDRESEVENTY-SIX AND
00/100 DOLLARS ($37,376.00), due and payable orfitseday of each month, in advance, without dedhan

Checks should be made payable to EWE Warehousetimeats V, Ltd. and sent c/o Easton & Associatespd N.W. 19n Street, Miami,
Florida 33172. Said rent shall be paid to the Lessioto the duly authorized agent of the Lessbitseoffice during busines



hours. If the commencement date of this Leasehisrdhan the first day of the month, any rentalistipent or additional rents hereinafter
provided for shall be prorated accordingly. Thedegswill pay the rent as herein provided, withcedwttion whatsoever, and without any
obligation of the Lessor to make demand for it. Amgtallment of rent accruing hereunder and angroslam payable hereunder, if not paid
when due, shall bear interest at the rate of egghpercent (18%) per annum until paid.

4. Except as expressly amended herein, all otherstand conditions of the Lease remain in full éoand effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Lessor and Lessee haveafftheir signatures to duplicates of this Amendintiis 20t day of
May , 2010, as to Lessee and this 2day of May, 2010, as to Lessor.

Signed and acknowledg

in the presence o

/s/ CHARLES A. MCCOS}H

Lessor: EWE WAREHOUSE INVESTMENTS V, LTD
By: MV Realty, Inc.
Its: Managing Agen

By: /sl BARBARA J. GILMORE

Charles A. McCosl|

Barbara J. Gilmor
Authorized Signe

Print Name

KELLI L WILSON

Kelli L. Wilson

Print Name

/sl PAM J CARTEF

LESSEE: MERRIMACK SERVICES CORPORATIO!
dba PC CONNECTION SERVICE

By: /sl ROBERT A. PRATI1

Pamela J. Carter

Title: VP Facilities and Site Servic

Print Name

/s/ Linda Jackson

Linda Jacksol

Print Name

[NOTARY ON NEXT PAGE...]



STATE OF OHIO, COUNTY OF MONTGOMERY, SS:

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged beforghise21stday of May, 2010, by Barbara J. GilmorgAuthorized Signer of
MV Realty, Inc., Managing Agent of EWE WAREHOUSEVRSTMENTS V, LTD., on behalf of said company.

/s/ Teresa B. Lyo

Notary Public

STATE OF_New HampshireCOUNTY OF Hillsborough SS:

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged beforehise20day of May, 2010, by Robert A. Prattthe VPof MERRIMACK
SERVICES CORPORATION dba PC CONNECTION SERVICES8pgoration on behalf of said corporation.

/s/ Dolores R. Collin:

NOTARY PUBLIC



Exhibit 10.55

Summary of Compensation for Executive Officers

Following is a description of the compensation gements for each of PC Connection, Inc.’s (therfifany’s”) executive officers. The
Company’s executive officers as of March 11, 20ddsisted of: (i) Patricia Gallup, Chairman and €Eieecutive Officer; (ii) Timothy
McGrath, President and Chief Operating Officer) (lack Ferguson, Executive Vice President, Treasand Chief Financial Officer; and
(iv) John Polizzi, Senior Vice President and Chidbrmation Officer.

The Compensation Committee annually reviews andosgg the compensation of the Chief Executive @ffitt also reviews and
approves the compensation of the Company’s othetwive officers, based on recommendations fronChief Executive Officer. In
determining executive compensation, the Compens&@mmnmittee considers a number of different factmiduding the mix of salary, bonus,
and incentive compensation levels. In additionjlacommittee of the Compensation Committee is resiptsafor the determination and
approval of corporate goals and targets under timagany’s Executive Bonus Plan as well as administraof the Company’s cash and equity
incentive plans. The Compensation Committee seeksttieve three broad goals in connection withGbmpany’s compensation philosophy
and decisions regarding compensation. First, thag2my is committed to providing executive compeinsatlesigned to attract, retain, and
motivate executives who contribute to the long-tetracess of the Company and are capable of le@ttgnGompany in achieving its business
objectives in the competitive and rapidly changimdustry in which the Company operates. SecondCtirapany wants to reward executives
for the achievement of compamyiele business objectives of the Company. By tyiognpensation in part to achievement, the Comparig\me
that a performance-oriented environment is crefiiethe Company’s executives. Finally, compensaisontended to provide executives with
an equity interest in the Company so as to linkeamingful portion of the compensation of the Conypmaxecutives with the performance of
the Company’s Common Stock.

Compensation for the Company’s executives genecalhgists of three elements:

» salary—levels are generally set by reviewing conspéon for competitive positions in the market aodsidering the executive’s
level of responsibility, qualifications, and exparce, as well as the Company’s financial perforraaard the individual's
performance

*  bonu—nbonuses are paid out under the Com|'s Executive Bonus Plan and are based on the ach@teof compar-wide net
income and expense leverage goals. Cash bonusssta® a percentage of the executive o’'s base salary; ar

* equity awards—equity awards provide long-term itises to promote and identify long-term interestdéeen the Company’s
employees and its stockholders and to assist iretle@ation of executive:



The following table lists the 2010 annual salaged bonuses of the Company’s executive officers.

Salary Bonus®)

Patricia Gallup $750,00( $1,000,00!
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Timothy McGrath@ 532,69. 825,00(
President and Chief Operating Offic

Jack Ferguso 340,00( 510,00(
Executive Vice President, Treasurer, and Chiefidre Officer

John Polizzi® 271,15 207,70(

Senior Vice President and Chief Information Offi

(1) The Compensation Subcommittee approved such bonuskes the Compar' s Executive Bonus Plan pursuant to achieveme
compan-wide net income and expense leverage g

(2) Mr. McGrath was promoted to President on May 1,081d in connection with his promotion his salargréased from $500,000
$550,000. The salary presented above includesrd-rated increase awarded with his promot

(3) Effective February 1, 2010, the Company apgaiitlr. Polizzi as Senior Vice President and Chiédimation Officer. The salary
and bonus presented above reflects amounts eaunied) ¢his partial year of service in 20:

The Company granted awards in 2010 to the Compaxgsutive officers, as shown below:

# of Per Share Fail
RSA
Shares Market Value

Restricted Stock Awarc
Timothy McGrath 50,00( $ 4.87
President and Chief Operating Offic

# of Per Share Fail
Stock
Options Market Value Exercise Price
Stock Options
Timothy McGrath 75,00( $ 3.7¢ $ 6.71
President and Chief Operating Offic
John Polizz 25,00( $ 3.52 $ 6.3t

Senior Vice President and Chief Information Offi

The restricted stock award granted in 2010 contadrss-vesting selling restrictions, as follows: MtcGrath may sell 10% of the awarded
shares per year, with such selling restrictionitapat age 65.



Exhibit 10.5€

Summary of Compensation for NorOfficer Directors

As of December 31, 2010, PC Connection, Inc.’s afficer directors consisted of: (i) Joseph Bauit¢;Javid Beffa-Negrini; (iii) Barbara
Duckett; (iv) David Hall; and (v) Donald Weathersdion-officer directors receive a standard quaytestainer fee of $10,000 for service on
the Board as well as $2,500 for each individualrbaaeeting attended and $1,500 for each commitesgting attended. The table below sets
forth the total retainer fee paid for 2010, and Ipesird meeting and committee meeting fees paiditmon-officer directors in 2010:

Total Retainer Fee Fee Per Committe:

Fee Per Board

Director Paid for 2010(1) Meeting Attended Meeting Attended
Joseph Baut $ 40,00( $ 2,50( $ 1,50(C
David Beffe-Negrini 40,00( 2,50¢ 1,50(C
Barbara Ducketl 40,00( 2,50( 1,50(C
David Hall 40,00( 2,50( 1,50(
Donald Weatherso 40,00( 2,50( 1,50(C

(1) In addition, no-officer directors receive reimbursement for alls@@able expenses incurred in attending board amenitbee meetings



EXHIBIT 21.1

CORPORATE ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE:

PC Connection, Inc., a Delaware corporation, ispéwent company of the following wholly-owned sulisiies:
PC Connection Sales Corporation, a Delaware cotipot:

Merrimack Services Corporation, a Delaware corpona

PC Connection Express, Inc., a Delaware corpors

GovConnection, Inc., a Maryland corporati

o wDnh e

MoreDirect, Inc., a Florida corporatio



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniReggion Statement Nos. 333-166645, 333-161172;1381065, 333-130389, 333-
66450, 333-40172, and 333-83943 each on Form Se8rafeports dated March 11, 2011, relating tdfith@ncial statements and financial
statement schedule of PC Connection, Inc. andffeeteveness of PC Connection, Inc.’s internal cohover financial reporting, appearing in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K of PC Connectiar. Ifor the year ended December 31, 2010.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 11, 2011



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Patricia Gallup, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of PC Connection, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or amgttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operest, and cash flows of the registrant as of, amdthe periods presented in this
report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))3(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isg prepared

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princijj

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintbprocedures, as of the end of the period covgyehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrars other certifying officer and | have disclosedsddhon our most recent evaluation of internal @miver financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summarézel report financial
information; anc

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 11, 201 /s/ PATRICIA G ALLUP
Patricia Gallup
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Jack Ferguson, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of PC Connection, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitade a material fact necess
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operat, and cash flows of the registrant as of, amdthe periods presented in this
report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))3(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isig prepared

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atanoce with generally accepted accounting princijj

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintbprocedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regi’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during tht
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonallikely to materially affect, the registré' s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer antldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimrernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemnmittee of the registrant’s board of directfws persons performing the
equivalent functions)

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summarézel report financial
information; anc

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 11, 201 /'s/ JACK F ERGUSON
Jack Ferguson
Executive Vice President, Treasurer, and Chief Finacial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the annual report on Form 10f€ Connection, Inc. (the “Company”) for the yeaded December 31, 2010 as

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioithe date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigmidtricia Gallup, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifipgrsuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Ex@eAct of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 11, 201 /sl PATRICIA G ALLUP

Patricia Gallup
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the annual report on Form 10f€ Connection, Inc. (the “Company”) for the yeaded December 31, 2010 as

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiotthe date hereof (the “Reportthe undersigned, Jack Ferguson, Executive Vicadtnes
Treasurer, and Chief Financial Officer of the Compaiereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti®bo, that:

(2) the Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgeAct of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 11, 201 /sl JACK F ERGUSON

Jack Ferguson
Executive Vice President, Treasurer, and Chief Finacial Officer




